Quantum Markov Maps: Structure and Asymptotics

Vijaya Kumar U



Indian Statistical Institute 2020

Quantum Markov Maps: Structure and Asymptotics

Thesis submitted to the Indian Statistical Institute in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

 ${\rm in}\ Mathematics$

by

Vijaya Kumar U

Supervisor: Prof. B. V. Rajarama Bhat



Indian Statistical Institute 2020

Dedicated

to Thaththa

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank Professor B. V. Rajarama Bhat, my supervisor, under whose guidance I learnt immensely. He never shied away from explaining to me even elementary concepts that I had issues with all these years. Altogether, he was very approachable and has provided me tremendous support in both technical and administrative issues.

I would also like to thank Professor Sushama Agrawal, Ramanujan Institute, Chennai, who inspired me to take up Ph.D. She supported me constantly, from the time I joined my masters degree. I wish to thank Professor Robin Hillier, Lancaster University and Dr. Nirupama Mallick, Chennai Mathematical Institute for all the discussions and fruitful collaboration, parts of which have gone into this thesis. Also, I have benefited from the discussions I had with Professor V. S. Sunder, Institute of Mathematical Sciences, Chennai and Professor G. Ramesh, IIT Hyderabad prior to joining ISI. I thank them for their support.

I would also like to thank all my friends at ISI with whom I had discussions both mathematical and otherwise. My family has been one of the most important sources of support. They have helped me cope with stress in the course of my PhD. I thank them for their role in the completion of my thesis.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the National Board for Higher Mathematics and the Bangalore Centre of Indian Statistical Institute for their financial support during my PhD.

Bangalore 23 January, 2020. Vijaya Kumar U

Notations

\mathbb{N}	$\{1, 2, 3, \dots\}$
\mathbb{Z}_+	$\{0, 1, 2, \dots\}$
\mathbb{R}_+	Set of all non-negative real numbers
\mathbb{T}	\mathbb{R}_+ or \mathbb{Z}_+
M_n	Set of all $n \times n$ complex matrices
${\mathbb B}({\mathcal H})$	Set of all bounded linear operators on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}
E_{ij}	Matrix units in M_n
\mathbb{E}_{ij}	$1\otimes E_{ij}$ in $\mathcal{A}\otimes \mathrm{M}_n$
$\mathfrak{B}^r(E,F)$	Set of all right linear maps from E to F
$\mathfrak{B}^r(E)$	$\mathfrak{B}^r(E,E)$
$\mathcal{B}^a(E,F)$	Set of all bounded adjointable maps from E to F
$\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$	$\mathcal{B}^a(E,E)$
$\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(E,F)$	Set of all bounded adjointable bilinear maps from E to F
$\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(E)$	$\mathfrak{B}^{a,bil}(E,E)$
$\overline{\mathcal{S}}^s$	SOT closure of \mathcal{S}
$E \odot F$	Interior tensor products of the Hilbert C^* -modules E and F
$E\bar{\odot}^{s}F$	The strong closure of $E \odot F$
$\mathfrak{F}(E)$	The full Fock module over E
$\Gamma(E)$	The time ordered Fock module over E

Abbreviations

CP	Completely Positive
CB	Completely Bounded
CCP	Conditionally Completely Positive
UCP	Unital Completely Positive
UNCP	Unital Normal Completely Positive
QDS	Quantum Dynamical Semigroup(s)
QMS	Quantum Markov Semigroup(s)

Contents

1 Introduction				
Pre	reliminaries			
2.1	Introd	uction to quantum Markov maps	5	
	2.1.1	Stochastic Matrices	5	
	2.1.2	C^* -algebras	7	
	2.1.3	von Neumann algebras	11	
	2.1.4	Quantum Markov maps	13	
2.2	Hilbert	t C^* -modules	17	
	2.2.1	Operators on Hilbert C^* -modules $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	20	
	2.2.2	Representations on Hilbert C^* -modules	26	
	2.2.3	Tensor products of Hilbert C^* -modules	27	
	2.2.4	GNS-construction	29	
	2.2.5	von Neumann modules	30	
	2.2.6	Inductive limits	33	
2.3	Quant	um dynamical semigroups	34	
	2.3.1	Some general theory	34	
	2.3.2	Quantum dynamical semigroups	35	
	2.3.3	Product systems and morphisms	37	
	2.3.4	E_0 -dilation of quantum Markov semigroups	38	
	2.3.5	The time ordered Fock module	41	
Roo	ots of C	Completely Positive Maps	45	
3.1	Introdu	uction	45	
3.2	Asymp	ototic roots	48	
3.3 Proper discrete roots		discrete roots	50	
	3.3.1	General statements	50	
	3.3.2	Proper discrete roots for states on M_d and $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$	56	
	3.3.3	Proper discrete roots of states on \mathbb{C}^n	60	
3.4	Proper	-	62	
	Prel 2.1 2.2 2.3 Roo 3.1 3.2 3.3	Preliminan2.1Introde2.1.1 $2.1.1$ 2.1.2 $2.1.3$ 2.1.4 2.2 2.2 $2.2.1$ 2.2.2 $2.2.3$ 2.2.4 $2.2.5$ 2.2.6 2.3 2.3.1 $2.3.2$ 2.3.3 $2.3.4$ 2.3.5 $2.3.4$ 2.3.5 $2.3.4$ 2.3.1 $2.3.5$ Roots of C3.1Introde3.2Asymp3.3Proper3.3.1 $3.3.2$ 3.3.3	Preliminaries 2.1 Introduction to quantum Markov maps 2.1.1 Stochastic Matrices 2.1.2 C^* -algebras 2.1.3 von Neumann algebras 2.1.4 Quantum Markov maps 2.1 Operators on Hilbert C^* -modules 2.2.1 Operators on Hilbert C^* -modules 2.2.2 Representations on Hilbert C^* -modules 2.2.3 Tensor products of Hilbert C^* -modules 2.2.4 GNS-construction 2.2.5 von Neumann modules 2.2.6 Inductive limits 2.3.1 Some general theory 2.3.2 Quantum dynamical semigroups 2.3.3 Product systems and morphisms 2.3.4 E_0 -dilation of quantum Markov semigroups 2.3.5 The time ordered Fock module Some general theory 2.3.4 E_0 -dilation of quantum Markov semigroups 2.3.5 The time ordered Fock module Some general theory 3.3.1 Introduction 3.3 Proper discrete roots 3.3.1 General statements 3.3.2 Proper discr	

4 Structure of Block Quantum Dynamical Semigroups and their Produc						
	Systems					
	4.1 Introduction					
	4.2					
	4.3					
		4.3.1	Structure of block quantum dynamical semigroups	77		
		4.3.2	E_0 -dilation of block quantum Markov semigroups $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	83		
	4.4	Lifting	of morphisms	86		
Publications						
Bi	Bibliography					
In	\mathbf{dex}			99		

CHAPTER

Introduction

In classical probability Markov processes are random processes where the future is dependent on the present but not on the past. The stochastic dependence of the future on the present is described through transition probabilities. Random walks, Brownian motion and so on are examples of such processes. Countable state Markov processes are known as Markov chains, and their transition probabilities are described through stochastic matrices. One may have the processes in discrete time (where the time is usually parametrized by \mathbb{Z}_+) or continuous time (with parametrization using \mathbb{R}_+), and accordingly one has discrete or continuous semigroups of stochastic matrices. These semigroups have non-commutative or quantum analogues known as *quantum dynamical semigroups* (QDS) (See Definition 2.3.5). In the non-commutative or quantum analogues, the role of transition probabilities (or stochastic matrices) is played by *completely positive* (CP) maps (See Definition 2.1.16) on C^* -algebras (cf. [EK98, Stø13]). So CP maps appear naturally in quantum probability (unital CP maps are known as *quantum Markov maps* in quantum probability). Trace preserving, unital CP maps are known as *quantum channels* in quantum information theory. In this thesis we study the following two problems about Quantum Markov Maps.

Problem 1: Quantum channels in quantum information theory, describe how quantum states get changed or transformed in open systems. In this context, it is important to know whether a given completely positive map admits square roots or higher order roots within the category of CP maps. Since completely positive maps are closed under composition, it makes sense to study the question of roots in this setting, namely: given a C*-algebra or von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , a number $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and a completely positive map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$, is there another completely positive map $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\phi = \psi^n$? One may

⁰1991 Mathematics Subject Classification. primary: 46L57; secondary: 60J10, 81P45, 46L08, 81S22. Key words and phrases: completely positive maps, Markov chains, matrix algebras, operator algebras, product systems, Hilbert C^* -modules, quantum dynamical semigroups, dilation theory.

go further and ask whether the given CP map embeds in a one parameter semigroup of completely positive maps, that is, whether we can find a continuous time quantum dynamical semigroup $\tau = \{\tau_t : t \in \mathbb{R}_+\}$ such that $\phi = \tau_{t_0}$ for some t_0 . We are also interested in knowing as to when does a CP map appear as a limit of a quantum dynamical semigroup and if so in how many different ways. This requires studying asymptotics of these semigroups. Surprisingly some quantum dynamical semigroups may reach an equilibrium state in finite time. Such phenomenon seems to be rare in classical Markov processes. However, this has been observed in [Bha12] by Bhat in the quantum case for a whole class of semigroups and it would be good to understand this phenomenon in a more general setup.

We introduce the concept of completely positive roots of completely positive maps on operator algebras. We do this in different forms: as asymptotic roots, proper discrete roots and as continuous one-parameter semigroups of roots. We present several general existence and non-existence results, some special examples in settings where we understand the situation better, and several open problems. Our study is closely related to Elfving's embedding problem in classical probability, which is about characterizing stochastic matrices which can be embedded in one parameter semigroups of stochastic matrices (See [Dav10, VB18, Kin62, G37]) and the divisibility problem of quantum channels, which is essentially about factorizing CP maps (See [Wol11, BC16, WC08]).

Problem 2: Semigroups of unital CP maps are known as quantum Markov semigroups (QMS) and semigroups of unital endomorphisms are known as E_0 -semigroups in quantum probability. While studying units of E_0 -semigroups of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ Powers was led into considering block CP semigroups (CP semigroups of block-wise acting maps) (See [Pow03] and [BLS08], [Ske10]). In [BM10], Bhat and Mukherjee proved a structure theorem for block QMS on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{K})$. The main point is that when we have a block QMS, there is a contractive morphism between inclusion systems (synonymous with subproduct system) of diagonal CP semigroups. Moreover, this morphism lifts to associated product systems. Our main goal is to explore the structure of block quantum dynamical semigroups on general von Neumann algebras, using the technology of Hilbert C^* -modules.

W. Paschke's version (See [Pas73]) of Stinespring's theorem (See [Sti55]) associates a Hilbert C^* -module along with a generating vector to every completely positive map. Building on this, to every QDS on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} one may associate an inclusion system $E = (E_t)$ of Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules with a generating unit $\xi = (\xi_t)$. The extension of the theory of block CP maps in [BM10] to the general case, is not straight forward for the following reason. In the case of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, we need only to consider product systems of Hilbert spaces, whereas now we need to deal with both product systems of Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules and also product systems of Hilbert- $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ modules (See Theorem 4.2.1) and their interdependences. But a careful analysis of these modules does lead us to a morphism between inclusion systems as in the $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ case and this morphism can also be lifted to a morphism at the level of associated product systems. At various steps we consider adjoints of maps between our modules and so it is convenient to have von Neumann modules. The picture is unclear for Hilbert C^* -modules.

This thesis contains four chapters including this chapter. The second chapter contains the preliminaries required for the next two core chapters. The third and fourth chapters are based on the two preprints mentioned in the Publications/Preprints. In the following we give brief details about the chapters:

Chapter 2: First we present the definitions and results about quantum Markov maps in Section 2.1. We give an introduction to the theory of Hilbert C^* -modules in Section 2.2, where we also explain the GNS-construction by Paschke [Pas73]. The GNS-construction is in a sense an extension of Stinespring dilation theorem (cf. Observation 2.2.4). The GNSconstruction is more useful as the GNS-construction of the composition of two CP maps can be written as a submodule of the tensor product of their individual GNS-constructions (cf. Observation 2.2.5). Finally we give a brief introduction to the quantum dynamical semigroups in Section 2.3, where we also show the connection between QDS and product systems of Hilbert C^* -modules or von Neumann modules, and we briefly recall the construction of E_0 -dilation through Hilbert C^* -modules, by Bhat and Skeide in [BS00], of a conservative QDS on a unital C^* -algebra or von Neumann algebra. At the end of this section we give a brief introduction to the time ordered Fock module.

Chapter 3: We give a complete characterization for the asymptotic roots in Theorem 3.2.1. As a byproduct, this theorem answers Problem 3 in [Arv03, p.387] affirmatively. We provide several existence and non-existence results under different additional assumptions, e.g. regarding the dimension or structure of the algebra or the range of the CP map. In particular, for the case of states on M_d or $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ or \mathbb{C}^d we have a complete characterization of existence of *n*-th roots (See Theorems 3.3.1, 3.3.2 and 3.3.3). We give few examples to indicate that a "complete and elegant" characterization of existence or non-existence of roots is expected to be complicated (See Examples 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.3.3 and 3.3.4). Using [Den88, Cor.4] we prove Proposition 3.4.1, which gives a connection between proper discrete roots and proper continuous roots in the finite dimensional case. Using the ideas used in [Bha12] we prove Theorem 3.4.1. This contains results on existence and non-existence of proper continuous roots of states on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Chapter 4: Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra. Suppose $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$: $M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ is a block-wise acting CP map. In Theorem 4.2.1 we prove that ψ is determined by the diagonals ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 up to a adjointable bilinear contraction $T : E_2 \to E_1$, where E_i is a GNS-representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Using this we prove a structure theorem for a block QDS on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ in Theorem 4.3.1. This says that given a block QDS on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ there is a contractive morphism between the inclusion systems associated to diagonal CP semigroups, determining the off-diagonal maps. Example 4.2.1, indicates that we can not replace the von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} in these theorems by an arbitrary C^* -algebra. In Theorem 4.4.1, we prove that if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, then any morphism between the product systems of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules can be lifted to a morphism between the product systems generated by these inclusion systems. In Theorem 4.3.2, we notice that the E_0 -dilation of a block quantum Markov semigroup constructed in [BS00] by Bhat and Skeide is again a semigroup of block maps.

Conventions: Throughout this thesis, all Hilbert spaces are taken as complex and separable, with scalar products linear in the second variable. All C^* -algebras are complex vector spaces.

* * * * *



Preliminaries

2.1 Introduction to quantum Markov maps

Quantum Markov maps are non-commutative analogues of transition probability matrices (or stochastic matrices) of Markov chains in classical probability. In the following subsections, we present the basic notions of this theory. We begin with recalling the concept of stochastic matrices.

2.1.1 Stochastic Matrices

Definition 2.1.1. Let $\{X_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ be a set of random variables taking values in a countable set S, defined on a common probability space. The set of random variables is said to be a *Markov chain* if the following holds:

$$P(X_{n+1} = x_{n+1} | X_0 = x_0, X_1 = x_1, \cdots, X_n = x_n) = P(X_{n+1} = x_{n+1} | X_n = x_n)$$
(2.1.1)

for $x_j \in S, 1 \leq j \leq n+1$. The set S is known as the state space of the Markov chain.

A Markov chain can be interpreted as a set of random processes observed in discrete time intervals such that the outcome of the future depends only on the present.

Example 2.1.1. Suppose an urn initially consists of 3 red and 2 blue identical balls. At each time epoch a ball is picked at random and replaced with a ball of the other color. Let s_i denote the state that the urn contains i red balls and (5 - i) blue balls for $0 \le i \le 5$. Then the state space is given by

$$S = \{s_i : 0 \le i \le 5\}.$$

It is easy to see that (2.1.1) holds as the change in state is dependent on chances of picking either a blue ball or a red ball. This in turn purely depends on the current configuration of the urn. Also, for two states s and t, $P(X_{n+1} = s | X_n = t)$ is independent of n. This time invariance property is referred to as time homogeneity of the Markov chain.

In this example, we can thus represent the Markov chain with a finite matrix P whose $(i, j)^{th}$ element is given by $P(X_{n+1} = s_j | X_n = s_i)$ for each $0 \le i, j \le 5$. Some elementary computations yield us the transition probability matrix P of the Markov chain given by:

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{5} & 0 & \frac{4}{5} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{2}{5} & 0 & \frac{3}{5} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{3}{5} & 0 & \frac{2}{5} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{4}{5} & 0 & \frac{1}{5} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Observe that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, P^n is a matrix whose $(i, j)^{th}$ entry denotes the probability that the Markov chain transitions from state s_i to state s_j in exactly n steps. It is easy to see that the classical semigroup property

$$P^{n+m} = P^n P^m, \quad \text{for all } n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \tag{2.1.2}$$

holds for Markov chains with finite state spaces (cf. [KS76, Chu79]).

Observe that, the transition probability matrix P of a Markov chain with d states is a $d \times d$ stochastic matrix, that is

$$p_{ij} \ge 0$$
, for $1 \le i, j \le d$, and $\sum_{j=1}^{d} p_{ij} = 1$ for all *i*. (2.1.3)

We can treat this P as a linear map on the commutative C^* -algebra \mathbb{C}^d (See the definitions in the next subsections). In this setup, Eq. (2.1.3) is nothing but the statement that the map P is positive (indeed, completely positive cf. Theorem 2.1.4) and unital. Our interest is to study the non-commutative or quantum analogue of these maps. They are known as *quantum Markov maps* in quantum probability. We shall precisely define them in the following subsections.

In general, the semigroup property (2.1.2) holds even when the state space S of Markov chains is infinite. Further, when the indexing set of the random variables is uncountable

i.e., for Markov processes, a generalization of Markov chains, the semigroup property still holds. The semigroup property is crucial for our purposes and we shall retain it in our non-commutative generalizations.

2.1.2 C^* -algebras

 C^* -algebras are the non-commutative analogues of the function spaces C(X), the space of all continuous functions on a locally compact Hausdorff space X. Quantum Markov maps would be maps acting on C^* -algebras. Here we recall the basic definition and we set up our notation. We refer to the following standard books for the proofs and details of this subsection [Con00, Sun97, KR97, Mur90, Tak02].

Definition 2.1.2. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra, an *involution* $* : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a map which maps $a \mapsto a^*$ such that for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}, \alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ the following conditions hold:

(i)
$$(a^*)^* = a$$
,

(ii)
$$(ab)^* = b^*a^*$$

(iii) $(\alpha a + b)^* = \bar{\alpha}a^* + b^*$.

Definition 2.1.3. An algebra \mathcal{A} is said to a *normed algebra* if there is a norm on \mathcal{A} satisfying:

$$||ab|| \le ||a|| ||b||, \text{ for all } a, b \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (2.1.4)

A normed algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be a *Banach algebra* if it is complete with respect to the norm.

Definition 2.1.4. A normed algebra with an involution is said to be a $pre-C^*$ -algebra if

$$||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$$
, for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. (2.1.5)

Definition 2.1.5. A pre- C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be a C^* -algebra if it is complete with respect to the norm. If \mathcal{A} has a unit/identity **1** (i.e., $\mathbf{1}x = x\mathbf{1} = x \forall x \in \mathcal{A}$), then \mathcal{A} is said to be a unital C^* -algebra.

Remark 2.1.1. Note that a C^* -algebra is a Banach algebra with an involution fulfilling (2.1.5). If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -algebra and $a \in \mathcal{A}$, then $||a^*|| = ||a||$ and $||aa^*|| = ||a||^2$. If the multiplication in \mathcal{A} is commutative, then \mathcal{A} is said to be *commutative* or *abelian*. An algebraic homomorphism between two C^* -algebras, which respects the involutions is said to be a *-homomorphism . An isomorphism between two C^* -algebras is a bijective *-homomorphism.

Remark 2.1.2 (unitization). Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -algebra. Consider $\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = \{(a, \lambda) : a \in \mathcal{A}, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}\}$ with addition $(a, \lambda) + (b, \mu) = (a+b, \lambda+\mu)$, multiplication $(a, \lambda)(b, \mu) = (ab+\mu a+\lambda b, \lambda \mu)$, involution $(a, \lambda)^* = (a^*, \overline{\lambda})$, and norm $||(a, \lambda)|| = \sup_{b \in \mathcal{A}, ||b|| \leq 1} ||ab + \lambda b||$. Then $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$ is a unital C^* -algebra containing \mathcal{A} as an ideal. If \mathcal{A} has no unit, then $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}/\mathcal{A}$ is one dimensional. If \mathcal{B} is a C^* -algebra with identity and if $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a *-homomorphism, then $\varphi_1(a+\lambda) = \varphi(a)+\lambda$ defines a *-homomorphism $\varphi_1 : \tilde{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathcal{B}$.

Example 2.1.2. (i) \mathbb{C}^n is a finite dimensional commutative, unital C^* -algebra with sup-norm.

- (ii) $M_n(\mathbb{C}), (n > 1)$ is a finite dimensional non-commutative, unital C*-algebra.
- (iii) If X is a compact Hausdorff space, C(X), the collection all continuous functions on X, is a commutative, unital C^{*}-algebra. (It is infinite dimensional, if X is infinite).
- (iv) $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the algebra of bounded linear operators on \mathcal{H} , is a non-commutative, unital C^* -algebra. (It is infinite dimensional, if dim $\mathcal{H} = \infty$).
- (v) If X is a locally compact Hausdorff space, $C_0(X)$, the algebra of continuous functions on X that vanish at infinity, is a commutative, C*-algebra. $C_0(X)$ is unital if and only if X is compact. (It is infinite dimensional, if X is an infinite set).
- (vi) $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{H})$, the algebra of compact operators on \mathcal{H} , is a non-commutative, non-unital C^* -algebra. (It is infinite dimensional, if dim $\mathcal{H} = \infty$).

Definition 2.1.6. If \mathcal{A} is a pre- C^* -algebra and $a \in \mathcal{A}$, then we say that:

- (i) a is self adjoint or hermitian if $a = a^*$,
- (ii) a is normal if $a^*a = aa^*$,
- (iii) when \mathcal{A} has an identity $\mathbf{1}$, a is unitary if $a^*a = aa^* = \mathbf{1}$,
- (iv) a is positive if $a = b^*b$ for some $b \in \mathcal{A}$. We write $a \ge 0$ to denote a is positive.

If \mathcal{A} is a unital Banach algebra and $a \in \mathcal{A}$, the spectrum of a is denoted by $\sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(a)$ or simply by $\sigma(a)$ and the spectral radius of a is denoted by r(a) and they are defined as

$$\sigma(a) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : a - \lambda \mathbf{1} \text{ is not invertible in } \mathcal{A}\},$$
(2.1.6)

$$r(a) = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\}.$$
(2.1.7)

If \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -algebra and $a \in \mathcal{A}$ is self adjoint, then ||a|| = r(a). If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are two unital C^* -algebras, $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a *-homomorphism, then it is easy to see that $\sigma(\varphi(a)) \subseteq \sigma(a)$. From these two facts it follows that, if φ is an isomorphism, then φ is an isometry. This in particular says that the norm in a C^* -algebra is unique.

The spectrum of elements in a C^* -algebra has the following nice property: If $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is a C^* -subalgebra of the C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} with a common unit, then $\sigma_{\mathcal{B}}(a) = \sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(a)$ for any $a \in \mathcal{B}$.

Let \mathcal{A} be a commutative Banach algebra with an identity. Let Σ be the maximal ideal space of \mathcal{A} . i.e.,

$$\Sigma = \{ I \subseteq \mathcal{A} : I \text{ is a maximal ideal in } \mathcal{A} \}.$$
(2.1.8)

Recall that $\{\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C} : \varphi \text{ is linear, multiplicative and } \varphi(\mathbf{1}) = 1\}$, the set of non-zero complex homomorphisms is identified with Σ (via. $\phi \mapsto \ker \phi \in \Sigma$). Each non-zero complex homomorphism has norm 1, so $\Sigma \subseteq \mathcal{A}_1^*$, the unit ball of \mathcal{A}^* (the Banach space dual of \mathcal{A}). If we equip Σ with the relative weak* topology of \mathcal{A}^* , then Σ becomes a compact Hausdorff space. For $a \in \mathcal{A}$ define $\hat{a} : \Sigma \to \mathbb{C}$ by $\hat{a}(f) = f(a)$ for $f \in \Sigma$. Then \hat{a} is continuous i.e., $\hat{a} \in C(\Sigma)$. This function \hat{a} is called the *Gelfand transform* of a. Define $\gamma : \mathcal{A} \to C(\Sigma)$ by $\gamma(a) = \hat{a}$. Then γ is an algebraic homomorphism, with $\|\gamma\| = 1$. The map γ is called the *Gelfand transform* for the algebra \mathcal{A} .

Theorem 2.1.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a commutative unital C^* -algebra. Then the Gelfand transform $\gamma : \mathcal{A} \to C(\Sigma)$ defined above is an isomorphism.

Now suppose \mathcal{A} is a commutative C^* -algebra without an identity. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$ be the unitization of \mathcal{A} as explained in Remark 2.1.2. Let Σ and $\tilde{\Sigma}$ denote the maximal ideal spaces of \mathcal{A} and $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$ respectively. As \mathcal{A} has no identity, by Remark 2.1.2, \mathcal{A} is a maximal ideal in $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$. Let $h : \tilde{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathbb{C}$ be the unique homomorphism with ker $h = \mathcal{A}$. Then we have $\Sigma = \tilde{\Sigma} \setminus \{h\}$. This observation with Theorem 2.1.1 gives us the following corollary.

Corollary 2.1.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a commutative C^* -algebra (without an identity). Then the Gelfand transform $\gamma : \mathcal{A} \to C_0(\Sigma)$ is an isomorphism, where Σ is the maximal ideal space of \mathcal{A} .

We now move to maps on C^* -algebras.

Definition 2.1.7. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -algebras, a linear map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is said to be *positive* if $\phi(a) \ge 0$ for all $a \ge 0$. We write $\phi \ge 0$ to mean ϕ is positive.

Notation. If $\tau, \psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ are linear maps, we denote $\psi \leq \tau$ if $\tau - \psi \geq 0$.

Definition 2.1.8. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -algebra and \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space. A *-homomorphism $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is said to be a *representation* of \mathcal{A} in \mathcal{H} . If \mathcal{A} is unital, then it is assumed that $\pi(1) = 1$.

Definition 2.1.9. A representation π of a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} in \mathcal{H} is said to be *faithful* if it is injective, *non-degenerate* if span $\pi(\mathcal{A})\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}$ and *cyclic* if there is a vector $e \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $\{\pi(a)e : a \in \mathcal{A}\}$ is dense in \mathcal{H} . A vector $e \in \mathcal{H}$ that satisfies this condition is called a *cyclic vector*.

Definition 2.1.10. A (unital) map ϕ from \mathcal{A} onto $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is called a *conditional expectation*, if $\phi^2 = \phi$ and $\|\phi\| = 1$.

Definition 2.1.11. A positive linear functional on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be a *state* if it has norm 1.

Suppose \mathcal{A} is a C^* -algebra and $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is a representation. If e is a unit vector in \mathcal{H} and $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ is defined by $\varphi(a) = \langle e, \pi(a)e \rangle$, then φ is a state on \mathcal{A} . Conversely, we have the following GNS theorem:

Theorem 2.1.2 (Gelfand-Naimark-Segal (GNS) construction). Let φ be a state on a C^{*}algebra \mathcal{A} . Then there is a cyclic representation $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with a unit cyclic vector $e \in \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$\varphi(a) = \langle e, \pi(a)e \rangle \quad for \ all \ a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (2.1.9)

The triple (π, \mathcal{H}, e) is called a GNS-triple for φ .

The GNS construction with some work gives us the following theorem, which says that every abstract C^* -algebra is isomorphic to a C^* -algebra of operators on a Hilbert space.

Theorem 2.1.3. Every C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} has a faithful representation. Moreover every separable C^* -algebra has a faithful representation on a separable Hilbert space.

The following is a Radon-Nikodym type theorem for positive linear functionals.

Proposition 2.1.1 ([Con00, Proposition 32.1]). Let φ be a state on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} , with a GNS triple $(\pi_{\varphi}, \mathcal{H}_{\varphi}, e_{\varphi})$ and let ψ be a positive linear functional on \mathcal{A} , then $\psi \leq \varphi$ if and only if there is a unique operator T with $T\pi(a) = \pi(a)T$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and $0 \leq T \leq I$ such that $\psi(a) = \langle e_{\varphi}, \pi_{\varphi}(a)Te_{\varphi} \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$.

The states where the collection of dominated positive linear functionals is trivial are known as pure states. They give rise to irreducible GNS representations. Here is the formal definition. **Definition 2.1.12.** A state φ on \mathcal{A} is called *pure* if for any positive linear functional ψ on \mathcal{A} such that $\psi \leq \varphi$, there is a scalar λ such that $\psi = \lambda \varphi$.

The space of all states on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} , is a weak^{*} compact convex subset of \mathcal{A}^* , the Banach space dual of \mathcal{A} .

Theorem 2.1.4 ([Con00, Theorem 32.7]). Let φ be a state on \mathcal{A} . Then φ is pure if and only if φ is an extreme point of the space of all states on \mathcal{A} .

2.1.3 von Neumann algebras

von Neumann algebras are the non-commutative analogues of the measurable function spaces $L^{\infty}(X, \mu)$, for measure spaces (X, μ) . They are C^* -algebras with additional algebraic and topological properties. Often it is convenient to have the set up of von Neumann algebras.

Definition 2.1.13. If S is a subset of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the *commutant* of S, denoted by S' is defined by

$$\mathcal{S}' = \{ T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) : TS = ST \text{ for all } S \in \mathcal{S} \}.$$
(2.1.10)

The double commutant of \mathcal{S} is defined by $\mathcal{S}'' = \{\mathcal{S}'\}'$ and similarly $\mathcal{S}''' = \mathcal{S}^{(3)}, \cdots$.

Remark 2.1.3. Clearly $I \in S'$ and $S \subseteq S''$ for any subset S. If $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ we have from the definition of commutants that $\mathcal{M}' \subseteq \mathcal{N}'$ and hence $\mathcal{N}'' \subseteq \mathcal{M}''$. From these observations we can see that, for any subset S of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ we have S' = S'''. Moreover we see that

 $\mathcal{S}' = \mathcal{S}''' = \mathcal{S}^{(5)} = \cdots, \text{ and } \mathcal{S} \subseteq \mathcal{S}'' = \mathcal{S}^{(4)} = \cdots.$

Notation. For any $S \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ we denote the strong operator topology (SOT) closure of S as \overline{S}^s .

Theorem 2.1.5 (Double Commutant Theorem). If \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, then $\overline{\mathcal{A}}^s = \mathcal{A}''$.

Definition 2.1.14. A strongly closed, unital C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called a *von Neumann algebra*

Example 2.1.3. (i) Any finite dimensional C^* -algebra is a von Neumann algebra.

(ii) Let (X, μ) be a measure space, then $L^{\infty}(X, \mu)$, the collection all essentially bounded, measurable functions on X is a commutative von Neumann algebra. (iii) $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the algebra of bounded linear operators on \mathcal{H} , is a non-commutative, von Neumann algebra. (It is infinite dimensional, if dim $\mathcal{H} = \infty$).

Theorem 2.1.6 (Vigier, see [Mur90]). Let $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be an increasing net of hermitian operators on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Assume that it is bounded above. Then $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ is strongly convergent.

Definition 2.1.15. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be von Neumann algebras. We say that a positive map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is normal if $\phi(u_{\lambda}) \uparrow \phi(u)$ for all bounded increasing net $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ of self-adjoint operators such that $u_{\lambda} \uparrow u$.

Example 2.1.4. Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space. Let $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{H})$ denote the algebra of all compact operators on \mathcal{H} let \mathcal{C} denote the Calkin algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})/\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{H})$. Let $q : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{C}$ be the quotient map. Let φ be any state on \mathcal{C} . Then $\rho : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by $\rho = \varphi \circ q$ is not normal.

Notation. We introduce the bra-ket notations here. For a more general description of this notation look at Subsection 2.2.1.4. Let \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{K} be Hilbert spaces. For $a \in \mathcal{H}, b \in \mathcal{K}$, we define the operator $|b\rangle\langle a| : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ as follows:

$$|b\rangle\langle a|(a') = \langle a, a'\rangle b$$
, for $a' \in \mathcal{H}$.

Theorem 2.1.7. Let $\pi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ be a normal representation. Then there exist a Hilbert space \mathcal{P} and an isometry $W : \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$\pi(X) = W(X \otimes I_{\mathcal{P}})W^*. \tag{2.1.11}$$

(If π is unital, we can choose W to be unitary).

Furthermore, there exists a collection of operators $\{V_n : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}\}_{n \geq 1}$ (finite or countably infinite) such that $V_m^* V_n = \delta_{mn}, \sum_m V_m V_m^* = \pi(\mathbf{1})$ and

$$\pi(X) = \sum_{n} V_n X V_n^*, \qquad (2.1.12)$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, where the sum in (2.1.12) is in SOT.

Proof. We shall give the sketch of the proof. Fix $a \in \mathcal{H}$ with ||a|| = 1 and consider the rank-one projection $P_a = |a\rangle\langle a|$. Take $\mathcal{P} = \operatorname{ran}(\pi(|a\rangle\langle a|))$. Now define $W : \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{K}$ by

$$W(x \otimes \pi(|a\rangle\!\langle a|)y) = \pi(|x\rangle\!\langle a|)y \tag{2.1.13}$$

for $x, y \in \mathcal{H}$. Now we can verify the following:

- (i) W is an isometry. (unitary, if π is unital)
- (ii) $W^*z = \sum_k e_k \otimes \pi(|a\rangle \langle e_k |)z$, where $\{e_k\}_k$ is an orthonormal basis for \mathcal{H} .
- (iii) $\pi(X) = W(X \otimes I_{\mathcal{P}})W^*$ for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

For the second part, Fix an orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}$ for \mathcal{P} . Define $V_n : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ by

$$V_n x = W(x \otimes e_n), \quad \text{for } x \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (2.1.14)

2.1.4 Quantum Markov maps

Quantum Markov maps are special classes of completely positive (CP) maps. In this subsection we define completely positive (CP) maps and present a few important structure theorems for CP maps.

Recall that, if \mathcal{H} is any Hilbert space, the natural identification $M_n(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})) \simeq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^n)$ gives us a norm that makes $M_n(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ as a C^* -algebra. Now given any C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} , by Theorem 2.1.3 \mathcal{A} can be identified as a C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Therefore, as \mathcal{A} acts on $\mathcal{H}, M_n(\mathcal{A})$ acts on \mathcal{H}^n in the usual way. Using this we identify $M_n(\mathcal{A})$ as a C^* -subalgebra of $M_n(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$.

Definition 2.1.16. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be C^* -algebras. If $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a linear map, then define $\phi_n : M_n(\mathcal{A}) \to M_n(\mathcal{B})$ by

$$\phi_n((a_{ij})) = (\phi(a_{ij})), \text{ for } (a_{ij}) \in M_n(\mathcal{A}).$$
 (2.1.15)

Then,

- (i) ϕ is said to be *n*-positive if ϕ_n is positive.
- (ii) ϕ is said to be *completely positive* (CP) if ϕ is *n*-positive for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- (iii) ϕ is said to be *completely bounded*(CB) if $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \|\phi_n\| < \infty$, and in this case, we set

$$\|\phi\|_{\rm cb} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \|\phi_n\|.$$
 (2.1.16)

Remark 2.1.4. (i) Unital CP maps are known as *quantum Markov maps* in quantum probability. (ii) Trace preserving, unital CP maps are known as *quantum channels* in quantum information theory.

We can see that $\|\cdot\|_{cb}$ is a norm on the space of completely bounded maps. It is easy to observe that if ϕ is *n*-positive, then ϕ is *k*-positive for $k \leq n$. Also $\|\phi_k\| \leq \|\phi_n\|$ for $k \leq n$.

Remark 2.1.5. Note for any C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} that we have the isomorphism $M_n(\mathcal{A}) \simeq \mathcal{A} \otimes M_n$. In this identification $\phi_n = \phi \otimes id_n : \mathcal{A} \otimes M_n \to \mathcal{B} \otimes M_n$, where id_n is the identity map on M_n . Therefore ϕ is *n*-positive if and only if $\phi \otimes id_n$ is positive.

Proposition 2.1.2. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a linear map. Then ϕ is n-positive if and only if $\sum_{i,j} b_i^* \phi(a_i^* a_j) b_j \geq 0$ for all $a_1, a_2, \ldots a_n \in \mathcal{A}, b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_n \in \mathcal{B}$.

Proposition 2.1.3 ([Pau02, Proposition 3.6]). Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map between C^* -algebras. Then ϕ is CB and $\|\phi\|_{cb} = \|\phi\| = \|\phi(1)\|$.

Example 2.1.5. (i) Any *-homomorphism between two C^* -algebras is a CP map.

- (ii) Let $A = (a_{ij}) \in M_n$ be a positive matrix. Define $\phi : M_n \to M_n$ by $\phi(X) = (a_{ij}x_{ij})$ the Schur product (entry-wise product) of A and $X = (x_{ij})$. Then ϕ is CP.
- (iii) Let $P = (p_{ij}) \in M_n$. Consider $\phi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ defined by $\phi(x) = Px$. Then ϕ is positive (and hence CP by Proposition 2.1.4) if and only if the entries p_{ij} are non-negative. ϕ is unital if and only if P is a stochastic matrix.
- (iv) Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -algebra. Fix $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$ and define $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ by $\phi(a) = xay$. Then ϕ is a CB map with $\|\phi\|_{cb} \leq \|x\| \|y\|$. If $x = y^*$, then ϕ is CP.
- (v) $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ defined by $\phi(A) = A'$ is a positive map which is not 2-positive, where A' is the matrix *transpose* of A. Hence not CP. But this is a CB map.
- (vi) If ϕ is CP. Note that $-\phi$ is CB but not CP.

Proposition 2.1.4 (Stinespring[Sti55]). Every positive map on a commutative C^* -algebra is CP.

Proposition 2.1.5 (Arveson [Arv69]). Let \mathcal{B} be a commutative C^* -algebra. Suppose ϕ : $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a positive linear map, then ϕ is CP.

Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -algebra, $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ be a *-homomorphism, and let $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ be a bounded linear map. Then $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ defined by $\phi(a) = V^*\pi(a)V$ is a CP map. Conversely, we have the following characterization theorem (generalization of GNS construction) by Stinespring for CP maps from any C^* -algebra into $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

Theorem 2.1.8 (Stinespring's dilation theorem [Sti55]). Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a CP map. Then there exists a triple (\mathcal{K}, π, V) of a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} , a unital *-homomorphism $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ and a bounded operator $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ with $\|\phi(1)\| = \|V\|^2$ such that

$$\phi(a) = V^* \pi(a) V, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}. \tag{2.1.17}$$

The triple (\mathcal{K}, π, V) is called a Stinespring representation or Stinespring triple for ϕ .

Remark 2.1.6. (i) Note that if ϕ is unital, then V is an isometry. So in this case we may identify \mathcal{H} as a subspace of \mathcal{K} with $V(\mathcal{H})$. Hence V^* is the projection $P_{\mathcal{H}}$ of \mathcal{K} onto \mathcal{H} and we have ϕ as a compression of the *-homomorphism as follows:

$$\phi(a) = P_{\mathcal{H}}\pi(a)|_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(2.1.18)

(ii) Let $\hat{\mathcal{K}} = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \pi(\mathcal{A})V\mathcal{H}$. Then $\hat{\mathcal{K}}$ reduces $\pi(\mathcal{A})$ and hence π restricted to $\hat{\mathcal{K}}$ defines a *-homomorphism $\pi|_{\hat{\mathcal{K}}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\hat{\mathcal{K}})$. Note that $V\mathcal{H} \subseteq \hat{\mathcal{K}}$. Therefore we have $\phi(a) = V^*\pi|_{\hat{\mathcal{K}}}(a)V$. That is, $(\hat{\mathcal{K}}, \pi|_{\hat{\mathcal{K}}}, V)$ is also a Stinespring triple for ϕ .

Definition 2.1.17. A Stinespring representation (\mathcal{K}, π, V) of $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called a *minimal Stinespring representation* if

$$\mathcal{K} = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \,\pi(\mathcal{A}) V \mathcal{H}. \tag{2.1.19}$$

From Remark 2.1.6 (ii), it follows that every CP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ has a minimal Stinespring representation. The following proposition shows that any two minimal representations are isomorphic.

Proposition 2.1.6. If $(\mathcal{K}_i, \pi_i, V_i)$, i = 1, 2 are two minimal Stinespring representations for a CP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ then the map $U : \mathcal{K}_1 \to \mathcal{K}_2$ defined by

$$U\left(\sum_{i}\pi_{1}(a_{i})V_{1}h_{i}\right)=\sum_{i}\pi_{2}(a_{i})V_{2}h_{i}$$

is a unitary satisfying $UV_1 = V_2$ and $U\pi_1 U^* = \pi_2$.

We have the following useful inequality as a corollary to the Stinespring's dilation theorem.

Proposition 2.1.7 (Kadison-Schwarz inequality). Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map. Then for every $a \in \mathcal{A}$ we have

$$\phi(a^*)\phi(a) \le \phi(a^*a) \|\phi(\mathbf{1})\|.$$
(2.1.20)

Theorem 2.1.9. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a normal CP map where \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are von Neumann algebras and let (\mathcal{K}, π, V) be the minimal Stinespring representation of ϕ . Then the map $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ is normal.

For normal CP maps between the algebras of operators on Hilbert spaces, we have the following result as a consequence of Theorems 2.1.7, 2.1.8 and 2.1.9.

Theorem 2.1.10. Let $\phi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ be a normal CP map. Then there exist $L_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{K}), n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\phi(X) = \sum_{n} L_n X L_n^* \quad \text{for all } X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}). \quad (SOT \ sum)$$
(2.1.21)

For the CP maps on the space of $n \times n$ matrices M_n , we have the following characterization theorem by Choi.

Theorem 2.1.11 (Choi [Cho75]). Let \mathcal{B} be a C^{*}-algebra, let $\phi : M_n \to \mathcal{B}$ and let $E_{ij}, 1 \leq i, j \leq n$ be the standard matrix units for M_n . Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) ϕ is CP.
- (ii) ϕ is n-positive.
- (iii) $(\phi(E_{ij}))_{i,j=1}^n$ is positive in $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{B})$.

Notation. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be C^{*}-algebras, and $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a linear map. Define $\phi^* : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ by

$$\phi^*(a) = \phi(a^*)^*, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}$$
(2.1.22)

and

$$\operatorname{Re}\phi = \frac{\phi + \phi^*}{2}, \quad \operatorname{Im}\phi = \frac{\phi - \phi^*}{2i}$$

Then $\operatorname{Re} \phi$ and $\operatorname{Im} \phi$ are self-adjoint, linear maps such that $\phi = \operatorname{Re} \phi + i \operatorname{Im} \phi$.

Theorem 2.1.12 ([Pau02, Theorem 8.3]). Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and let $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a CB map. Then there exists CP maps ϕ_i with $\|\phi_i\|_{cb} = \|\phi\|_{cb}$, i = 1, 2 such that $\Phi : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ defined by

$$\Phi\begin{pmatrix}a&b\\c&d\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\phi_1(a)&\psi(b)\\\psi^*(c)&\phi_2(d)\end{pmatrix}$$

is CP.

The following theorem for CB maps, follows from the previous theorem and it is analogues to the Stinespring representation for CP maps.

Theorem 2.1.13 ([Pau02, Theorem 8.4]). Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and let $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a CB map. Then there exists a tuple $(\mathcal{K}, \pi, V_1, V_2)$ of a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} , a *-homomorphism $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ and bounded operators $V_i : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}, i = 1, 2$ with $\|\psi\|_{cb} = \|V_1\| \|V_2\|$ such that

$$\psi(a) = V_1^* \pi(a) V_2, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}. \tag{2.1.23}$$

Definition 2.1.18. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras and let $\alpha, \beta : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be CP maps. Then α is said to *dominate* β if $\alpha - \beta$ is CP and we write $\alpha \geq \beta$ to mean α dominates β .

The following theorem of Arveson for CP maps is analogues to the Proposition 2.1.1.

Theorem 2.1.14 ([Arv69, Lemma 1.4.1]). Suppose $\alpha, \beta : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ are CP maps such that $\alpha \geq \beta$. Let (\mathcal{K}, π, V) be a (minimal) Stinespring representation of α . Then there exists a unique $T \in \pi(\mathcal{A})'$ such that $0 \leq T \leq I$ and $\beta(\cdot) = V^*\pi(\cdot)TV$.

Theorem 2.1.15 ([PS85, Corollary 2.7]). Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be CP and $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be CB. Let $\Phi : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ be defined by $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi \end{pmatrix}$ That is, $\Phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a) & \psi(b) \\ \psi^*(c) & \phi(d) \end{pmatrix}$. Suppose (\mathcal{K}, π, V) is the minimal Stinespring representation of ϕ . Then Φ is CP if and only if there exists a contraction $T \in \pi(\mathcal{A})'$ such that $\psi(\cdot) = V^*T\pi(\cdot)V$.

2.2 Hilbert C*-modules

A Hilbert C^* -module is a right module over a C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} with a \mathcal{B} -valued inner product fulfilling axioms (Definition 2.2.1) similar to the axioms of an inner product of a Hilbert space. Hilbert C^* -modules were first introduced by Kaplansky in [Kap53], where his idea was to generalize Hilbert space by allowing the inner product to take values in a (commutative unital) C^* -algebra (he called them as " C^* -modules"). Paschke [Pas73] and Rieffel [Rie74] introduced the Hilbert C^* -modules over non-commutative C^* -algebras.

The theory of Hilbert C^* -modules is already rich, well studied and is considered as a valuable tool in operator algebra theory. Many authors call them as C^* -correspondences. Here though we define (semi-) pre-Hilbert C^* -modules, we present the theory, restricted to the Hilbert C^* -modules only. We refer to [Ske01, Lan95] and the references from there for further details on the theory of Hilbert C^* -modules.

We use the theory of Hilbert C^* -modules, to study CP maps and the semigroups of CP maps. In [Pas73] Paschke obtained the *GNS-construction* for any CP map between two C^* -algebras, which says that: given a CP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ there exist a \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module E (called as "GNS-module") and a cyclic vector $\xi \in E$ such that $\phi(a) = \langle \xi, a\xi \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. The advantage of the GNS-construction is that we can write the GNS-module of the composition of two CP maps, as a submodule of the tensor product of their individual GNS-modules (See Observation 2.2.5). This is not the case with the Stinespring's dilation. This helps us to connect the semigroups of CP maps on \mathcal{B} with the product systems of Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules. In the same paper Paschke proved also that von Neumann modules are self-dual.

Arveson in [Arv89] established the connection between product systems of Hilbert spaces and E_0 -semigroups on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. In [BS00], Bhat and Skeide observe the connection between inclusion systems of Hilbert C^* -modules and CP semigroups and using that they constructed the E_0 -dilation for unital CP semigroups on a unital C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} . Muhly and Solel [MS07] took a dual approach to achieve this, where they have called these Hilbert C^* -modules as C^* -correspondences.

Definition 2.2.1. Let \mathcal{B} be a pre- C*-algebra. A complex vector space E is said to be an *inner product* \mathcal{B} -module or pre-Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module if E is a right \mathcal{B} -module, with a \mathcal{B} -valued inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : E \times E \to \mathcal{B}$ such that

- (i) $\lambda(xb) = (\lambda x)b = x(\lambda b)$ for $x \in E, b \in \mathcal{B}, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, (compatibility)
- (ii) $\langle x, \alpha y + \beta z \rangle = \alpha \langle x, y \rangle + \beta \langle x, z \rangle$ for $x, y, z \in E, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$,
- (iii) $\langle x, yb \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle b$ for $x, y \in E, b \in \mathcal{B}$,
- (iv) $\langle x, y \rangle^* = \langle y, x \rangle$ for $x, y \in E$,
- (v) $\langle x, x \rangle \ge 0$ for all $x \in E$,
- (vi) $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$ if and only if x = 0.

Observe that (ii) shows that the inner product is linear in second variable, and it follows from (iv) that the inner product is conjugate linear in the first variable. Also (iii) and (iv) together implies that $\langle xb, y \rangle = b^* \langle x, y \rangle$ for $x, y \in E, b \in \mathcal{B}$.

If E satisfies all the conditions of an inner product \mathcal{B} -module except (vi) then E is said to be a *semi-inner product* \mathcal{B} -module or *semi-Hilbert* \mathcal{B} -module.

Proposition 2.2.1. Let E be a pre-Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and let $x, x' \in E$. If

$$\langle y, x \rangle = \langle y, x' \rangle, \quad for \ all \ y \in E,$$

then x = x'. Consequently, if $\mathbf{1} \in \mathcal{B}$ is the unit of \mathcal{B} , then $w\mathbf{1} = w$ for all $w \in E$.

We have the following version of Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the semi-inner product modules. Note that this inequality is not an inequality of numbers but of elements of the C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} .

Proposition 2.2.2 ([Lan95, Proposition 1.1]). Let *E* be a semi-inner product \mathcal{B} -module. If $x, y \in E$, then

$$\langle x, y \rangle \langle y, x \rangle \le \| \langle y, y \rangle \| \langle x, x \rangle.$$
(2.2.1)

For $x \in E$ we define $||x|| := ||\langle x, x \rangle||^{\frac{1}{2}}$. The following proposition is immediate from this definition and Proposition 2.2.2.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let *E* be a semi-Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. For any $x, y \in E$ and $b \in \mathcal{B}$ we have the following inequalities:

- (i) $||xb|| \le ||x|| ||b||$.
- (*ii*) $||\langle x, y \rangle|| \le ||x|| ||y||.$

Using the inequality (ii) of Proposition 2.2.3 we can easily prove that if E is a semi-inner product \mathcal{B} -module then $\|\cdot\|$ is a semi-norm on E and if E is an inner product \mathcal{B} -module then $\|\cdot\|$ is a norm on E.

Let E be a semi-inner product \mathcal{B} -module. Consider

$$N = \{ x \in E : \langle x, x \rangle = 0 \}.$$

Then N is a sub- \mathcal{B} -module (\mathcal{B} -submodule) of E. Define a \mathcal{B} -valued inner product on E/N by

$$\langle x + N, y + N \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle$$
 for $x, y \in E$.

This inner product makes E/N into an inner product \mathcal{B} -module.

Definition 2.2.2. Let \mathcal{B} be a C^* -algebra. An inner product \mathcal{B} -module is said to be a *Hilbert* \mathcal{B} -module or *Hilbert* C^* -module over the C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} if it is complete with respect to the norm: $||x|| = ||\langle x, x \rangle||^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Example 2.2.1. (i) Hilbert spaces are Hilbert C-modules.

- (ii) Any C^{*}-algebra \mathcal{B} is a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module with the inner product given by $\langle b, c \rangle = b^* c$.
- (iii) Let \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{G} be Hilbert spaces. Let \mathcal{B} be a C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$. Let E any subspace of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ such that $E\mathcal{B} \subset E$ and $E^*E \subset \mathcal{B}$. Then E becomes a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module with the right action $SX = S \circ X$ for $S \in E, X \in \mathcal{B}$ and inner product $\langle S, T \rangle = S^* \circ T$ for $S, T \in E$. In particular, $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ is a Hilbert $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$ -module (Note that the operator norm and the Hilbert module norm coincide).
- (iv) If $\{E_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ is a family of Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. The direct sum of E_{α} 's is defined as

$$\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} E_{\alpha} = \left\{ x = (x_{\alpha}) : \sum_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \langle x_{\alpha}, x_{\alpha} \rangle \text{ converges in } \mathcal{B} \right\},\$$

with the module action $(x_{\alpha})b = (x_{\alpha}b)$ and the inner product $\langle (x_{\alpha}), (y_{\alpha}) \rangle = \sum_{\alpha} \langle x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha} \rangle$. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we define $E^n := \bigoplus_{i=1}^n E$. (v) Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space and \mathcal{B} be a C^* -algebra. Then the closure of the algebraic tensor product $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module with the module action $(h \otimes a)b = h \otimes ab$ for $h \in \mathcal{H}, a, b \in \mathcal{B}$ and the inner product $\langle h \otimes a, g \otimes b \rangle = \langle h, g \rangle a^*b$ for $h, g \in \mathcal{H}, a, b \in \mathcal{B}$.

2.2.1 Operators on Hilbert C^* -modules

Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. Then for any $x \in E$ we have, as in the Hilbert space case that

$$||x|| = \sup\{||\langle x, y\rangle|| : y \in E, ||y|| \le 1\}.$$

Hence for any linear map $T: E \to F$ between Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules we have

$$||T|| = \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} ||Tx|| = \sup_{\|x\|, \|y\| \le 1} ||\langle y, Tx \rangle||.$$
(2.2.2)

Though Hilbert modules have structures similar to Hilbert spaces they have the following significant differences.

- (i) Hilbert spaces are self-dual, that is, each bounded linear functional on a Hilbert space arises by taking inner product with a unique fixed vector $x \in \mathcal{H}$ (namely, $\langle x | : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{C}$) but not all Hilbert C^* modules are self-dual (cf. [Pas73]).
- (ii) The theory of Hilbert spaces is mainly based on the orthogonal complements of closed subspaces. (Example 2.2.2 shows that) In the module setup, unlike in the Hilbert space case, not all closed submodules are complemented.
- (iii) Every bounded linear operator between Hilbert spaces has an (unique) adjoint but for operators between Hilbert modules it is not always the case (See Example 2.2.3).

We shall discuss these more precisely after defining the following natural definitions and notations which are motivated from the theory of Hilbert spaces, to build a theory of Hilbert C^* -modules (analogues to the theory of Hilbert spaces).

Definition 2.2.3. Let $T: E \to F$ be a map between the pre-Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules E and F. We say that T is right \mathcal{B} -linear or module map if T is complex linear and T(xb) = T(x)b for $x \in E, b \in \mathcal{B}$ and we say that T is bounded if $||T|| = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} ||Tx|| < \infty$.

2.2.1.1 Self-duality

Notation. For a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E we define

 $E^r = \{ \varphi : E \to \mathcal{B} : \varphi \text{ is bounded and right } \mathcal{B}\text{-linear} \}.$

$$E^* = \{x^* : E \to \mathcal{B} : x \in E; x^*(y) = \langle x, y \rangle, \text{ for all } y \in E\}.$$

The space E^r is the space of bounded right \mathcal{B} -functionals or just \mathcal{B} -functionals and E^* is the dual module of E. The map $x \mapsto x^*$ is an anti-linear Banach space isometry from E onto E^* . As every x^* is a \mathcal{B} -functional, we have $E^* \subseteq E^r$ and this can be a proper inclusion (cf. [Pas73]).

Definition 2.2.4. A Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E is said to be *self-dual* if $E^r = E^*$.

Self-dual modules have properties in common with both Hilbert spaces and von Neumann algebras. We shall state those results after giving the required definitions.

2.2.1.2 Complementability

Let F be a closed submodule of a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E. We define the orthogonal complement F^{\perp} of F, by

$$F^{\perp} = \{ y \in E : \langle x, y \rangle = 0, \forall x \in F \}.$$
(2.2.3)

Then F^{\perp} is also a closed submodule of E.

Definition 2.2.5. Let E be a Hilbert C^* -module over \mathcal{B} . A closed submodule F of E is orthogonally complemented or complemented if $E = F \oplus F^{\perp}$. F is topologically complemented if there is a closed submodule G such that E = F + G and $F \cap G = \{0\}$.

Example 2.2.2 ([Lan95, page 7]). Let $\mathcal{B} = C(X)$ for some compact Hausdorff space X. Let Y be a closed nonempty subset of X such that $\overline{Y^c} = X$. Let $E = \mathcal{B}$ and $F = \{f \in \mathcal{B} : f(Y) = \{0\}\} \subseteq E$. Then $F^{\perp} = \{0\}$. Hence $E \neq F \oplus F^{\perp}$.

As we have mentioned already, Example 2.2.2 shows that not all closed submodules are complemented. Clearly every complemented submodule is topologically complemented. We shall discuss more about complementability in the subsection about projections.

2.2.1.3 Adjointability

Definition 2.2.6. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. A map $T : E \to F$ is said to be *adjointable* if there exists a map $T^* : F \to E$ such that

$$\langle Tx, y \rangle = \langle x, T^*y \rangle$$
 for $x \in E, y \in F$. (2.2.4)

The map T^* is called the *adjoint* of T.

It is easy to see that if T has an adjoint then it is unique. Here we record some additional properties of the adjoint.

Observation 2.2.1. Let *E* and *F* be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules and let $T : E \to F$ be an adjointable map. Then

- (i) T is right \mathcal{B} -linear.
- (ii) T is bounded (follows from Banach-Steinhaus theorem).
- (iii) T^* is also adjointable with $(T^*)^* = T$.
- (iv) Using (2.2.2) we can prove the same way as it is for the operators on Hilbert spaces, that $||T||^2 = ||T^*T|| = ||T^*||^2$.

Example 2.2.3 ([Lan95]). Let E, F be as in Example 2.2.2. Let $i : F \to E$ be the inclusion map. Suppose i were adjointable, then $(i^*(\mathbf{1}))^* f = \langle i^*(\mathbf{1}), f \rangle = \langle \mathbf{1}, f \rangle = f, \forall f \in F$ hence $i^*(\mathbf{1}) = \mathbf{1}$. But $\mathbf{1} \notin F$. Thus there is no adjoint for i.

Notation. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} modules.

 $\mathcal{B}^{r}(E,F) = \{T : E \to F : T \text{ is bounded right } \mathcal{B}\text{-linear}\}$ $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E,F) = \{T : E \to F : T \text{ is adjointable}\}$

Also we write $\mathcal{B}^{r}(E)$ and $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$ for $\mathcal{B}^{r}(E, E)$ and $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E, E)$ respectively.

Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. Note that $\mathcal{B}^r(E, \mathcal{B}) = E^r$. Also note that every $x^* \in E^*$ is adjointable with adjoint $(x^*)^* : \mathcal{B} \to E$ given by $b \mapsto xb$. Thus $E^* \subseteq \mathcal{B}^a(E, B)$.

We have $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E, F) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^{r}(E, F)$ from the observation 2.2.1(ii). Example 2.2.3 shows that not all bounded maps between Hilbert modules are adjointable. $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$ is a closed subalgebra of the Banach algebra of all bounded maps on E. Indeed using the observation 2.2.1(iv) we can see that $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$ is a C^{*} -algebra.

Now we shall state some of the well-known results without proof.

Proposition 2.2.4 ([Pas73]). Let E be a self-dual Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and let F be any Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. Then any bounded \mathcal{B} -linear map $T : E \to F$ is adjointable.

Theorem 2.2.1 ([Pas73, Theorem 2.8]). Let \mathcal{B} be a unital C^{*}-algebra. For a linear map $T: E \to F$ between Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules the following are equivalent:

(i) $T \in \mathcal{B}^r(E, F)$.

(ii) There exists a real number $k \ge 0$ such that $\langle Tx, Tx \rangle \le k \langle x, x \rangle$ for all $x \in E$.

Corollary 2.2.1 ([Pas73, Remark 2.9]). Let E and F be Hilbert C^* -modules over a unital C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} . If $T \in \mathfrak{B}^r(E, F)$ then $||T|| = \inf\{k^{\frac{1}{2}} : \langle Tx, Tx \rangle \leq k \langle x, x \rangle, \forall x \in E\}$.

2.2.1.4 Finite rank and compact operators

Now we shall define a class of operators which are analogues to finite rank operators on Hilbert spaces.

Notation. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and let $x, y \in E$. Let

 $|x\rangle: \mathcal{B} \to E$ be defined by $b \mapsto xb$,

 $\langle y | : E \to \mathcal{B}$ be defined by $z \mapsto \langle y, z \rangle$.

Then we have $|x\rangle \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{B}, E)$ with $|x\rangle^{*} = \langle x| \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E, \mathcal{B}).$

Now let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules and let $x \in E, y \in F$. We denote the composition of $|y\rangle$ with $\langle x|$ as $|y\rangle\langle x|$ that is,

 $|y\rangle\langle x| = |y\rangle \circ \langle x| : E \to F$ is the operator given by $x' \mapsto y\langle x, x'\rangle$.

We have $|y\rangle\!\langle x| \in \mathcal{B}^a(E, F)$ and $|y\rangle\!\langle x|^* = |x\rangle\!\langle y| \in \mathcal{B}^a(F, E)$.

We identify $E \subset \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{B}, E)$ via $E \ni x \mapsto |x\rangle \in \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{B}, E)$ and as $\langle y| = y^* \in F^*$, clearly $F^* \subset \mathcal{B}^a(F, \mathcal{B})$. Therefore sometimes we may write $|x\rangle\langle y|$ as xy^* .

Definition 2.2.7. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. The operators $|y\rangle\langle x| \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E, F)$ defined above are called the *rank-one operators*. The linear span $\mathcal{F}(E, F)$ of all rank-one operators is called *finite rank operators* and its completion $\mathcal{K}(E, F)$ is called the space of *compact operators*. We write $\mathcal{F}(E)$ and $\mathcal{K}(E)$ instead of $\mathcal{F}(E, E)$ and $\mathcal{K}(E, E)$ respectively.

Remark 2.2.1. Notice that, neither the rank-one operators are of rank 1, nor the finite rank operators are of finite rank in the usual sense. Also in general, the compact operators are not compact in the sense of operators between Banach spaces. However, this space of 'compact operators' is also a Banach space.

Proposition 2.2.5. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. Then we have

(i) $|y\rangle\langle x| |x'\rangle\langle y'| = |y\langle x, x'\rangle\rangle\langle y'| = |y\rangle\langle y'\langle x', x\rangle|$ for $x, x' \in E$ and $y, y' \in Y$. (ii) $T|x\rangle\langle y| = |Tx\rangle\langle y|$ for $x \in E, y \in F$ and $T \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$. (iii) $|x\rangle\langle y|S = |x\rangle\langle S^{*}y|$ for $x \in E, y \in F$ and $S \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(F)$.

The Proposition 2.2.5 shows that $\mathcal{K}(E)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$. Indeed it is a C^{*} -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$.

2.2.1.5 Positive operators

Definition 2.2.8. Let *E* be a Hilbert *C*^{*}-module over a *C*^{*}-algebra \mathcal{B} . A \mathcal{B} -linear map $T: E \to E$ is said to be *positive* if $\langle x, Tx \rangle \geq 0$ for all $x \in E$.

If T is positive, T is adjointable and $T^* = T$. If T is positive we denote it by $T \ge 0$. Also if $T, S \in \mathcal{B}^a(E)$ such that $T - S \ge 0$ then we also write $T \ge S$ or $S \le T$.

Proposition 2.2.6. For $T \in \mathcal{B}^r(E)$, the following are equivalent:

- (i) T is positive.
- (ii) T is positive in the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{B}^a(E)$.

2.2.1.6 Projections

Definition 2.2.9. Let *E* be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. An adjointable linear map $P: E \to E$ is said to be a *projection* if $P = P^* = P^2$.

As P is adjointable it is \mathcal{B} -linear. Note that the identity $||P|| = ||P^*P|| = ||P||^2$ implies that ||P|| = 1 or ||P|| = 0.

Proposition 2.2.7. Let F be a closed submodule of a Hilbert C^{*}-module E. Then F is complemented in E if and only if there exists a projection $P \in \mathbb{B}^{a}(E)$ onto F.

Proposition 2.2.8. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. Suppose $T \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E, F)$ has closed range. Then

- (i) $\ker(T)$ and $\operatorname{ran}(T)$ are complemented submodules of E and F respectively.
- (ii) $T^* \in \mathfrak{B}^a(F, E)$ has closed range.

Remark 2.2.2. Let E, F be Hilbert C^* -modules and let $T \in \mathcal{B}^a(E, F)$. Then

- (i) It is easy to prove $\ker(T^*) = \operatorname{ran}(T)^{\perp}$. But unlike in the Hilbert spaces, it need not be the case that $\ker(T^*)^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T)$.
- (ii) We always have $\overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T) = \overline{\operatorname{ran}}(TT^*)$ and hence $\overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T^*) = \overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T^*T)$.
- (iii) If ran(T) is closed, then
 - a) using Proposition 2.2.8 we can prove that $E = \ker(T) \oplus \operatorname{ran}(T^*)$ and $F = \operatorname{ran}(T) \oplus \ker(T^*)$

b) $\operatorname{ran}(T) = \operatorname{ran}(TT^*)$ hence, since $\operatorname{ran}(T^*)$ is also closed, $\operatorname{ran}(T^*) = \operatorname{ran}(T^*T)$.

(iv) If ran(T) is not closed, Then neither ker(T) nor ran(T) need to be complemented.

Definition 2.2.10. A Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module is said to be *complementary* if it is complemented in all Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules where it appears as a submodule.

Proposition 2.2.9 ([Ske01, Proposition 1.5.9]). Self-dual Hilbert C^{*}-modules are complementary.

2.2.1.7 Isometries, unitaries and partial isometries

Definition 2.2.11. Let *E* and *F* be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. A map $V : E \to F$ is said to be an *isometry* if

 $\langle Vx, Vy \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle, \quad \text{for all } x, y \in E.$ (2.2.5)

Proposition 2.2.10. For a map $V : E \to F$ the following are equivalent:

- (i) V is an isometry.
- (ii) V is \mathcal{B} -linear and ||Vx|| = ||x|| for all $x \in E$.

Isometries need not be adjointable always. So the identity $V^*V = I_E$ need not hold for isometries between Hilbert modules.

Proposition 2.2.11. An isometry $V : E \to F$ is adjointable if and only if ran(V) is complemented in F.

Corollary 2.2.2. For $V : E \to F$ the following are equivalent:

- (i) V is an isometry with complemented range.
- (ii) V is adjointable and $V^*V = I_E$.

Definition 2.2.12. A surjective isometry between Hilbert C^* -modules is said to be a *unitary*.

Proposition 2.2.12. For $U: E \to F$ the following are equivalent.

- (i) U is a unitary.
- (ii) U is adjointable and $U^*U = I_E, UU^* = I_F$.

Two Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules E and F are said to be *isomorphic* if there is a unitary U: $E \to F$ and we write $E \simeq F$.

Definition 2.2.13. Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. A map $V \in \mathcal{B}^a(E, F)$ is said to be a *partial isometry* if $F_0 = \operatorname{ran}(V)$ is complemented in F and there exists a complemented submodule E_0 of E such that $V : E_0 \to F_0$ is unitary and V is zero on E_0^{\perp} . The following proposition shows some equivalent conditions for a partial isometry (similar to the partial isometries in the Hilbert space operators).

Proposition 2.2.13 ([Lan95]). For $V \in \mathbb{B}^{a}(E, F)$ the following are equivalent:

- (i) V is a partial isometry.
- (ii) V^*V is a projection in $\mathcal{B}^a(E)$.
- (iii) VV^* is a projection in $\mathcal{B}^a(F)$.
- (iv) $V = VV^*V$.
- (v) $V^*VV^* = V^*$.

We have polar decomposition for operators T on Hilbert C^* -modules with the property that the closures of the ranges of T and T^* are both complemented.

Theorem 2.2.2 ([Lan95]). Let E and F be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. Let $T \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E, F)$ be such that both $\overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T)$ and $\overline{\operatorname{ran}}(T^{*})$ are complemented. Then there exists a partial isometry $V : E \to F$ such that T = V|T|, where |T| is the positive square root of the operator $T^{*}T$ in the C^{*} -algebra $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$.

2.2.2 Representations on Hilbert C^{*}-modules

Definition 2.2.14. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be C^* -algebras and let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. A representation of \mathcal{A} on E is a *-homomorphism $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}^a(E)$, and it is non-degenerate if span $\pi(\mathcal{A})E = E$.

If \mathcal{A} is unital then a representation π of \mathcal{A} is non-degenerate if and only if π is unital. If π is any representation of \mathcal{A} on E, then the submodule $\tilde{E} = \overline{\text{span}} \pi(\mathcal{A})E$ is invariant under the action of \mathcal{A} and hence $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}^a(\tilde{E})$ is a non-degenerate representation.

Definition 2.2.15. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be C^* -algebras. A Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E with a nondegenerate representation $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}^a(E)$ is said to be a *Hilbert* \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module or \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} correspondence.

If E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, π induces a left action on E by \mathcal{A} and we denote the action of $a \in \mathcal{A}$ on x as ax instead of $\pi(a)x$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}, x \in E$. Note that as π is a representation we have

 $||ax|| \le ||\pi(a)|| ||x|| \le ||a|| ||x||.$

Definition 2.2.16. Let *E* and *F* be Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -modules. A linear map $T : E \to F$ is said to be \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -linear or bilinear or two sided if T(axb) = aT(x)b for all $x \in E, a \in \mathcal{A}, b \in \mathcal{B}$.

Notation. $\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(E,F)$ = the space of all bounded, adjointable, bilinear maps from E to F. When F = E we write $\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(E)$ instead of $\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(E,E)$.

The complement of an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -submodule in E is an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -submodule. The range of a projection P is an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -submodule if and only if P is bilinear.

Example 2.2.4. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be C^* -algebras.

- (i) Any Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E is a Hilbert $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$ - \mathcal{B} -module with the left action given by $\pi(\phi)x = \phi(x)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{B}^{a}(E), x \in E$. Moreover $E^{n} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E$ is an $M_{n}(\mathcal{B}^{a}(E))$ - \mathcal{B} -module with the similar natural left action.
- (ii) Let $\{E_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ be a family of Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -modules. Then the direct sum $\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} E_{\alpha}$ of E_{α} 's as defined in Example 2.2.1(iv) is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module with the left action $a(x_{\alpha}) = (ax_{\alpha})$.
- (iii) If E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, then E^n is a Hilbert $M_n(\mathcal{A})$ - \mathcal{B} -module.
- (iv) If E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, then $E_{(n)}$ (= E^n considered as row vectors) is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - $M_n(B)$ -module.
- (v) If E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, then $M_n(E)$ is a Hilbert $M_n(\mathcal{A})$ - $M_n(\mathcal{B})$ -module with usual matrix multiplication as module actions and $\langle (x_{ij}), (y_{ij}) \rangle = (\sum_k \langle x_{ki}, y_{kj} \rangle).$

2.2.3 Tensor products of Hilbert C*-modules

For our purpose we need interior tensor products of Hilbert C^* -modules, hence in this section we present the definitions and some properties of them. For further details about interior tensor products look at [Lan95, Ske01].

2.2.3.1 Interior tensor products

Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and F be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} -module. Consider the algebraic tensor product $E \otimes F$. Define right \mathcal{C} -module action on $E \otimes F$ by

$$(x \otimes y)c = x \otimes yc$$
 for $x \in E, y \in F$ and $c \in \mathcal{C}$,

and define a \mathcal{C} -valued sesquilinear form on $E \otimes F$ by

$$\langle x \otimes y, x' \otimes y' \rangle = \langle y, \langle x, x' \rangle y' \rangle$$
 for $x, x' \in E$ and $y, y' \in F$. (2.2.6)

Then with this sesquilinear form $E \otimes F$ becomes a semi-inner product C-module. Let

$$N_{E\otimes F} = \{ z \in E \otimes F : \langle z, z \rangle = 0 \}.$$

$$(2.2.7)$$

The completion of inner product C-module $E \otimes F/N_{E \otimes F}$ is called the *interior tensor product* of the Hilbert modules E and F, and it is denoted by $E \odot_{\mathcal{B}} F$ or just by $E \odot F$. We denote the coset of $x \otimes y$ in $E \odot F$ by $x \odot y$.

If $T: E \to E'$ and $S: F \to F'$ are bounded (bilinear) maps, then, $T \odot S: E \odot F \to E' \odot F'$ is a bounded bilinear map defined by $(T \odot S)(x \odot y) = Tx \odot Sy$ for $x \in E, y \in F$.

Proposition 2.2.14. Let E_1, E_2 be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules and let $a \in \mathcal{B}^a(E_1, E_2)$. Let F be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} -module. Then

$$a \odot \operatorname{id} : (x \odot y) \mapsto ax \odot y$$
 (2.2.8)

extends to a well-defined adjointable operator $a \odot id : E_1 \odot F \to E_2 \odot F$ with adjoint $a^* \odot id$ and

$$\|a \odot \operatorname{id}\| \le \|a\|. \tag{2.2.9}$$

Moreover, if $E_1 = E_2$ the map $a \mapsto a \odot \text{ id } is a unital *-homomorphism from <math>\mathcal{B}^a(E) \to \mathcal{B}^a(E \odot F)$.

It follows from Proposition 2.2.14 that, in the above construction of tensor product, if E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, then we have $E \odot F$ as a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C} -module with the left action of \mathcal{A} given by

$$a(x \odot y) = ax \odot y \text{ for } x \in E, y \in F \text{ and } a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (2.2.10)

Remark 2.2.3. Let $N_{\mathcal{B}}$ be the subspace of $E \otimes F$ generated by elements of the form

$$xb \otimes y - x \otimes by, \quad x \in E, y \in F, b \in \mathcal{B}.$$

Then we can show that (cf. [Lan95]) $N_{E\otimes F} = N_{\mathcal{B}}$. Therefore (2.2.6) defines an inner product on $E \otimes F/N_{\mathcal{B}}$. Thus we can consider the interior tensor product $E \odot F$ as the completion of the inner product module $E \otimes F/N_{\mathcal{B}}$.

Proposition 2.2.15. The interior tensor product has the following properties:

(i) associative, i.e.,

 $(E_1 \odot E_2) \odot E_3 \simeq E_1 \odot (E_2 \odot E_3)$ via $(x_1 \odot x_2) \odot x_3 \mapsto x_1 \odot (x_2 \odot x_3).$

(ii) distributive over addition (direct sum), i.e.,

$$(E_1 \oplus E_2) \odot E \simeq (E_1 \odot E) \oplus (E_2 \odot E)$$
 via $(x_1 \oplus x_2) \odot x \mapsto (x_1 \odot x) \oplus (x_2 \odot x).$

Observation 2.2.2. Let \mathcal{B} be a C^* -algebra. We identify $E \odot \mathcal{B}$ and E (via $x \odot b \mapsto xb$), also we identify $\mathcal{B} \odot F$ and F (via $b \odot y \mapsto by$).

Observation 2.2.3. Let *E* be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and let *F* be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} -module. Let $x \in E$. Then

$$L_x: y \mapsto x \odot y \tag{2.2.11}$$

defines a mapping $F \to E \odot F$ with $||L_x|| \le ||x||$ and $L_x \in \mathcal{B}^a(F, E \odot F)$ with the adjoint given by

$$L_x^*: x' \odot y \mapsto \langle x, x' \rangle y. \tag{2.2.12}$$

Observation 2.2.4. Let E, F, F', G be bilinear Hilbert modules and $\beta : F \to F'$ be a bilinear isometry. Then the map $\operatorname{id} \odot \beta \odot \operatorname{id} : E \odot F \odot G \to E \odot F' \odot G$ is also a bilinear isometry.

2.2.4 GNS-construction

The following construction is due to Paschke in [Pas73], which intimately connects interior tensor products of Hilbert C^* -modules and compositions of CP maps. For next two subsections we mostly follow the notation and set up of [BBLS04, BS00]. For any CP map into $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ we have the Stinespring's dilation Theorem 2.1.8. The GNS-construction is a generalization of the Stinespring's dilation to CP maps between arbitrary C^* -algebras.

2.2.4.1 Construction

Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras and let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map. Consider the algebraic tensor product $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. For $a, a' \in \mathcal{A}, b, b' \in \mathcal{B}$, define

$$\langle a \otimes b, a' \otimes b' \rangle = b^* \phi(a^*a')b.$$

Then $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ makes $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ into a semi-Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module in a natural way. Let E be the completion of $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} / \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}}$, where $N_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}} = \{z \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B} : \langle z, z \rangle = 0\}$ and let $\xi = 1 \otimes 1 + N_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}}$, then we have

$$\phi(a) = \langle \xi, a\xi \rangle, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}. \tag{2.2.13}$$

29

Moreover, ξ is cyclic (i.e., $E = \overline{\text{span}} \mathcal{A}\xi\mathcal{B}$). The pair (E,ξ) is called the *GNS*construction of ϕ and E is called the *GNS*-module. It is obvious that ϕ is unital if and only if $\langle \xi, \xi \rangle = 1$.

Definition 2.2.17. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module and $\xi \in E$, we call (E, ξ) as a *GNS-representation* for ϕ if $\phi(a) = \langle \xi, a\xi \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. It is said to be *minimal* if

$$E = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \ \mathcal{A}\xi \mathcal{B}.$$

If (E,ξ) and (F,ζ) are two minimal GNS-representations for ϕ then the map $\xi \mapsto \zeta$ extends as a bilinear unitary from E to F.

When we know the Stinespring's representations of two CP maps, the Stinespring's representation of the composition of these two CP maps, is not clear in terms of their individual Stinespring representations. But GNS-construction is very powerful in this regard, as we mentioned before. Namely, the GNS-module of the composition of two CP maps can be written as a submodule of the (interior) tensor product of the GNS-modules of those CP maps, as follows:

Observation 2.2.5. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ and $\psi : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ be CP maps with GNS-representations (E, ξ) and (F, ζ) respectively. Let (K, κ) be the minimal GNS-representation of $\psi \circ \phi$. Note that

$$\langle \xi \odot \zeta, a\xi \odot \zeta \rangle = \langle \zeta, \langle \xi, a\xi \rangle \zeta \rangle = \langle \zeta, \phi(a)\zeta \rangle = \psi \circ \phi(a), \text{ for all } a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(2.2.14)

This says that $(E \odot F, \xi \odot \zeta)$ is a GNS-representation (not necessarily minimal) for $\psi \circ \phi$. Thus the mapping

$$\kappa \mapsto \xi \odot \zeta \tag{2.2.15}$$

extends as a unique bilinear isometry from K to $E \odot F$. Hence we may identify K as the submodule $\overline{\text{span}}(\mathcal{A}\xi \odot \zeta \mathcal{C})$ of $E \odot F$.

Note that $E \odot F = \overline{\operatorname{span}}(\mathcal{A}\xi\mathcal{B} \odot \mathcal{B}\zeta\mathcal{C}) = \overline{\operatorname{span}}(\mathcal{A}\xi \odot \mathcal{B}\zeta\mathcal{C}) = \overline{\operatorname{span}}(\mathcal{A}\xi\mathcal{B} \odot \zeta\mathcal{C}).$

2.2.5 von Neumann modules

Let \mathcal{B} be a C^* -algebra and E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. Suppose π is a non-degenerate representation of \mathcal{B} on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} (\mathcal{G} can be viewed as a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathbb{C} -module).

Consider the (interior) tensor product $\mathcal{H} = E \odot \mathcal{G}$. Note that \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space as it is a Hilbert \mathbb{C} -module.

For $x \in E$ let $L_x : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{H}$ be defined by $L_x(g) = x \odot g$, then $L_x \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ (See Observation 2.2.3) with $L_x^* : x' \odot g \mapsto \langle x, x' \rangle g (= \pi(\langle x, x' \rangle)g)$. Define $\eta : E \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ by $\eta(x) = L_x$. Then we have $L_x^*L_y = \pi(\langle x, y \rangle) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$, hence, if the representation of \mathcal{B} on \mathcal{G} is faithful then so is η . Also we have $L_{xb} = L_x b$ so that we may identify E as a concrete subset of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$.

Definition 2.2.18. The map η is referred as the *Stinespring representation of* E (associated with \mathcal{G}).

Moreover, when E is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathbb{C} -module. i.e., \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space with a (nondegenerate) representation $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ defined by

$$\rho(a)(x \odot g) = ax \odot g. \tag{2.2.16}$$

(Note that $\rho(a) = a \odot id \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ in the notation of Proposition 2.2.14) In this case we have $L_{axb} = \rho(a)L_x b$ for $x \in E, a \in \mathcal{A}, b \in \mathcal{B}$. Therefore we may identify E as a concrete subset of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ (cf. Example 2.2.1(iii)).

Definition 2.2.19. The map ρ defined above is called the *Stinespring representation of* \mathcal{A} (associated with E and \mathcal{G}). (See Remark 2.2.4 below)

Remark 2.2.4. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$ be a CP map. Suppose (E, ξ) is the GNS-construction for ϕ . Let $\eta : E \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ be the Stinespring representation of E as defined above, then

$$\phi(a) = \langle \xi, a\xi \rangle = L_{\xi}^* L_{a\xi} = L_{\xi}^* \rho(a) L_{\xi}.$$

Note that L_{ξ} is an isometry in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ if and only if ϕ is unital. So we obtain the usual minimal Stinespring representation $(\mathcal{H}, \rho, L_{\xi})$ of ϕ .

Conversely, if (\mathcal{H}, π, V) is the minimal Stinespring representation for ϕ . Consider $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ as a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$ -module, where the left action of \mathcal{A} is given by the representation π . Let $E = \overline{\text{span}} \mathcal{A}V\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$. Then (E, V) is a minimal GNS-representation for ϕ .

In Particular, if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} , we always consider E as a concrete subset of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, E \odot \mathcal{G})$.

Definition 2.2.20. Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . A Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E is said to be a von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module if E is strongly closed in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, E \odot \mathcal{G})$.

Proposition 2.2.16 ([Pas73]). If E is a von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module, then $\mathcal{B}^{a}(E)$ is a von Neumann algebra.

Definition 2.2.21. Let \mathcal{A} be a von Neumann algebra. A von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module E is said to be *von Neumann* \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module if it is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module such that the Stinespring representation ρ of \mathcal{A} on $E \odot \mathcal{G}$ is normal.

Theorem 2.2.3 ([Pas73]). von Neumann modules are self-dual. That is, for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}^{a}(E, \mathcal{B})$ there exists $x \in E$ such that $\varphi(y) = x^{*}(y) = \langle x, y \rangle$ for all $y \in E$. In particular, we have $\mathbb{B}^{a}(E) = \mathbb{B}^{r}(E)$.

Proposition 2.2.17 ([Pas73]). Every von Neumann module has a pre-dual.

The following propositions are from [BS00].

Proposition 2.2.18. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module, where \mathcal{A} is a C^* -algebra and \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Then the maps $x \mapsto xb : E \to E$ for $b \in \mathcal{B}$, $x \mapsto ax : E \to E$ for $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and the \mathcal{B} -functional $x \mapsto \langle y, x \rangle : E \to \mathcal{B}$ are strongly continuous. Hence $\overline{E}^s \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G} \oplus \mathcal{H})$ is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module and von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module, where $\mathcal{H} = E \odot \mathcal{G}$.

Proposition 2.2.19. Let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a normal CP map between von Neumann algebras. Let E be the GNS-module for ϕ . Then \overline{E}^s is a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module.

Proposition 2.2.20. Let E be a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module. Suppose π is a normal representation of \mathcal{B} on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Then the Stinespring representation ρ of \mathcal{A} on $E \odot \mathcal{G}$ is normal.

Proposition 2.2.21. Let E be a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module and F be a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} -module where \mathcal{C} acts on the Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Then $\overline{E \odot F}^s$, the strong closure of $E \odot F$ in $\mathcal{B}(G, E \odot F \odot \mathcal{G})$ is a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C} -module.

Definition 2.2.22. Due to Propositions 2.2.19, 2.2.20 and 2.2.21 we make the following conventions:

- (i) Whenever \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra and $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a CP map, by *GNS-module* we always mean \overline{E}^s , where *E* is the GNS-module, constructed above.
- (ii) If E and F are von Neumann modules, by *tensor product* of E and F we mean the strong closure $E\overline{\odot}^s F = \overline{E \odot F}^s$ of $E \odot F$ and we still write $E \odot F$.

2.2.6 Inductive limits

Definition 2.2.23. Let \mathbb{L} be a partially ordered set, which is directed increasingly. A family $(E_t)_{t \in \mathbb{L}}$ of vector spaces with a family $(\beta_{ts})_{t \geq s}$ of linear maps $\beta_{t,s} : E_s \to E_t$, is said to be an *inductive system*¹ over \mathbb{L} if $\beta_{tr}\beta_{rs} = \beta_{ts}$ for all $t \geq r \geq s$ and $\beta_{tt} = \mathrm{id}_{E_t}$.

Let \mathcal{N} denotes the subspace of $E^{\oplus} = \bigoplus_{t \in \mathbb{L}} E_t$, consisting of all those $x = (x_t)$ for which there exists $s \in \mathbb{L}$ (with $s \geq t$ for all t with $x_t \neq 0$) such that $\sum_{t \in \mathbb{L}} \beta_{st} x_t = 0 \in E_s$. The *inductive limit* $\mathcal{E} = \liminf_{t \in \mathbb{L}} E_t$ of the family $(E_t)_{t \in \mathbb{L}}$ is defined as the space $\mathcal{E} = E^{\oplus}/\mathcal{N}$.

Proposition 2.2.22 ([BS00]). The canonical mappings $i_t : E_t \to \mathcal{E}$ have the property: $i_t\beta_{ts} = i_s$ for all $t \ge s$. Also $\mathcal{E} = \bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{L}} i_t E_t$.

Notation. Let $i: E^{\oplus} \to E$ denote the canonical mapping.

Definition 2.2.23 in a sense is algebraic. So it is referred as *algebraic inductive limit*. However when we have a inductive system of topological spaces, it is necessary to enlarge the inductive limits in order to preserve the structure. e.g. the inductive limits of Hilbert modules need not be complete always. So we make the following conventions.

Definition 2.2.24. (i) The *inductive limit* of an inductive system of Hilbert modules is defined as the norm completion of the algebraic inductive limit.

(ii) The *inductive limit* of an inductive system of von Neumann modules is defined as the strong completion of the algebraic inductive limit.

Observation 2.2.6 ([BS00, Proposition A.6]). Let (E_t, β_{ts}) be a inductive system, where E_t 's are Hilbert C^* -modules and β_{ts} are isometries. Let \mathcal{E} be the inductive limit of this inductive system. Define

$$\langle x, x' \rangle = \sum_{t,t'} \langle \beta_{st} x_t, \beta_{st'} x'_{t'} \rangle,$$

where $x = i((x_t)), x' = i((x'_t)) \in \mathcal{E}$ and s such that $bx_t = x'_t = 0$ whenever t > s. Then $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ defines an inner product on \mathcal{E} and clearly the canonical maps i_t 's are isometries.

Further, if E_t 's are two-sided Hilbert C^* modules and β_{ts} are bilinear maps. Then \mathcal{E} is also two-sided, and the canonical mappings i_t respect the left multiplications.

¹We refer to [BS00, appendix A] for the detailed proofs of the results of this section.

2.3 Quantum dynamical semigroups

We begin with some general theory of one-parameter semigroups of linear maps on Banach spaces. Then in the next subsection we shall move on to our main interest of strongly continuous one-parameter semigroups of CP maps on C^* -algebras.

2.3.1 Some general theory

In this subsection we introduce the standard definitions and some results about the theory of one-parameter semigroups of (continuous) linear maps on Banach spaces. More generally, we have the theory of semigroups of linear maps on locally convex topological vector spaces, but we restrict to Banach spaces. For more details and the proofs of this subsection we refer the reader to [Yos95, Gol17, Dav80].

Definition 2.3.1. Let X be a Banach space. A family $\tau = (\tau_t)_{t\geq 0} \subset \mathcal{B}(X)$ of bounded linear maps in X is called a C_0 -semigroup or strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup on X if:

- (i) $\tau_{s+t} = \tau_s \tau_t$ for each $s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$;
- (ii) $\tau(0) = I$, identity operator on X;
- (iii) The map $t \mapsto \tau_t(x)$ is continuous for each $x \in X$. (strong continuity)

Definition 2.3.2. A C_0 -semigroup τ is said to be uniformly continuous if

$$\|\tau_t - I\| \to 0 \text{ as } t \to 0.$$
 (2.3.1)

Definition 2.3.3. A C_0 -semigroup τ on X is called a C_0 -contraction semigroup on X if $\|\tau_t\| \leq 1$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Definition 2.3.4. Let τ be a C_0 -semigroup on X. The (infinitesimal) generator L of τ is defined by

$$L(x) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\tau_t(x) - x}{t}, \quad \text{for } x \in \mathfrak{D}(L)$$
(2.3.2)

where, $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ is the domain of L, consisting of $x \in X$, for which the above limit (2.3.2) exists.

Here $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ is a subspace of X and L is a linear map from $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ to X. In general $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ is not equal to X but it is always a dense subspace of X. Also L is always a closed linear operator. A semigroup is uniquely determined by its generator.

Theorem 2.3.1. Let $L \in \mathcal{B}(X)$. Then the family $\tau = (\tau_t)$ defined by $\tau_t = e^{tL}$ is a uniformly continuous C_0 -semigroup with generator L.

Conversely, if τ is a uniformly continuous C_0 -semigroup, then the generator L of τ is a bounded linear operator on X and $\tau_t = e^{tL}$.

Theorem 2.3.1 shows that the C_0 -semigroups (satisfying strong continuity, see Definition 2.3.1(iii)) which do not satisfy the uniform continuity condition (2.3.1) are precisely the ones having unbounded generators.

Theorem 2.3.2 (Hille-Yosida [Gol17]). *L* is the generator of a C_0 -contraction semigroup if and only if *L* is densely defined, closed operator fulfilling, for each $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, $\lambda \in \sigma(L)^c$ and²

$$\left\|\lambda(\lambda-L)^{-1}\right\| \le 1$$

Theorem 2.3.3 ([Gol17]). Let τ be a C_0 -semigroup. Then there exist constants $M \geq 1, \omega \geq 0$ such that

$$\|\tau_t\| \leq M e^{\omega t} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Theorem 2.3.4 (Stone's theorem [Gol17]). *L* is the generator of a C_0 -unitary group on a complex Hilbert space \mathcal{H} if and only if *L* is skew-adjoint (i.e., *iL* is self-adjoint).

2.3.2 Quantum dynamical semigroups

In this section we restrict to the case that the Banach space X is a C^* -algebra or a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} and we study the semigroups of CP maps. In this section \mathbb{T} denotes \mathbb{R}_+ or \mathbb{Z}_+ . For the details and proofs look at [SG07] and its references.

Definition 2.3.5. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra. A one-parameter semigroup of contractive CP maps $\phi = (\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ on \mathcal{A} is said to be a *quantum dynamical semigroup* (QDS). That is, a family $(\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ of linear maps on \mathcal{A} is said to be a QDS if

- (i) ϕ_t is CP for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$;
- (ii) $\phi_{s+t} = \phi_s \circ \phi_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$;
- (iii) $\phi_0(a) = a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$;
- (iv) $\phi_t(\mathbf{1}) \leq \mathbf{1}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$; (contractivity)

It is said to be conservative QDS or Quantum Markov semigroup (QMS) if ϕ_t is unital for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$. In practice, in addition to (i)-(iv) we may assume continuity of $t \to \phi_t(a)$ in different topologies, depending upon the context.

²See (2.1.6) from Subsection 2.1.2 for the definition of $\sigma(L)$.

Definition 2.3.6. A QDS ϕ is said to be *uniformly continuous QDS* if

$$\|\phi_t - \mathrm{id}\| \to 0 \text{ as } t \to 0. \tag{2.3.3}$$

A QDS ϕ is uniformly continuous if and only if the generator is bounded (cf. Theorem 2.3.1)

Definition 2.3.7. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra. A one-parameter semigroup $\vartheta = (\vartheta_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ of unital endomorphisms of \mathcal{A} is said to be an E_0 -semigroup.

Clearly every E_0 -semigroup is a Quantum Markov Semigroup. If ϕ is a semigroup of CP maps or endomorphisms on a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , we typically assume that every ϕ_t is normal.

Definition 2.3.8. Let $\phi = (\phi_t)$ be a QDS on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} . An E_0 -semigroup $\vartheta = (\vartheta_t)$ on a C^* -algebra $\mathcal{B} \supseteq \mathcal{A}$ is said to be an E_0 -dilation of ϕ if there is a projection $P \in \mathcal{B}$ such that $\mathcal{A} = P\mathcal{B}P$ and $\phi_t(a) = P\vartheta_t(a)P$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}, t \in \mathbb{T}$.

Definition 2.3.9. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -subalgebra of a C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} . Let $L : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a bounded linear adjoint preserving map. Then L is said to be *conditionally completely* positive (CCP) if

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^n b_i^* L(a_i^* a_j) b_j \ge 0$$

for all a_1, \ldots, a_n in \mathcal{A} and b_1, \ldots, b_n in \mathcal{B} satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i b_i = 0$ and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Theorem 2.3.5 ([SG07]). A bounded linear adjoint preserving map L on a unital C^* -algebra is CCP if and only if e^{tL} is CP for all $t \ge 0$.

The structure of generators of uniformly continuous quantum dynamical semigroups on matrix algebras was obtained by Gorini, Kossakowski and Sudershan. This was extended to type I von Neumann algebras by Lindblad. A detailed account of this can be seen in K R Parthasarathy [Par92]. The extension to general C^* -algebras was carried out by Christensen and Evans [CE79]. Here we just state the $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ version.

Theorem 2.3.6. The generator L of a uniformly continuous QDS on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ can be written as

$$L(T) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} R_n^* T R_n + G T + T G^*$$

for $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, where $R_n, G \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $-\operatorname{Re}(G)$ is a positive operator and the sum on the right-hand side converges strongly.

2.3.3 Product systems and morphisms

W. Arveson introduced tensor product system of Hilbert spaces in order to classify E_0 semigroups of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. We need to look at product systems of Hilbert C^* -modules to study E_0 -semigroups of general C^* -algebras. Analyzing similar structures for quantum dynamical semigroups of C^* -algebras Bhat and Skeide ([BS00]) looked at inclusion systems of Hilbert C^* -modules and their inductive limits to product systems. The name 'inclusion systems' is from ([BM10], and similar objects were called subproduct systems in Solel, Shalit [SS09]). Let \mathbb{T} denote the set of all non-negative real numbers \mathbb{R}_+ or the set of all non-negative integers \mathbb{Z}_+ .

Definition 2.3.10. Let \mathcal{B} be a C^* -algebra (von Neumann algebra). An *inclusion system* (E, β) is a family $E = (E_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ of Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules (von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules) with $E_0 = \mathcal{B}$ and a family $\beta = (\beta_{s,t})_{s,t \in \mathbb{T}}$ of (adjointable) bilinear isometries $\beta_{s,t} : E_{s+t} \to E_s \odot E_t$ such that, for all $r, s, t \in \mathbb{T}$,

$$(\beta_{r,s} \odot \mathrm{id}_{E_t})\beta_{r+s,t} = (\mathrm{id}_{E_r} \odot \beta_{s,t})\beta_{r,s+t}.$$

It is said to be a *product system* if every β_{st} is unitary.

Recall that: if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, and if each E_t is a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} modules, as we already mentioned, by $E_s \odot E_t$ we mean $E_s \overline{\odot}^s E_t$, the strong closure of $E_s \odot E_t$.

Definition 2.3.11. Let (E, β) be an inclusion system. A family $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ of vectors $\xi_t \in E_t$ is called a *unit* for the inclusion system, if $\beta_{s,t}(\xi_{s+t}) = \xi_s \odot \xi_t$. It is said to be *unital* if $\langle \xi_t, \xi_t \rangle = 1$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and generating if ξ_t is cyclic in E_t for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$. Suppose (E, β) is a product system, a unit $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ is said to be a generating unit for the product system (E, β) if E_t is spanned by images of elements $b_n \xi_{t_n} \odot \cdots \odot b_1 \xi_{t_1} b_0$ $(t_i \in \mathbb{T}, \sum t_i = t, b_i \in \mathcal{B})$ under successive applications of appropriate mappings id $\odot \beta^*_{s,s'} \odot$ id.

Observation 2.3.1. Suppose ξ^{\odot} is a unit for an inclusion system (E, β) . Consider $\phi_t : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}$ defined by

$$\phi_t(b) = \langle \xi_t, b\xi_t \rangle \text{ for } b \in \mathcal{B}.$$

Then as $\beta_{s,t}$'s are bilinear isometries and ξ^{\odot} is a unit, for $b \in \mathcal{B}$ we have

$$\phi_t \circ \phi_s(b) = \phi_t(\langle \xi_s, b\xi_s \rangle) = \langle \xi_t, \langle \xi_s, b\xi_s \rangle \xi_t \rangle = \langle \xi_s \odot \xi_t, b(\xi_s \odot \xi_t) \rangle = \langle \xi_{t+s}, b\xi_{t+s} \rangle = \phi_{t+s}(b).$$

That is, $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$ is a CP semigroup. Further, (ϕ_t) is unital if and only if ξ^{\odot} is a unital unit.

Example 2.3.1. Let $\phi = (\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ be a CP semigroup on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} and let (E_t, ξ_t) be the GNS-construction for ϕ_t . (If \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, we assume that ϕ_t 's are normal, $E_t = \overline{E}_t^s$ for all t and $E_t \odot E_s = E_t \overline{\odot}^s E_s$.)

Recall that ξ_t is a unit cyclic vector in E_t such that $\phi_t(b) = \langle \xi_t, b\xi_t \rangle$ for all $b \in \mathcal{B}$, and $E_0 = \mathcal{B}$ and $\xi_0 = 1$. Define $\beta_{s,t} : E_{s+t} \to E_s \odot E_t$ by

$$\xi_{t+s} \mapsto \xi_s \odot \xi_t. \tag{2.3.4}$$

Then by Observation 2.2.5, $\beta_{s,t}$'s are bilinear isometries. Now

$$(\beta_{r,s} \odot I_{E_t})\beta_{r+s,t}(\xi_{r+s+t}) = (\beta_{r,s} \odot I_{E_t})(\xi_{r+s} \odot \xi_t) = (\xi_r \odot \xi_s) \odot \xi_t$$
$$= \xi_r \odot (\xi_s \odot \xi_t) = (I_{E_r} \odot \beta_{s,t})(\xi_r \odot \xi_{s+t})$$
$$= (I_{E_r} \odot \beta_{s,t})\beta_{r,s+t}(\xi_{r+s+t}),$$

shows that (E,β) is an inclusion system. It is obvious to see that $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi_t)$ is generating unit for (E,β) .

Definition 2.3.12. For a CP semigroup ϕ , the triple (E, β, ξ°) given in Example 2.3.1 is called the *inclusion system associated to the CP semigroup* ϕ . When β is clear from the context, we just write (E, ξ°) as the inclusion system associated to the CP semigroup ϕ .

Definition 2.3.13. Let (E,β) and (F,γ) be two inclusion systems. Let $T = (T_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$ be a family of adjointable two-sided (bilinear) maps $T_t : E_t \to F_t$, satisfying $||T_t|| \leq e^{tk}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{R}$. Then T is said to be a *morphism* or a *weak morphism* from (E,β) to (F,γ) if every $\gamma_{s,t}$ is adjointable and

$$T_{s+t} = \gamma_{s,t}^* (T_s \odot T_t) \beta_{s,t} \text{ for all } s, t \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(2.3.5)

It is said to be a strong morphism if

$$\gamma_{s,t}T_{s+t} = (T_s \odot T_t)\beta_{s,t} \text{ for all } s, t \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(2.3.6)

Clearly a strong morphism is also a weak morphism.

2.3.4 E_0 -dilation of quantum Markov semigroups

In this subsection we recall the E_0 -dilation of a QMS as presented by Bhat and Skeide in [BS00]. Let $\phi = (\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ be a conservative CP semigroup (QMS). Let (E, β) be the inclusion system associated to ϕ as explained in Definition 2.3.12. First goal is to show that this inclusion system leads to a product system by performing some inductive limits. Notation. Let $0 < t \in \mathbb{T}$. For any $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{T}^n$ we denote $|\mathfrak{t}| = \sum_{i=1}^n t_i$. Let

$$\mathbb{I}_{t} = \{ \mathfrak{t} = (t_{n}, \dots, t_{1}) \in \mathbb{T}^{n} : n \in \mathbb{N}, t = t_{n} > \dots > t_{1} > 0 \}.$$
(2.3.7)

 \mathbb{I}_t has the natural notion of *inclusion*, *union* and *intersection* of tuples. Inclusion defines a *partial order* on \mathbb{I}_t . Let

$$\mathbb{J}_t = \{ \mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \dots, t_1) \in \mathbb{T}^n : t_i > 0, |\mathfrak{t}| = t, n \in \mathbb{N} \}.$$
 (2.3.8)

For $\mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1) \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we define the *joint tuple* $\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_{s+t}$ by

$$\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t} = ((s_m, \ldots, s_1), (t_n, \ldots, t_1)) = (s_m, \ldots, s_1, t_n, \ldots, t_1)$$

We define a partial order " \geq " on \mathbb{J}_t as follows: $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1)$, if for each j $(1 \leq j \leq m)$ there are (unique) $\mathfrak{s}_j \in \mathbb{J}_{s_j}$ such that $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{s}_m \smile \cdots \smile \mathfrak{s}_1$.

For t = 0 we extend the definitions of \mathbb{I}_t and \mathbb{J}_t as $\mathbb{I}_0 = \mathbb{J}_0 = \{()\}$, where () is the empty tuple. Also for $\mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we put $\mathfrak{t} \smile () = \mathfrak{t} = () \smile \mathfrak{t}$.

Proposition 2.3.1 ([BS00, Proposition 4.1]). The mapping $(t_n, \ldots, t_1) \mapsto (\sum_{i=1}^n t_i, \ldots, \sum_{i=1}^1 t_i)$ is an order isomorphism $\mathbb{J}_t \to \mathbb{I}_t$.

Fix t > 0 in \mathbb{T} . For $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we define $E_{\mathfrak{t}} = E_{t_n} \odot \cdots \odot E_{t_1}$ and $E_{()} = E_0$. In particular we have $E_{(t)} = E_t$. By Observations 2.2.4 and 2.2.5

$$\xi_t \mapsto \xi_t = \xi_{t_n} \odot \cdots \odot \xi_{t_1} \tag{2.3.9}$$

defines a bilinear isometry $\beta_{\mathfrak{t}(t)}: E_t \to E_{\mathfrak{t}}$. Note that $\beta_{\mathfrak{t}(t)}$ is also given by

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{t}(t)} = (\beta_{t_n, t_{n-1}} \odot \mathrm{id})(\beta_{t_n+t_{n-1}, t_{n-2}} \odot \mathrm{id}) \dots (\beta_{t_n+\dots+t_3, t_2} \odot \mathrm{id})\beta_{t_n+\dots+t_2, t_1}.$$

Now suppose $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) = \mathfrak{s}_m \smile \cdots \smile \mathfrak{s}_1 \ge \mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1)$ with $|\mathfrak{s}_j| = s_j$, then we define

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{ts}} = \beta_{\mathfrak{s}_m(s_m)} \odot \cdots \odot \beta_{\mathfrak{s}_1(s_1)}.$$

Then $\beta_{\mathfrak{ts}}: E_{\mathfrak{s}} \to E_{\mathfrak{t}}$ is a bilinear isometry. Clearly $\beta_{\mathfrak{tr}}\beta_{\mathfrak{rs}} = \beta_{\mathfrak{ts}}$ for all $\mathfrak{t} \ge \mathfrak{r} \ge \mathfrak{s}$. Thus $((E_{\mathfrak{t}})_{\mathfrak{t}\in \mathbb{J}_{t}}, (\beta_{\mathfrak{ts}})_{\mathfrak{t}\ge \mathfrak{s}})$ forms an inductive system of Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules.

Hence, the inductive limit $\mathcal{E}_t = \liminf_{t \in \mathbb{J}_t} E_t$ is a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module and the canonical mappings $i_t : E_t \to \mathcal{E}_t$ are bilinear isometries (cf. [BS00, Proposition 4.3]). Note in particular that $i_{(t)} : E_t \to \mathcal{E}_t$ is a bilinear isometry. The following observation shows that \mathcal{E}_t has a special vector.

Observation 2.3.2. Let $\xi^t = i_{(t)}\xi_t$. Then it is easy to prove using Proposition 2.2.22 that $i_t\xi_t = \xi^t$ for all $\mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$. Moreover,

$$\langle \xi^t, b\xi^t \rangle = \langle i_{(t)}\xi_t, bi_{(t)}\xi_t \rangle = \langle i_{(t)}\xi_t, i_{(t)}b\xi_t \rangle = \langle \xi_t, b\xi_t \rangle = \phi_t(b).$$
(2.3.10)

Also as ϕ is unital, $\langle \xi^t, \xi^t \rangle = 1$.

For each $s \in \mathbb{T}$, recall from Proposition 2.2.22, that $\mathcal{E}_s = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{i_{\mathfrak{s}}E_{\mathfrak{s}} : \mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s\}$. For any given $\mathfrak{r} \in \mathbb{J}_{s+t}$, there exist $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and $\mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$ such that $\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{r}$. Therefore we have $\mathcal{E}_{s+t} = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{i_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}(E_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}) : \mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s, \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t\}.$

For $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s, \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$ clearly $E_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot E_{\mathfrak{t}} = E_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}$. Using this trivial observation we define $u_{st} : \mathcal{E}_s \odot \mathcal{E}_t \to \mathcal{E}_{s+t}$ by

$$u_{st}(i_{\mathfrak{s}}x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot i_{\mathfrak{t}}y_{\mathfrak{t}}) = i_{\mathfrak{s}\smile\mathfrak{t}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \quad \text{for } x_{\mathfrak{s}} \in E_{\mathfrak{s}}, y_{\mathfrak{t}} \in E_{\mathfrak{t}}, \mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_{s}, \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_{t}.$$
(2.3.11)

Indeed, by repeated applications of Proposition 2.2.22, we can prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.3.7 ([BS00, Theorem 4.8]). With the above notations $(\mathcal{E}^{\odot} = (\mathcal{E}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}, u = (u_{st})_{s,t \in \mathbb{T}})$ forms a product system. The family $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi^t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ forms a generating, unital unit for this product system.

Remark 2.3.1. Since u_{st} is a unitary for all $s, t \in \mathbb{T}$, we always make the identification:

$$\mathcal{E}_s \odot \mathcal{E}_t = \mathcal{E}_{s+t}.\tag{2.3.12}$$

Now we perform a second inductive limit to patch the \mathcal{E}_t 's together and using this new module we get, an E_0 -dilation for the QMS ϕ .

Let $s, t \in \mathbb{T}$ with $t \geq s$. Let $\gamma_{ts} = L_{\xi^{t-s}} : \mathcal{E}_s \to \mathcal{E}_{t-s} \odot \mathcal{E}_s = \mathcal{E}_t$, namely $x \mapsto \xi^{t-s} \odot x$ (See Observation 2.2.3 for the notations). Now let $t \geq r \geq s$. As (ξ^t) is a unit we have $\gamma_{ts} = \xi^{t-s} \odot \mathrm{id} = \xi^{t-r} \odot \xi^{r-s} \odot \mathrm{id} = \gamma_{tr} \gamma_{rs}$. Therefore $((\mathcal{E}_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}, (\gamma_{ts})_{t\geq s})$ forms an inductive system. The inductive limit $\mathcal{E} = \liminf_{t\to\infty} \mathcal{E}_t$ is a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module and the canonical mappings $k_t : \mathcal{E}_t \to \mathcal{E}$ are isometries (cf. [BS00, Proposition 5.1]). As in Observation 2.3.2, \mathcal{E} also has a special vector: namely $\xi = k_0 \xi^0$ satisfying $\xi = k_t \xi^t$, for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and $\langle \xi, \xi \rangle = 1$. In the following proposition we use notations from Subsection 2.2.1.4.

Proposition 2.3.2 ([BS00, Corollary 5.3]). The map $j_0 : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$ defined by $j_0(b) = |\xi\rangle b \langle \xi|$ is a faithful representation, where ξ is as above. Moreover, the map $a \mapsto j_0(1)aj_0(1)$ defines a conditional expectation $\mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E}) \to j_0(\mathcal{B})$.

Theorem 2.3.8 ([BS00, Theorem 5.4]). For all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ we have

$$\mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t = \mathcal{E}. \tag{2.3.13}$$

extending (2.3.12) in a natural way. Moreover, $\xi \odot \xi^t = \xi$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$.

Using the identification (2.3.13) we define the following endomorphisms to get an E_0 dilation of the given CP semigroup.

Define $\vartheta_t : \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t) = \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$ by $\vartheta_t(a) = a \odot \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}_t}, \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E}).$

Theorem 2.3.9 ([BS00]). $\vartheta = (\vartheta_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ is an E_0 -dilation of the CP semigroup $\phi = (\phi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$.

Remark 2.3.2. Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra acting on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Let $(\phi_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$ be a normal CP semigroup on \mathcal{B} . With the conventions of Definitions 2.2.22 and 2.2.24 the whole construction holds.

So in the above dilation theory, replacing C^* -albebra by von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} and unital CP semigroup by unital normal CP semigroup ϕ , we get the following theorem.

Theorem 2.3.10 ([BS00]). Let (ϕ_t) be a conservative normal CP semigroup on a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} . Then with the above notations,

- (i) The family $E^{\odot} = (E_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ forms an inclusion system of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules and $\xi = (\xi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ forms a unital, generating unit for this inclusion system. Also $\langle \xi_t, b\xi_t \rangle = \phi_t(b).$
- (ii) The family $\mathcal{E}^{\odot} = (\mathcal{E}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ forms a product system of von Neumann modules and $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi^t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}$ forms a unital, generating unit for this product system. Also $\langle \xi^t, b\xi^t \rangle = \phi_t(b)$.
- (iii) We have $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ and in this identification $\xi = \xi \odot \xi^t$.
- (iv) $j_0: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$ defined by $j_0(b) = |\xi\rangle b \langle \xi|$ is a normal representation.
- (v) $(\vartheta_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$ (given by $\vartheta_t : \mathfrak{B}^a(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathfrak{B}^a(\mathcal{E}) \simeq \mathfrak{B}^a(\mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t)$ via., $(a \mapsto a \odot \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}_t})$) is an E_0 -dilation of (ϕ_t) . i.e.,

$$j_0(1)\vartheta_t(j_0(b))j_0(1) = j_0(\phi_t(b)), \quad \text{for all } b \in \mathcal{B}.$$

2.3.5 The time ordered Fock module

The time ordered Fock modules are one of the fundamental examples of product systems of Hilbert C^* -modules.

Definition 2.3.14. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module. The *full Fock module* over E is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}(E) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} E^{\odot n} \tag{2.3.14}$$

where $E^{\odot 0} = \mathcal{B}$ and $\omega = 1 \in E^{\odot 0}$ denotes the *vacuum*. If \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, then $\mathcal{F}^{s}(E)$ denotes the von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module $\overline{\mathcal{F}(E)}^{s}$.

Definition 2.3.15. Let $T \in \mathbb{B}^{a,bil}(E)$ be a contraction. The second quantization of T is defined as

$$\mathfrak{F}(T) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} T^{\odot n} \in \mathfrak{B}^a(\mathfrak{F}(E)),$$

where $T^{\odot 0} = \operatorname{id}$.

Definition 2.3.16. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module. For $t \in \mathbb{R}$, the *time shift* S_t in $\mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(L^2(\mathbb{R}, E))$ is defined as $[S_t f](s) = f(s - t)$.

Definition 2.3.17. Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module and (M, μ) be a measure space. Consider the algebraic tensor product $L^2(M) \otimes E$ as a pre-Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module with right action $(f \otimes x)b = f \otimes xb$, left action $b(f \otimes x) = f \otimes bx$ and inner product $\langle f \otimes x, g \otimes y \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle \int_M \bar{f}gd\mu$. Let $L^2(M, E)$ denote the completion of this pre-Hilbert module. Note that $L^2(M, E)$ can be treated as the completion of the set of functions on M taking values in E. If E is von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module, then by $L^{2,s}(M, E)$ we mean the strong closure of $L^2(M) \otimes E$, which is a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module.

Let E be a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module. Let $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable subset of \mathbb{R} . Inner product in $L^2(I, E)$ is given by $\langle f \otimes x, g \otimes y \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle \int_I \overline{f(t)}g(t)dt$ and $L^2(I, E)^{\odot n} = L^2(I^n, E^{\odot n})$. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let Δ_n denote the indicator function of the subset $\{(t_n, \ldots, t_1) : t_n \geq \cdots \geq t_1\}$ of \mathbb{R}^n and let $\Delta_0 = 1$. Then Δ_n can be treated as a multiplication operator on $L^2(I^n)$. Hence Δ_n acts as a projection on $L^2(I, E)^{\odot n}$ so that $\Delta = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \Delta_n$ is the projection of the time ordered part of $\mathcal{F}(L^2(I, E))$.

Definition 2.3.18. The *time ordered Fock module* over E is the two-sided submodule

$$\Gamma(E) = \Delta(\mathcal{F}(L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, E))) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \Delta_n L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, E)^{\odot n}$$

of $\mathcal{F}(L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, E))$ and the extended time ordered Fock module over E is defined as $\Delta \mathcal{F}(L^2(\mathbb{R}, E))$. Notation. For $t \ge 0$, define $\Gamma_t(E) := \Delta \mathcal{F}(L^2([0, t), E)) \subset \Gamma(E)$.

If \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} and if E is a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module, then we consider the strong closures, $\Gamma^s(E) = \overline{\Gamma(E)}^s$ and $\Gamma^s_t(E) = \overline{\Gamma(E)}^s_t$.

Define $u_{st}: \Gamma_s(E) \odot \Gamma_t(E) \to \Gamma_{s+t}(E)$ by

$$[u_{st}(X_s \odot Y_t)](s_m, \dots, s_1, t_n, \dots, t_n) = [\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{S}_t)X_s](s_m, \dots, s_1) \odot Y_t(t_n, \dots, t_1)$$
$$= X_s(s_m - t, \dots, s_1 - t) \odot Y_t(t_n, \dots, t_1),$$

for $s + t \ge s_m \ge \cdots \ge s_1 \ge t \ge t_n \ge \cdots \ge t_1 \ge 0, X_s \in \Delta_m(L^2([0,s], E)^{\odot m}, Y_t \in \Delta_n(L^2([0,t], E)^{\odot n})$. Then u_{st} is unitary for all s, t.

The following theorem by Bhat and Skeide is analogues to the well-known factorization $\Gamma(L^2([0, s+t])) = \Gamma(L^2([t, s+t])) \otimes \Gamma(L^2([0, t]))$ of the symmetric Fock spaces.

Theorem 2.3.11 ([BS00]). ($\mathbb{P}^{\odot}(E) = (\mathbb{F}_t(E))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}, u = (u_{st})_{s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$) is a product system.

Corollary 2.3.1. Let E be a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module. Let $\Gamma^{s\odot}(E) = (\Gamma^s_t(E))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ and let u_{st} be defined as above and extended to the strong closures. Then $(\Gamma^{s\odot}(E), u = (u_{st})_{s,t\in\mathbb{R}_+})$ is a product system of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules.

Theorem 2.3.12 ([LS01]). Let *E* be a Hilbert *B*-*B*-module. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}, \zeta \in E$ and let $\xi^0 = (\xi^0_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ with $\xi^0_t = e^{t\beta}$ be the uniformly continuous semigroup in *B* with generator β . Then $\xi^{(\beta,\zeta)\odot} = (\xi^{(\beta,\zeta)}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ where the component ξ^n_t of $\xi_t = \xi^{(\beta,\zeta)}_t \in \Gamma_t(E)$ in the *n*-particle sector is defined by

$$\xi_t^n(t_n, \dots, t_1) = \xi_{t-t_n}^0 \zeta \odot \xi_{t_n-t_{n-1}}^0 \zeta \odot \dots \odot \xi_{t_2-t_1}^0 \zeta \xi_{t_1}^0, \qquad (2.3.15)$$

is a unit for $\Gamma^{\odot}(E)$. Moreover, the function $t \mapsto \xi_t \in \Gamma_t(E) \subseteq \Gamma(E)$ and the CP semigroup $\phi^{(\beta,\zeta)}$ with $\phi^{(\beta,\zeta)}_t(b) = \langle \xi^{(\beta,\zeta)}_t, b\xi^{(\beta,\zeta)}_t \rangle$ are uniformly continuous and the generator $L^{(\beta,\zeta)}$ of $\phi^{(\beta,\zeta)}$ is

$$L^{(\beta,\zeta)}(b) = \langle \zeta, b\zeta \rangle + b\beta + \beta^* b.$$
(2.3.16)

Conversely, let ξ^{\odot} be a unit such that $t \mapsto \xi_t \in \Gamma(E)$ is a continuous function. Then there exist unique $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ and $\zeta \in E$ such that $\xi_t = \xi_t^{(\beta,\zeta)}$ as defined by (2.3.15).

Observation 2.3.3. Theorem 2.3.12 holds also for von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules E. (cf. [BBLS04, Observation 2.3.14]).

Theorem 2.3.12 says that the continuous units of $\Gamma^{\odot}(E)$ is parameterized by $\mathcal{B} \times E$. Let $\mathcal{U}_c(E)$ denote the set of continuous units of $\Gamma^{\odot}(E)$. Consider the algebraic subsystem $\Gamma^{\mathcal{U}_c \odot}(E) = (\Gamma_t^{\mathcal{U}_c \odot}(E))_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ of the time ordered system $\Gamma^{\odot}(E)$ which is generated by $\mathcal{U}_c(E)$. Note that any morphism maps a unit to a unit. Using this observation the following theorem is proved in [BBLS04]. **Theorem 2.3.13** ([BBLS04]). Let E and E' be Hilbert \mathcal{B} -modules. Then setting

$$w_t(\xi_t^{(\beta,\zeta)}) = \xi_t^{(\gamma+\beta+\langle\eta,\zeta\rangle,\eta'+a\zeta)}$$
(2.3.17)

we establish a one-to-one correspondence between possibly unbounded continuous morphisms $w^{\odot} = (w_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}_+}$ from $\Gamma^{\mathfrak{U}_c \odot}(E)$ to $\Gamma^{\mathfrak{U}_c \odot}(E')$ and matrices

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma & \eta^* \\ \eta' & a \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{B}^{a,bil}(\mathcal{B} \oplus E, \mathcal{B} \oplus E').$$

Moreover, the adjoint of w^{\odot} is given by the adjoint matrix $\Gamma^* = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma^* & \eta'^* \\ \eta & a^* \end{pmatrix}$.

Roots of Completely Positive Maps

3.1 Introduction

In many mathematical settings, the concept of a square-root or higher order roots is familiar, e.g. in the context of real numbers, in the context of matrices, in the context of real-valued functions, or measures. What all of these settings have in common is the underlying structure of a semigroup. To be slightly more formal, given a semigroup (A, \star) and given $a \in A$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can ask whether there exists some $x \in A$ such that $a = x \star x \star \cdots \star x$ (x appearing n times). Then we may call x an n-th root of a. If such a root exists for all n, we would call a infinitely divisible. We may also ask whether there is a one-parameter semigroup $(x_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ in A (namely $x_{s+t} = x_s \star x_t$, for all $s, t \in \mathbb{R}_+$), such that $x_{t_0} = a$ for some $t_0 > 0$. If this is the case then a may be called embeddable (into a continuous semigroup). Finally, if there is a topology on A, we may also look for asymptotic roots or asymptotic embeddability, that is, whether there is a one-parameter semigroup $(x_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$, with $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_t = a$.

Yuan [Yua76] deals with some of these questions in the full generality of topological semigroups, but without further structure it seems that one cannot say too much. We would like to add such structure and look at unital normal completely positive (UNCP) maps on von Neumann algebras. They arise in many ways in operator algebras and quantum physics and are natural objects to study (cf. [EK98, Stø13, Wol11]). Since 'composition' is an associative operation on UNCP maps, it makes sense to study the question of roots also in this setting, namely: given a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , a number $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and a UNCP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$, is there another UNCP map $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\phi = \psi^n$? It turns out that currently surprisingly little is known in general.

However, there are a number of connection points with results in related areas. For

example, we could specialize to commutative algebras. Then UNCP maps become stochastic maps of Markov chains in classical probability theory. A notable special case is that of (discrete or continuous) convolution semigroups of probability measures. Existence and uniqueness criteria for roots of stochastic maps have been studied earlier (See e.g. [HP01, HL11]). Suppose a given Markov chain on a countable state space converges to an invariant distribution (an absorbing state). Then typically such a convergence happens exponentially (i.e., asymptotically) over time. In discrete time there are some instances when the convergence takes place in finite time. An analysis of transition probability matrices of such Markov chains can be seen in [BG78] and [Sub76]. This does not work in continuous time if the semigroup generator is bounded, [GI88]. But the condition of boundedness of the generator might be too strong, and it is widely believed that under some very minimal continuity assumptions on the transition semigroup, convergence in finite time should be impossible. However, we are not aware of any proof. Surprisingly the non-commutative counterpart is more involved and convergence in finite continuous time to a given pure state is indeed possible as has been shown in [Bha12]; more precisely, for a given normal pure state φ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, identified with the completely positive map $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$, it is possible to construct a quantum Markov semigroup $(\tau_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+}$ (a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup of UNCP maps) on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ which coincides with ϕ at all times $t \geq 1$; in other words, for all states ψ , we get $\psi \circ \tau_t = \varphi$, for $t \ge 1$. Hence convergence in the continuous setting is possible in finite time, for all pure states on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. A trivial consequence is that ϕ has an *n*-th root, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It is natural to ask what happens in the case of $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ where φ is a mixed state. What can be said about *n*-th roots or semigroups of roots of ϕ ? And in light of our first observation, what can be said about n-th roots and semigroups of roots of more general completely positive maps ϕ , not only those arising from states?

If we drop the assumption of convergence to an invariant distribution, many things can happen. E.g. the question of continuous roots of a given stochastic map makes sense here and is known under the name of Elfving's embedding problem, dating back to 1937 [G37]: given a stochastic map S, when can we find a map L such that $e^L = S$ and all e^{tL} , for $t \ge 0$, are stochastic maps? A number of necessary and sufficient criteria have been found over the years, see e.g. [Dan10, Dav10, Kin62, VB18] for a non-exhaustive list. One particularly interesting condition is: if S is infinitely divisible, i.e., it has n-th roots for all n, then it is embeddable into a semigroup [Kin62]. The non-commutative analogue of this question is not so easy but we may restrict ourselves to finite dimensions to start with. Indeed it should be noted that completely positive (trace-preserving) maps in finite dimensions form the basis of quantum information theory (there termed "quantum channels" [Wol11]). The question of asymptotic behavior of sequences of compositions of quantum channels appears relevant in quantum information problems, e.g. in the context of entanglement breaking maps [RJP18], and the question of "divisibility" of quantum channels, which is essentially the meaning of a root, has also been studied in a few places. A number of divisibility criteria can be found in [Den88, WC08, WECC08, BC16] and some of the questions we pose here have also been discussed in [WC08,BC16] but with slightly different terminology and complementary answers. Most notably though, it has been shown that the complexity of the problems of deciding whether a given quantum channel (or stochastic map) has a square-root or whether it is embeddable into a continuous semigroup are NPhard [CEW12a, CEW12b, BC16]. This means that the set of such quantum channels has no simple expression other than explicit enumeration of its elements, and it is impossible to find a simply verifiable criterion for the existence of such roots as in the case of positive numbers or matrices, for example. However, this should not discourage from looking for interesting new relations or characterizations, at least for some special classes of UNCP maps, and that is what we would like to do here.

Our outline for this chapter is as follows. In Section 3.2, we start by describing the quantum analogue and generalization of the "exponential" convergence to a given invariant distribution: given a UNCP map, is there a continuous one-parameter semigroup that converges to ϕ as $t \to \infty$? We completely clarify this question. Such semigroups we will call asymptotic continuous roots. As a byproduct we obtain an affirmative answer to a question of Arveson (Problem 3 in [Arv03, p.387]) through very elementary methods.

We then move on to the question of proper roots in the finite-time setting, where Section 3.3 deals with the *n*-th root case while Section 3.4 deals with the continuous semigroup case. We are able to provide several existence and non-existence results under different additional assumptions, e.g. regarding the dimension or structure of the algebra or the range of the CP map. In particular, for the case of states on M_d or $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ or \mathbb{C}^d we have a complete characterization of existence of *n*-th roots. However, we are still far from a full understanding and have to leave some questions in the form of conjectures and open problems.

Our diversity of results together with the few related results in literature, e.g. [HL11, CEW12a, CEW12b, BC16], indicate that a "complete and elegant" characterization is unlikely to be found though. We are mainly concerned with the existence or non-existence of roots of UNCP maps. Whenever such roots exist, they are typically far from unique, and a subsequent natural question would be to find a useful characterization of all such roots for a given UNCP map. We deal with UNCP maps (in finite and infinite dimension) and to some minor extent with the commutative special case of stochastic maps though we do not look at the related question of nonnegative roots of (entry-wise) nonnegative matrices as can be found in other places, e.g. [Min88].

3.2 Asymptotic roots

In the present section we work in the C^* -algebraic setting because it appeared more natural to us; however, everything can be adjusted and translated in a straight-forward way to the von Neumann algebraic setting, cf. also Remark 3.2.1 below, which would also bring it more in line with the subsequent sections.

Definition 3.2.1. Given a unital C*-algebra \mathcal{A} and a bounded unital completely positive (UCP) map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$,

- (ad) an asymptotic discrete root of ϕ is a UCP map $\tau : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\tau^n \to \phi$ (pointwise in norm), as $n \to \infty$;
- (ac) an asymptotic continuous root of ϕ is a uniformly continuous one-parameter semigroup $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of UCP maps on \mathcal{A} such that $\tau_t \to \phi$ (pointwise in norm), as $t \to \infty$.

We then have:

Theorem 3.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C*-algebra and ϕ a UCP map of \mathcal{A} . Then the following three statements are equivalent:

- (i) ϕ is idempotent, i.e., $\phi^2 = \phi$;
- (ii) ϕ has an asymptotic continuous root;
- (iii) ϕ has an asymptotic discrete root.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii). Suppose $\phi^2 = \phi$. Then define the map

$$\mathcal{L} = \phi - \mathrm{id} = -(\mathrm{id} - \phi) : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A},$$

which is bounded and conditionally completely positive [EK98, Section 4.5] and therefore generates a uniformly continuous UCP semigroup τ (cf. Theorem 2.3.5). We find

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(x) = (-1)^{n} (\mathrm{id} - \phi)^{n}(x) = (-1)^{n} (\mathrm{id} - \phi)(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{A}_{p}$$

and therefore

$$\tau_t(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-t)^n (\mathrm{id} - \phi)^n}{n!} x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-t)^n}{n!} (\mathrm{id} - \phi)(x) + \phi(x) = e^{-t} (\mathrm{id} - \phi)(x) + \phi(x).$$

We see

$$\|\tau_t(x) - \phi(x)\| = e^{-t} \|x - \phi(x)\| \le e^{-t} (1 + \|\phi\|) \|x\|, \quad x \in \mathcal{A},$$
(3.2.1)

so $\tau_t \to \phi$ uniformly, as $t \to \infty$, so τ is an asymptotic continuous root for ϕ .

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii) is obvious.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i). Suppose now that there is an asymptotic discrete root τ of ϕ . Then the fact that $\tau^m \rightarrow \phi$ as $m \rightarrow \infty$ allows us to make the following manipulations:

$$\phi \circ \tau^n(x) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \tau^m \circ \tau^n(x) = \lim_{n+m \to \infty} \tau^{n+m}(x) = \phi(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{A},$$

and therefore

$$\phi^2(x) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \phi \circ \tau^m(x) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \phi(x) = \phi(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{A},$$

so $\phi^2 = \phi$.

Remark 3.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and ϕ a UCP map of \mathcal{A} .

- (i) An asymptotic root of ϕ is in general not unique.
- (ii) We did not specify the dimension of \mathcal{A} and the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} on which it acts. In fact, the statements are interesting in both finite and infinite dimensions.
- (iii) If ϕ has an asymptotic (discrete/continuous) root with respect to the strong operator topology then the above proof shows that ϕ also has an asymptotic (discrete/continuous) root with respect to the uniform topology.
- (iv) The definition, theorem and proof continue to hold true upon replacing C^* -algebras by von Neumann algebras, replacing UCP by UNCP, and replacing the uniform by the strong operator topology.

Remark 3.2.2. As a byproduct, the theorem answers Problem 3 in [Arv03, p.387] affirmatively, namely given an eigenvalue list $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$ with $0 \le \lambda_i \le 1$ and $\sum_i \lambda_i = 1$ as in [Arv03, Section 12.4], consider the density matrix

$$D = \operatorname{Diag}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}),$$

the normal state $\varphi = \operatorname{Tr}(D \cdot)$ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and the UNCP map

$$\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}).$$

Then the asymptotic root in the above proof is a UNCP semigroup with bounded generator that has φ as absorbing state: for every normal state ψ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and every $x \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, we get

 $|\psi \circ \tau_t(x) - \varphi(x)| = |\psi(\tau_t(x) - \varphi(x)\mathbf{1})| \le ||\tau_t(x) - \varphi(x)\mathbf{1}|| \le 2e^{-t}||x||$

where the last inequality follows from (3.2.1); thus,

$$\|\psi \circ \tau_t - \varphi\| \to 0, \quad t \to \infty,$$

meaning that φ is an absorbing state for $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$, which answers Problem 3 in [Arv03, p.387].

3.3 Proper discrete roots

In this and the following section, we work exclusively with von Neumann algebras.

3.3.1 General statements

Our fundamental definition is the following:

Definition 3.3.1. Given a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , a UNCP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ and an integer $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$, a proper n-th discrete root of ϕ is a UNCP map $\tau : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\tau^n = \phi$ and $\tau^k \neq \phi$ for all k < n. We call n the order of τ .

We need a notational convenience which turns out very important in many proofs and characterizations:

Definition 3.3.2. For every UNCP map ϕ on a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , we define the support projection as the smallest projection $p_{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\phi(p_{\phi}) = \mathbf{1}$. We write $p'_{\phi} := \mathbf{1} - p_{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}$.

The existence and the uniqueness of p_{ϕ} follow from [Dix81, Proposition I.4.3], roughly as follows: one first realizes that the set of $x \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\phi(x^*x) = 0$ forms a σ -weakly closed left ideal in \mathcal{A} . For such ideals there exists a maximal projection p such that the ideal consists of all $x \in \mathcal{A}$ with x = xp. This is exactly the projection $p = p'_{\phi} = \mathbf{1} - p_{\phi}$ from the preceding definition.

We use the following block matrix decomposition of $x \in \mathcal{A}$:

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12} \\ x_{21} & x_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{\phi} x p_{\phi} & p_{\phi} x p'_{\phi} \\ p'_{\phi} x p_{\phi} & p'_{\phi} x p'_{\phi} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.3.1)

A first useful fact is the following variation of [BM14, Theorem 4.2] about the relation with nilpotent NCP maps:

Lemma 3.3.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a von Neumann algebra, ϕ a UNCP map of \mathcal{A} and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose there exists a proper n-th discrete root τ of ϕ . Then

- (i) $\tau(p_{\phi}) \ge p_{\phi};$
- (ii) there also exists a nilpotent NCP map $\alpha : p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi} \to p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}$ of order at most n such that

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad x \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi};$$

(iii) for every $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{A}$ w.r.t. to the above block decomposition, there is $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & x' \\ y' & z' \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x' \\ y' & z' \end{pmatrix};$

(iv) $p_{\phi}\tau(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ restricts to a proper discrete root of $p_{\phi}\phi(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ on $p_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p_{\phi}$ of order at most n.

Proof. (i). We first notice that $\tau(p_{\phi}) \leq \mathbf{1}$ since τ was assumed to be UNCP. Therefore $0 \leq p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi})p_{\phi} \leq p_{\phi}$. Let us write $b = p_{\phi} - p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi})p_{\phi} \geq 0$. We would like to show that b = 0.

To start with,

$$\tau \circ \phi = \tau \circ \tau^n = \tau^{n+1} = \tau^n \circ \tau = \phi \circ \tau.$$

This implies

$$\phi(p_{\phi}) = \mathbf{1} = \tau(\mathbf{1}) = \tau(\phi(p_{\phi})) = \phi(\tau(p_{\phi})) = \phi(p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi})p_{\phi}),$$

thus

$$\phi(b) = \phi(p_{\phi} - p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi})p_{\phi}) = 0.$$

Let $e_b \in \mathcal{A}$ be the support projection of b, which can be defined through Borel functional calculus. Notice that $e_b \leq p_{\phi}$ because $b \leq p_{\phi}$, so $p_{\phi} - e_b$ is a subprojection of p_{ϕ} . Then it follows from the construction of the spectral theorem (in projection-valued measures form [RS72, Section 7.3]) that $\phi(b) = 0$ if and only if $\phi(e_b) = 0$. Since we have already proved $\phi(b) = 0$, we find

$$\phi(p_{\phi} - e_b) = \phi(p_{\phi}) - \phi(e_b) = \mathbf{1} - \mathbf{0} = \mathbf{1}.$$

Thus $p_{\phi} - e_b$ fulfills the properties of a support projection of ϕ and therefore must be equal to p_{ϕ} due to its uniqueness, so $e_b = 0$, hence b = 0.

(ii). Unitality of τ together with part (i) implies $\tau(p'_{\phi}) \leq p'_{\phi}$. Thus, $\tau(p'_{\phi} \cdot p'_{\phi})$ is a NCP map with image in $p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}$, hence giving rise to an NCP map

$$\alpha = \tau|_{p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi}} : p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi} \to p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi}.$$

Since τ is an *n*-th root of ϕ , we have

$$0 = \phi \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix} = \tau^n \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha^n(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad x \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi},$$

implying that α is nilpotent of order at most n.

(iii). Part (i) shows that $\tau(p'_{\phi}) \leq p'_{\phi}$. Using the block decomposition in (3.3.1), and Proposition 2.1.7 we can write

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix} \ge \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix} \ge \tau \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ x^* & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \ge \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^* \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

for every $x \in p_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}$ with $x^* x \leq p'_{\phi}$. This means that

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x' \\ 0 & z' \end{pmatrix}$$

with certain $x' \in p_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}, z' \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}$. Together with part (ii) and the self-adjointness of τ , we have, for any $x \in p_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}, y \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p_{\phi}, z \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}$:

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x' \\ y' & z' \end{pmatrix}$$

with certain $x' \in p_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}, y' \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p_{\phi}, z' \in p'_{\phi} \mathcal{A} p'_{\phi}.$

(iv). Since $p_{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}$ and $p_{\phi}\phi(p_{\phi})p_{\phi} = p_{\phi} = p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi})p_{\phi}$ by part (i), it is clear that both $p_{\phi}\phi(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ and $p_{\phi}\tau(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ restrict to UNCP maps on $p_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p_{\phi}$. Moreover, it follows from part (iii) that

$$p_{\phi}\tau(p_{\phi}\tau(\cdot)p_{\phi})p_{\phi} = p_{\phi}\tau^{2}(\cdot)p_{\phi},$$

and by induction, since $\tau^n = \phi$, we get that $p_{\phi}\tau(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ is a proper discrete root of $p_{\phi}\phi(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ of order at most n.

If ϕ is idempotent then there is generally more hope to say something about roots. A particularly nice case of idempotency is that where ϕ has rank one, namely $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ for some normal state φ on \mathcal{A} . In that case, we get the following easy correspondence:

Lemma 3.3.2. Given a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} , a normal state φ on \mathcal{A} and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$, which is UNCP. Then a map τ on \mathcal{A} is a proper n-th discrete root of ϕ if and only if $\tau = \phi + \alpha$ with α some normal nilpotent map of order n such that $\alpha \circ \phi = 0 = \phi \circ \alpha$ and $\phi + \alpha$ is CP.

Proof. (\Rightarrow) Consider $\alpha = \tau - \phi$. Clearly α is normal. Since $\phi \circ \tau = \tau \circ \phi = \tau^{n+1} = \phi$ we have, for all $k \ge 1$ $\alpha^k = \tau^k - \phi$. Now since $\tau^k \ne \phi$ for k < n and $\tau^n = \phi$ we have $\alpha^k \ne 0$ for k < nand $\alpha^n = 0$. i.e., α is nilpotent of order n. Also $\phi \circ \alpha = \phi \circ (\tau - \phi) = 0 = (\tau - \phi) \circ \phi = \alpha \circ \phi$. The converse part (\Leftarrow) is trivial.

When $d = \dim \mathcal{A} < \infty$, Lemma 3.3.2 shows that any UNCP map arising from a state on \mathcal{A} cannot have proper discrete roots of order higher than d. Indeed the following lemma shows that the order of such a root must be strictly less than d:

Proposition 3.3.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a finite dimensional von Neumann algebra of dimension d. Let τ be a UNCP map on \mathcal{A} . Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) $\tau^n = \phi = \varphi(\cdot) \mathbf{1}$ for some state φ on \mathcal{A} and for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- (ii) $\tau = \phi + \alpha$ for some nilpotent map α and $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ for some state φ with $\alpha \circ \phi = 0 = \phi \circ \alpha$.
- (iii) 0 is an eigenvalue of τ with algebraic multiplicity d-1.
- (iv) $\operatorname{Tr} \tau^k = 1$ for all $k \ge 1$. (Tr denotes the trace of a matrix)

In any of these equivalent cases, τ is a root of order at most d-1.

Proof. The idea of the proof is to treat ϕ and τ as linear maps on \mathbb{C}^d .

(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) follows from Lemma 3.3.2.

(i) \Rightarrow (iii). As $\tau^n = \phi$ has rank 1, 0 is an eigenvalue of τ^n of multiplicity d - 1, hence 0 is an eigenvalue of τ of multiplicity d - 1.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i). Looking at the Jordan normal form of τ it is clear that τ^n has rank 1 for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since τ^n is unital, there is a state φ on \mathcal{A} such that $\tau^n(x) = \varphi(x)\mathbf{1}$ for all $x \in \mathcal{A}$. (iii) \Rightarrow (iv) is obvious as $\tau(\mathbf{1}) = \mathbf{1}$.

(iv) \Rightarrow (iii). Let $\lambda_1 = 1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, ..., \lambda_m$ be the distinct eigenvalues of τ with algebraic multiplicity $a_1, a_2, ..., a_m$, respectively. From (iv) we have $(a_1-1)\lambda_1^k + a_2\lambda_2^k + \cdots + a_m\lambda_m^k = 0$ for all $k \geq 1$. Consider the Vandermonde matrix $V = (\lambda_i^{j-1})_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \in M_m$. Then as the λ_i 's are mutually distinct, we have det $V \neq 0$. Also note that $V((a_1-1)\lambda_1, a_2\lambda_2, ..., a_m\lambda_m)' = 0$. This implies that $((a_1-1)\lambda_1, a_2\lambda_2, ..., a_m\lambda_m) = 0$. Hence $a_1 = 1, m = 2$ and $\lambda_2 = 0$. That means 0 is an eigenvalue of τ with algebraic multiplicity d-1.

Now regarding our final statement, let τ be a proper *n*-th discrete root of $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ on \mathcal{A} . It is clear from (iii) \Leftrightarrow (i) that *n* is the maximal possible size of all Jordan blocks of τ . Hence $n \leq d-1$.

Remark 3.3.1. It is worth pointing out that a proper *n*-th discrete root τ for a state φ is "absorbing", namely $\psi \circ \tau^k = \varphi$, for all $k \ge n$ and all other states ψ . So in this case τ is also an asymptotic discrete root. The same is true for proper versus asymptotic continuous roots, as shall become clear from the following section, cf. Proposition 3.4.2. In general though, there is no clear relationship between proper and asymptotic roots.

Here are some examples regarding existence and non-existence of roots of UNCP maps in finite dimensions. We start with a map which has no nontrivial proper discrete roots at all.

Example 3.3.1. Let $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ be the UNCP map defined by $\phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$. We claim that ϕ has no proper discrete root. Suppose for contradiction there exists a proper *n*-th discrete root τ for ϕ , then $\tau^n = \phi$ and $\tau \circ \phi = \tau \circ \tau^n = \tau^{n+1} = \tau^n \circ \tau = \phi \circ \tau$. Let

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} \\ b_{21} & b_{22} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{11} & c_{12} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d_{11} & d_{12} \\ d_{21} & d_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $\tau \circ \phi = \phi \circ \tau$ and $\tau(\mathbf{1}) = \mathbf{1}$, we have $a_{12} = a_{21} = d_{12} = d_{21} = 0$ and $a_{11} = d_{22}$ and $d_{11} = a_{22} \neq 0$. It follows that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \tau^n \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11}^n + * & 0 \\ 0 & * \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \tau^n \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} * & 0 \\ 0 & d_{22}^n + * \end{pmatrix},$$

where all *'s are nonnegative terms depending on a_{11} and a_{22} only. In particular we see from these equalities that $a_{11} = d_{22} = 0$ and the only possible solution is

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

i.e., $\tau = \phi$. Thus ϕ has no proper *n*-th discrete root.

The following map has only a proper square root.

Example 3.3.2. Let $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ be the idempotent UNCP map defined by $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix}$. Then ϕ has a proper square root $\tau \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$ but ϕ has no other proper

discrete roots, which can be proved in the same style as Example 3.3.1.

Finally, a map with proper discrete roots of all orders:

Example 3.3.3. Let $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ be the UNCP map defined by

$$\phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{b}{2} \\ \frac{c}{2} & d \end{pmatrix}.$$

For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define

$$\tau_{1/n} : \mathcal{M}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_2, \quad \tau_{1/n} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{b}{2\frac{1}{n}} \\ \frac{c}{2\frac{1}{n}} & d \end{pmatrix}$$

Then $\tau_{1/n}$ is a UNCP map and $\tau_{1/n}^n = \phi$, so $\tau_{1/n}$ is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ .

Example 3.3.4. Let $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ be the UNCP map defined by

$$\phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d & \frac{c}{2} \\ \frac{b}{2} & a \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then ϕ has an *n*-th root for every odd $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ but not for even *n*. This is again proved in the same way as Example 3.3.1.

So we are led to the following problem:

Problem. Suppose $\mathcal{A} = M_d$ or $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and ϕ is a UNCP map on \mathcal{A} . Then for which $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is there a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ ?

Though we have got some illustrative examples here, a general characterization of existence and non-existence of proper discrete roots is expected to be complicated and does involve more details about the map ϕ , as the following subsection indicates. Similar facts have been pointed out in [BC16] and it matches the findings in [HL11, Section 4].

3.3.2 Proper discrete roots for states on M_d and $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$

We can say much more by specializing the results of the preceding subsection to the setting of normal states on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ or M_d , which we are going to do now.

Theorem 3.3.1. Suppose $d < \infty$ and φ is a state on M_d of support dimension $r = \dim(p_{\phi}\mathbb{C}^d)$. Then $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ has a proper n-th discrete root on M_d if and only if $1 < n \leq d + r^2 - r - 1$.

Proof. We split the proof into two steps, depending on r. First of all, we may choose and fix a basis $(e_k)_{k=1,\ldots,d}$ such that φ is in diagonal form, so $\varphi = \sum_{k=1}^d \lambda_k \langle e_k, \cdot e_k \rangle$ and $\lambda_1 \geq \ldots \geq \lambda_r > \lambda_{r+1} = 0 = \ldots = \lambda_d$.

(Step 1) Suppose r = d, so φ is faithful. We have to prove that ϕ has a proper *n*-th discrete root if and only if $1 < n \leq d^2 - 1$. First we see from Lemma 3.3.1 that if τ is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ then $n \leq d^2 - 1$. We write

$$\alpha = \tau - \phi,$$

which is nilpotent of order n with $\alpha(1) = 0 = \phi \circ \alpha$ owing to Lemma 3.3.2.

Let us introduce the scalar product

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\varphi} : (x, y) \in \mathcal{M}_d \times \mathcal{M}_d \mapsto \varphi(x^* y)$$

Then α restricts to a linear nilpotent map from $M_d \ominus \mathbb{C}\mathbf{1}$ into itself, and this subspace has dimension $d^2 - 1$. The maximal order of nilpotency is therefore $d^2 - 1$, so $n \leq d^2 - 1$.

Next we would like show that we can actually attain this maximal order. To this end, consider an orthonormal basis $(\mathbf{1}, Y_1, \ldots, Y_{d^2-1})$ of M_d with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\varphi}$ such that $Y_i^* = Y_i$ and $\phi(Y_i) = 0$, for all *i*, which can always be achieved. Then define

$$\alpha(\mathbf{1}) = \alpha(Y_{d^2-1}) = 0, \quad \alpha(Y_i) = \varepsilon Y_{i+1}, \quad i = 1, \dots, d^2 - 2$$

with suitable $\varepsilon > 0$ still to be determined, and

$$\tau = \phi + \alpha.$$

Then it is clear that α is nilpotent of order $d^2 - 1$ and so $\tau^{d^2 - 1} = \phi$ because $\phi \circ \alpha = \alpha \circ \phi$ but $\tau^k \neq \phi$ for $k < d^2 - 1$. Moreover, α is self-adjoint, namely $\alpha(x^*) = \alpha(x)^*$ for all $x \in M_d$, thus is τ . In order to show that τ is a proper discrete root, it remains to show that τ is CP. To this end, we compute the Choi matrix $C_{\tau} \in M_d(M_d)$ of τ , cf. [Stø13], and find

$$C_{\tau} = \begin{pmatrix} \tau(e_{11}) & \dots & \tau(e_{1d}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \tau(e_{d1}) & \dots & \tau(e_{dd}) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tau(e_{11}^*) & \dots & \tau(e_{d1}^*) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \tau(e_{1d}^*) & \dots & \tau(e_{dd}^*) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tau(e_{11})^* & \dots & \tau(e_{d1})^* \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \tau(e_{1d})^* & \dots & \tau(e_{dd})^* \end{pmatrix} = C_{\tau}^*$$

so C_{τ} is self-adjoint for all ε . We notice that C_{τ} depends continuously on ε and that for $\varepsilon = 0$, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \mathbf{1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & \lambda_d \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This matrix lies in the interior of the convex cone of positive matrices because all $\lambda_i > 0$. Choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we therefore find that C_{τ} must still be inside this cone. By Choi's theorem, cf. [Stø13], this implies that τ is CP, hence it is a proper discrete root of order $d^2 - 1$.

In order to get a proper discrete root of order $n < d^2 - 1$, all we have to do is change the map α accordingly, e.g

$$\alpha(\mathbf{1}) = \alpha(Y_n) = \ldots = \alpha(Y_{d^2-1}) = 0, \quad \alpha(Y_i) = \varepsilon Y_{i+1}, \quad i = 1, \ldots, n-1,$$

and proceed in the same way as above.

(Step 2) Next we examine the case r < d and write M_r for $p_{\phi} M_d p_{\phi}$. Suppose τ is a root of ϕ . Then by Lemma 3.3.1(iv),

$$\tau' = p_{\phi} \tau(\cdot) p_{\phi} : \mathbf{M}_r \to \mathbf{M}_r$$

defines a proper discrete root of the faithful state $\varphi|_{M_r}$ on M_r , hence its maximal order is $r^2 - 1$ according to (Step 1) above. As shown in Lemma 3.3.1(iii), we have the following action in block decomposition:

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} w & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tau'(w) & * \\ * & * \end{pmatrix},$$

in particular

$$\tau^{r^2-1}\begin{pmatrix} w & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi|_{\mathcal{M}_r}(w)\mathbf{1} & * \\ * & * \end{pmatrix}.$$

We therefore have to find the minimal number n' such that

$$\tau^{n'} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

for all x, y, z, and we claim that it is at most d - r.

To this end, let us write

$$\tau = \sum_{i=1}^{N} L_i^*(\cdot) L_i, \quad L_i = \begin{pmatrix} A_i & B_i \\ C_i & D_i \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since

$$0 = \varphi \circ \tau \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \varphi \begin{pmatrix} C_i^* C_i & C_i^* D_i \\ D_i^* C_i & D_i^* D_i \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \varphi |_{\mathbf{M}_r} (C_i^* C_i)$$

and $\varphi|_{\mathbf{M}_r}$ is faithful, we obtain $C_i = 0$ for all *i*. Moreover, it follows from Lemma 3.3.1 that $\tau|_{p'_{\phi} \mathbf{M}_d p'_{\phi}}$ is nilpotent and CP, and it follows from [BM14, Corollary 2.5] that the order of nilpotency is at most dim $(p'_{\phi}\mathcal{H}) = d - r =: r'$. Therefore

$$0 = \tau^{r'} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i_1, \dots, i_{r'}=1}^N \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & D_{i_{r'}}^* \cdots D_{i_1}^* D_{i_1} \cdots D_{i_{r'}} \end{pmatrix},$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$D_{i_1} \cdots D_{i_{r'}} = 0, \tag{3.3.3}$$

for all $i_1, \ldots, i_{r'} \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. Moreover, unitality of τ' implies that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} A_i^* A_i = \mathbf{1}.$$
(3.3.4)

We have
$$L_{i_1} \cdots L_{i_{k-1}} L_{i_k} = \begin{pmatrix} A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_k} & M_{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_k} \\ 0 & D_{i_1} D_{i_2} \cdots D_{i_k} \end{pmatrix}$$
 for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where
 $M_{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_k} = A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{k-1}} B_{i_k} + A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{k-2}} B_{i_{k-1}} D_{i_k} + \dots + A_{i_1} B_{i_2} D_{i_3} \cdots D_{i_k} + B_{i_1} D_{i_2} \cdots D_{i_k}.$

Now it follows from (3.3.3) and (3.3.4) that

$$\tau^{r'}\begin{pmatrix}\mathbf{1} & x\\ y & z\end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{r'}=1}^N \begin{pmatrix} A_{i_{r'}}^* \cdots A_{i_1}^* A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{r'}} & A_{i_{r'}}^* \cdots A_{i_1}^* M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}}\\ M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}}^* A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{r'}} & M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}}^* M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Furthermore,

$$\sum_{i_{0},i_{1},\dots,i_{r'}=1}^{N} M_{i_{0},i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}}^{*} M_{i_{0},i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}} = \sum_{i_{0},i_{1},\dots,i_{r'}=1}^{N} M_{i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}}^{*} A_{i_{0}}^{*} A_{i_{0}} M_{i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}}$$
$$= \sum_{i_{1},\dots,i_{r'}=1}^{N} M_{i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}}^{*} M_{i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{r'}}.$$

Similarly

$$\sum_{i_0,i_1,\dots,i_{r'}=1}^N M^*_{i_0,i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}} A_{i_0} A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{r'}} = \sum_{i_0,i_1,\dots,i_{r'}=1}^N M^*_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{r'}} A^*_{i_0} A_{i_0} A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{r'}} A_{i$$

By induction we find that

$$\tau^{r'+k} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \tau^{r'} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

and together with (3.3.2) we see that n' can be at most r', so the order of τ on M_d can be at most $r^2 - 1 + r' = r^2 - 1 + d - r$.

It remains to show that all orders $n = 2, ..., r^2 - 1 + d - r$ can be attained. First of all, following the ideas in (Step 1) and given a root of order $n = 1, ..., r^2 - 1$ on M_r , there is l = 1, ..., r and $w \in M_r$ such that

$$\left(\sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n-2}=1}^N A_{i_{n-2}}^* \cdots A_{i_1}^* w A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{n-2}}\right)_{ll} \neq \left(\sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n-1}=1}^N A_{i_{n-1}}^* \cdots A_{i_1}^* w A_{i_1} \cdots A_{i_{n-1}}\right)_{ll}.$$

Then setting all $D_i = 0$ and $B_i = e_{l,i}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r'$, we can obtain roots of orders $n+1=2,\ldots,r^2$ on M_d . In order to get order $n=r^2+n'$, we keep $B_i = e_{l,i}$ for $i=1,\ldots,r'$ and choose for D_1 any contractive nilpotent matrix of order n'+1 and all other $D_i = 0$. This way we achieve

$$\sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n'+1}=1}^N M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'+1}}^* M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'+1}} = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n'}=1}^N M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'}}^* M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'}}$$

$$\neq \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n'-1}=1}^N M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'-1}}^* M_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_{n'-1}},$$

so in total we have a root τ of order $r^2 + n'$, completing the proof of the theorem.

We can adapt the construction in the preceding proof to obtain the corresponding statement in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as follows:

Theorem 3.3.2. Suppose \mathcal{H} is infinite-dimensional separable and φ is a normal state on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Then $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$ has a proper n-th discrete root on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Let $r = \dim(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H})$ and $r' = \dim(p'_{\phi}\mathcal{H})$. We distinguish two cases.

Case $r' = \infty$. Here we choose α as a contractive nilpotent CP map of order n on $B(p'_{\phi}\mathcal{H})$. We define

$$\tau \begin{pmatrix} w & x \\ y & z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi|_{B(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H})}(w)\mathbf{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha(z) + \varphi|_{B(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H})}(w)(\mathbf{1} - \alpha(\mathbf{1})) \end{pmatrix}$$

Then τ is a proper *n*-th discrete root.

Case $r' < \infty$. Then $r = \infty$ and we may assume as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 that the density matrix is in diagonal form with respect to a fixed orthonormal basis (e_i) of \mathcal{H} and with entries $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \ldots$. Consider the projection p_n onto $\operatorname{span}\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$. Then

$$\varphi_n = \frac{1}{\varphi(p_n)} \varphi|_{B(p_n \mathcal{H})}$$

defines a faithful state on $B(p_n\mathcal{H})$. We may then proceed as in (Step 1) of the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 to find a nilpotent map $\alpha_n : B(p_n\mathcal{H}) \to B(p_n\mathcal{H})$ of order n such that $\alpha_n(p_n) = 0 = \varphi_n \circ \alpha_n$. We rescale α_n by $\varphi(p_n)$ and extend it trivially to $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \ominus B(p_n\mathcal{H})$ and denote the resulting normal nilpotent map by α . Then

$$\tau = \phi + \alpha$$

is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ .

3.3.3 Classical probability theory – proper discrete roots of states on finite-dimensional commutative von Neumann algebras

We would like to briefly specialize our general findings to the case of finite classical probability spaces because also here we get some interesting results. Note that a map $\tau : \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}^d$ is UCP if and only if τ is a stochastic matrix¹ and a map $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ is a state if and

¹Look at Subsection 2.1.1 for the details about stochastic matrices.

only if there is a probability vector $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_d)' \in \mathbb{C}^d$ such that $\varphi(x) = \langle p, x \rangle$, for all $x \in \mathbb{C}^d$.

In this subsection, we will use the following special notation. For $x \in \mathbb{C}^n, y \in \mathbb{C}^m$ we define $|x\rangle\langle y| = xy^* \in M_{n,m}$ (See the notations defined in Subsection 2.1.3). For any $x = (x_1, ..., x_d)' \in \mathbb{C}^d$ and m < d, we write $x^{(m)} = (x_1, ..., x_m)' \in \mathbb{C}^m$. We write **1** for the unit matrix but also for the unit vector $(1, ..., 1)' \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Sometimes we will add subscripts or superscripts to 0 and **1** in order to indicate the space on which it is acting but we try to avoid this when it is obvious from the context.

As according to Lemma 3.3.1, a state on \mathbb{C}^d can have proper discrete roots only up to order d-1, the states on \mathbb{C} and \mathbb{C}^2 will not have any proper discrete roots. The following example is a construction of proper *n*-th discrete roots of states on \mathbb{C}^d , for all $2 \leq n \leq d-1$ and d > 2.

Example 3.3.5. Let d > 2 and φ be a state on \mathbb{C}^d given by a probability vector $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_d)'$. Let $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$. Then ϕ is the stochastic matrix $\phi = |\mathbf{1}\rangle\langle p|$.

First let us consider the case when φ is faithful, i.e., $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_d)'$ with $p_i > 0$, for all *i*. Let $2 \le n \le d - 1$. Note that $\phi = |\mathbf{1}\rangle\langle p|$ is diagonalizable and of rank one, so we can write $\phi = S \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} S^{-1}$, with a suitable invertible matrix *S*. Consider a nilpotent matrix $\alpha_0 \in M_{d-1}$ of order *n* and let $\alpha = \varepsilon S \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha_0 \end{pmatrix} S^{-1}$. If $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough then all entries of $\phi + \alpha$ are non-negative because φ was assumed to be faithful. By construction we have got $\phi \circ \alpha = 0 = \alpha \circ \phi$ and hence by Lemma 3.3.2, $\tau = \phi + \alpha$ is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ .

Now let us assume that φ is not faithful. Without loss of generality we can assume that $p = (p_1, p_2, ..., p_r, 0, ..., 0)', p_i > 0$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., r < d. Let us consider two separate cases, namely $r \leq 2$ and 2 < r < d, because our construction of *n*-th roots work differently in these two cases.

Case $r \leq 2$. Given $r \leq n \leq d-1$, let

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \left| \mathbf{1}^{(r)} \middle| p^{(r)} \right| & 0 \\ \left| y(d-n) \middle| e_1^{(r)} \right| & S_n \end{pmatrix}$$

where $y(d-n) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}^{(d-n)} \\ 0^{(n-r)} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{d-r}, S_n \in \mathcal{M}_{d-r}$ is the operator defined by $S_n(e_i^{(d-r)}) = 0$

for i = d - r, 1, 2, ..., d - n - 1 and $S_n(e_i^{(d-r)}) = e_{i+1}^{(d-r)}$ for i = d - n, d - n + 1, ..., d - r - 1and $e_i^{(d-r)}$ is the *i*-th canonical basis vector in \mathbb{C}^{d-r} . Then τ is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ . (Note that when n = r, we have $y(d - n) = \mathbf{1}^{(d-r)}$ and $S_n = 0$.)

Case r > 2. Given $2 \le n \le d-1$, decompose $n = n_1 + n_2$, with suitable $1 \le n_1 \le r-1$ and $1 \le n_2 \le d-r$. Let $\tau_{[r,n_1]}$ be an n_1 -th root of $|\mathbf{1}^{(r)} \rangle \langle p^{(r)}|$ as in the case of faithful φ above. Then we define

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{[r,n_1]} & 0\\ \left| y(d-n_2) \right\rangle \! \left\langle e_j^{(r)} \right| & S_{n_2} \end{pmatrix}$$

where $y(d - n_2)$ and S_{n_2} are as in the previous case and j is chosen as follows: if $n_1 \ge 2$ then choose j such that the j-th row of $\tau_{[r,n_1]}^{n_1-1}$ is different from $p^{(r)'}$, while for $n_1 = 1$ we choose j = 1. Then τ is a proper n-th discrete root of ϕ .

We summarize the result of the preceding example as follows:

Theorem 3.3.3. A state φ on \mathbb{C}^d has a proper n-th discrete root if and only if $2 \leq n \leq d-1$. Or in more probabilistic terms: given a probability distribution p on a probability space with d elements, there is a stochastic map S that leaves p invariant and such that $S^n = |\mathbf{1}\rangle\langle p|$ and $S^k \neq |\mathbf{1}\rangle\langle p|$ for k < n if and only if $2 \leq n \leq d-1$.

Example 3.3.6. Let $\tau = \frac{1}{24} \begin{pmatrix} 5 & 5 & 14 \\ 11 & 11 & 2 \\ 8 & 8 & 8 \end{pmatrix}$. Then τ is a stochastic matrix such that

$$\tau^{k} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/3 & 1/3 & 1/3 \\ 1/3 & 1/3 & 1/3 \\ 1/3 & 1/3 & 1/3 \end{pmatrix} \text{ for all } k \ge 2.$$

In Theorem 3.3.3, φ may be regarded as a stochastic matrix of rank 1. For stochastic matrices of rank > 1, we have no complete and simple characterization though some partial characterizations with necessary or sufficient conditions are known, e.g. in [HL11]. The case of rank d is closely related to Elfving's embedding problem [Dan10, G37].

3.4 Proper continuous roots

We continue to use the notation from Section 3.3.

Definition 3.4.1. Given a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} and a UNCP map $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$, a proper continuous root of ϕ is a strongly-continuous one-parameter semigroup $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of UNCP maps on \mathcal{A} such that $\tau_1 = \phi$ and $\tau_t \neq \phi$, for all 0 < t < 1.

In this definition one might also consider seemingly more general semigroups with $\tau_{t_0} = \phi$ for some $t_0 > 0$. However, since we can always reduce the situation to the case $t_0 = 1$ by rescaling, we decided to keep things simple and consider only the case $t_0 = 1$. For more information on strongly continuous one-parameter semigroups in general, we refer the reader to [Arv03, Dav80].

Proposition 3.4.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a finite-dimensional von Neumann algebra and $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ a UNCP map. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) ϕ has a proper continuous root;
- (ii) ϕ is bijective and has a proper n-th discrete root, for every $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii). If $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a proper continuous root, then it must be a uniformly continuous UNCP semigroup, hence of the form $\tau_t = e^{t\mathcal{L}}$ with some (bounded) conditionally completely positive generator \mathcal{L} , cf. [EK98, Section 4.5], so $e^{-\mathcal{L}}$ is an inverse of ϕ (in the sense of linear maps on \mathcal{A}) and $\tau_{1/n}$ is a proper *n*-th discrete root of ϕ , for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). If ϕ has a proper *n*-th discrete root for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (this is called infinitely divisible in [Den88]) then according to [Den88, Corollary 4] there are a conditional expectation $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ and a conditionally completely positive generator \mathcal{L} such that $\phi = e^{\mathcal{L}} E$. Since ϕ is invertible, so is E and hence E must be the identity map because \mathcal{A} is finite-dimensional. Thus we may choose $\tau_t = e^{t\mathcal{L}}$, for all $t \geq 0$, to obtain a proper continuous root of ϕ .

Remark 3.4.1. In the classical case, namely if \mathcal{A} is commutative, ϕ is automatically bijective if it has a proper *n*-th discrete root for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This is one of the characterizations of Markovianity in the context of Elfving's embedding problem due to Kingman [Kin62, Proposition 7]. On the other hand, in the non-commutative case, bijectivity is not automatic. E.g. consider

$$\phi : \mathcal{M}_3 \to \mathcal{M}_3, \quad \phi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & x_{22} & x_{23} \\ 0 & x_{32} & x_{33} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This has proper n-th roots for all n but is clearly not bijective. Similarly, we see that the map

$$\phi : \mathbf{M}_2 \to \mathbf{M}_2, \quad \phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d & c/2 \\ b/2 & a \end{pmatrix}$$

from Example 3.3.4 is bijective but has proper *n*-th roots only for odd $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$, hence it has no proper continuous root.

The following example provides a bijective UNCP map in finite dimensions where the conditions in the proposition are verified. In fact, it is a simple "interpolation" of the construction in Example 3.3.3:

Example 3.4.1. Let $\phi : M_2 \to M_2$ be the UNCP map defined by

$$\phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{b}{2} \\ \frac{c}{2} & d \end{pmatrix}.$$

For every $t \in [0, \infty)$, define

$$\tau_t : \mathcal{M}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_2, \quad \tau_t \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{b}{2^t} \\ \frac{c}{2^t} & d \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a proper continuous root of ϕ , namely $\tau_1 = \phi$ and the semigroup property and continuity are a straight-forward verification.

Embedding this example into a higher (possibly infinite) dimensional space, we can get continuous roots for certain UNCP maps in higher dimensions as well. A more complete criterion as to when such continuous roots exist seems out of reach. Notice that this might be even more difficult than Problem 3.3.1.

Yet if ϕ arises from a state, we can say a little bit more:

Proposition 3.4.2. Let \mathcal{A} be a von Neumann algebra, φ a state on \mathcal{A} and $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$. If $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a proper continuous root of ϕ then

- (i) $\varphi \circ \tau_t = \varphi$, for every $t \ge 0$, i.e., φ is τ -invariant;
- (ii) $\psi \circ \tau_t = \phi$, for every $t \ge 1$ and every UNCP map ψ , i.e., all UNCP maps converge to ϕ in finite time: $\tau_t = \phi$, for all $t \ge 1$.

Proof. (i) Since $\phi = \tau_1$, for all $t \ge 1$, we get from the linearity and the semigroup properties of τ :

$$\mathbf{1}\varphi \circ \tau_t(x) = \tau_1 \circ \tau_t(x) = \tau_t \circ \tau_1(x) = \tau_t \circ \tau_1(x) = \tau_t(\varphi(x)\mathbf{1}) = \varphi(x)\tau_t(\mathbf{1}) = \varphi(x)\mathbf{1}, \quad x \in \mathcal{A}.$$

(ii) For all $t \ge 1$ and $x \in \mathcal{A}$, we have, using the unitality and the semigroup property of τ :

$$\psi \circ \tau_t(x) = \psi \circ \tau_{t-1}(\tau_1(x)) = \psi \circ \tau_{t-1}(\varphi(x)\mathbf{1}) = \varphi(x)\psi \circ \tau_{t-1}(\mathbf{1}) = \varphi(x)\psi(\mathbf{1}) = \phi(x).$$

The property that $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ stabilizes after time t = 1 is very particular to states, cf. Example 3.4.1 for a counter-example. In the special case where ϕ arises from a state and moreover $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, we can provide a partial classification of proper continuous roots:

Theorem 3.4.1. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with \mathcal{H} infinite-dimensional, φ a normal state on \mathcal{A} and $\phi = \varphi(\cdot)\mathbf{1}$.

- (i) If dim $(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H}) = 1$, i.e., φ is a pure state, then ϕ has a proper continuous root.
- (ii) If $1 < \dim(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, i.e., φ is a finite convex combination of (at least two) pure states, then ϕ has no proper continuous root.
- (iii) If dim $(p_{\phi}\mathcal{H}) = \infty$, i.e., φ is an infinite convex combination of pure states, and moreover $0 < \dim(p'_{\phi}\mathcal{H}) < \infty$ then ϕ has no proper continuous root.

Proof. (i). This is taken from [Bha12, Ex.1.3]. Since φ is pure, we can write $\varphi = \langle \xi, \cdot \xi \rangle$, where ξ is a suitable vector in \mathcal{H} . We decompose $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}\xi \oplus L^2[0, 1]$, so p_{ϕ} is the projection onto the first, p'_{ϕ} the projection onto the second component. Let $(S_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be the standard nilpotent right-shift semigroup on $L^2[0, 1]$ defined as follows: for $f \in L^2[0, 1]$, $t \in [0, \infty)$ and $s \in [0, 1]$, set

$$S_t(f)(s) = \begin{cases} f(s-t) : s-t \in [0,1] \\ 0 : \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.4.1)

Then with respect to the decomposition $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}\xi \oplus L^2[0,1]$, define

$$\tau_t : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}), \quad \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12} \\ x_{21} & x_{22} \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12}S_t^* \\ S_t x_{21} & S_t x_{22}S_t^* + x_{11}(\mathbf{1} - S_t S_t^*) \end{pmatrix}$$

This can be written as

$$\tau_t \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12} \\ x_{21} & x_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \tau_t(x) = (1 \oplus S_t)x(1 \oplus S_t)^* + \varphi(x) \big(\mathbf{1} - (1 \oplus S_t)(1 \oplus S_t)^* \big),$$

and it is straight-forward to verify that $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup, every τ_t is UNCP and $\tau_1(x) = \varphi(x)\mathbf{1} = \phi(x)$. Thus $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ forms a proper continuous root of ϕ .

(ii) Suppose a proper continuous root $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of ϕ exists. As in Lemma 3.3.1(4) we see that $(p_{\phi}\tau_t(\cdot)p_{\phi})_{t\geq 0}$ restricts to a continuous root of $p_{\phi}\phi(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ on $p_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p_{\phi}$. However, we know from Proposition 3.4.1 that such a continuous root cannot exist because $p_{\phi}\phi(\cdot)p_{\phi}$ is not bijective on $p_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p_{\phi}$, so we reach a contradiction. Thus ϕ cannot have a proper continuous root. (iii) Suppose for contradiction a proper continuous root $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of ϕ exists. Since $\tau_t(p'_{\phi}) \leq p'_{\phi}$ according to Lemma 3.3.1(i), we see that $(\tau_t|_{p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi}})_{t\geq 0}$ forms an NCP semigroup, and according to Lemma 3.3.1(ii), it is nilpotent with $\tau_1|_{p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi}} = 0$. If $0 < \dim(p'_{\phi}) < \infty$, a CP semigroup must be of the form $(e^{t\mathcal{L}})_{t\geq 0}$ with bounded conditionally CP map \mathcal{L} . Then $e^{-\mathcal{L}}$ is the inverse of $e^{\mathcal{L}}$ (as a linear map), so we get $0 = \tau_1|_{p'_{\phi}\mathcal{A}p'_{\phi}} = e^{\mathcal{L}} \neq 0$, which is a contradiction, so ϕ cannot have a proper continuous root.

Problem. In the setting of Theorem 3.4.1, does ϕ have a proper continuous root in the following two missing cases

- (iv) dim $p_{\phi} = \infty$ with dim $p'_{\phi} = 0$;
- (v) dim $p_{\phi} = \infty$ with dim $p'_{\phi} = \infty$?

We wish to point out that the two cases are equivalent, so it suffices to study (iv).

Remark 3.4.2. In [Bha12], the roots in case (i) of Theorem 3.4.1 have been completely classified in terms of E_0 -semigroups in standard form, cf. [Arv03] and [Pow99, Definition 2.12].

Remark 3.4.3. A similar construction can be used in order to get a proper continuous root $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of a pure state on an uncountable classical probability space C([0, 1]), namely consider

$$T_t: C([0,1]) \to C([0,1]), \quad T_t f(s) = \begin{cases} f(s-t): s-t \ge 0\\ f(0) : \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

A pure state on C([0, 1]) corresponds to an evaluation functional ev_x , with some $x \in [0, 1]$. Then $ev_x \circ T_t$ equals a pure state at all times $t \in [0, 1]$, in particular $ev_x \circ T_1 = ev_0$. In contrast, in the non-commutative case of $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as in Theorem 3.4.1(i) suppose $\psi \neq \varphi$ is another pure state. Then $\psi \circ \tau_t$ equals the pure states ψ at time t = 0 and φ at t = 1but in between it is a convex combination of two pure states depending on t. Moreover, for countable classical states space, we expect that no proper continuous root exists at all. This indicates a stark difference between the commutative and the non-commutative setting.



Structure of Block Quantum Dynamical Semigroups and their Product Systems

4.1 Introduction

It is well-known that a block matrix $\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B^* & D \end{pmatrix}$ of operators on a direct sum of Hilbert spaces $(\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{K})$ is positive if and only if A, D are positive and there exists a contraction $K: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ such that $B = A^{\frac{1}{2}}KD^{\frac{1}{2}}$. This says that the positivity of a block matrix is determined up to a contraction by the positive diagonals. We want to look at the structure of block completely positive (CP) maps, that is, completely positive maps which send 2×2 block operators as above to 2×2 block operators. Such maps have already appeared in many different contexts. For example, Paulsen uses the block CP maps in [Pau84] to prove that every completely polynomially bounded operator is similar to a contraction. The structure of completely bounded (CB) maps are understood using the 2×2 block CP maps (See [Pau84, PS85, Sue85], [Pau02, Chapter 8]). The usual way to study the structure of CP maps into $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is via Stinespring dilation theorem [Sti55] (See Theorem 2.1.8). If $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix} : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})) \text{ is a block CP map, then the diagonals } \phi_i, i = 1, 2 \text{ are}$ also CP maps on \mathcal{A} . Also the Stinespring representation of Φ gives us natural Stinespring representations for ϕ_i by the appropriate compressions. In [PS85, Corollary 2.7], Paulsen and Suen proved that: if $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi \end{pmatrix}$: $M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ is CP and if ϕ has the minimal Stinespring representation (\mathcal{K}, π, V) then there exists a contraction $T \in \pi(\mathcal{A})'$ such that $\psi(\cdot) = V^*\pi(\cdot)TV$. While studying units of E_0 -semigroups of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ Powers was led into considering block CP semigroups (See [Pow03] and [BLS08], [Ske10]). In [BM10], Bhat and Mukherjee proved a structure theorem for block quantum Markov semigroups on

 $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{K})$. These results show the importance of studying block CP maps. In this chapter, our interest is to study the structure of one-parameter semigroups of block CP maps on general von Neumann algebras.

In [Bha96] Bhat proved that any QMS on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ admits a unique E_0 -dilation, and in [Bha99], extended the result to QMS to unital C^* -subalgebras of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Later in [BS00] Bhat and Skeide constructed the E_0 -dilation for arbitrary quantum Markov semigroups (QMS) on abstract unital C^* -algebras, using the technology of Hilbert C^* -modules. Here one sees for the first time subproduct systems and product systems of Hilbert C^* -modules. Muhly and Solel [MS07] took a dual approach to achieve this, where they have called these Hilbert C^* -modules as C^* -correspondences. Subproduct systems and inclusion systems are synonyms. The word 'subproduct systems' seems to be better established now. Since we are mostly following the ideas and notations of [BM10], we will continue to call these objects as inclusion systems.

Here is an outline for this chapter. We prove in Theorem 4.2.1 that if \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -algebra, \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra and $\Phi: M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ is a block CP map then the CB map in the off diagonal corner can be determined by the GNS-representations of the diagonal CP maps up to an adjointable bilinear contraction. Also we give an example to indicate that the von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} in Theorem 4.2.1 can not be replaced by arbitrary C^* -algebras. We show in Theorem 4.3.1, that if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra and if we have a block quantum dynamical semigroup on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ then the CB semigroup sitting in the off-diagonal corner can be described by a unique morphism between the inclusion systems associated to the CP semigroups in the diagonals. We prove in Theorem 4.4.1 that if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, Then any morphism between the product systems of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules can be lifted as a morphism between the E_0 -dilation of a block QMS constructed by Bhat and Skeide in [BS00] is again a semigroup of block maps.

4.2 Block CP maps

Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra. Let $p \in \mathcal{A}$ be a projection. Set p' = 1 - p. Then for every $x \in \mathcal{A}$ we have the following block decomposition:

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} pxp & pxp' \\ p'xp & p'xp' \end{pmatrix} \in \begin{pmatrix} p\mathcal{A}p & p\mathcal{A}p' \\ p'\mathcal{A}p & p'\mathcal{A}p' \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.2.1)

Definition 4.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras. Let $p \in \mathcal{A}$ and $q \in \mathcal{B}$ be projections. We say that a map $\Phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a *block map* (with respect to p and q) if Φ respects the above block decomposition. i.e., for all $x \in \mathcal{A}$ we have

$$\Phi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi(pxp) & \Phi(pxp') \\ \Phi(p'xp) & \Phi(p'xp') \end{pmatrix} \in \begin{pmatrix} q\mathcal{B}q & q\mathcal{B}q' \\ q'\mathcal{B}q & q'\mathcal{B}q' \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.2.2)

If $\Phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a block map, we get the following four maps: $\phi_{11} : p\mathcal{A}p \to q\mathcal{B}q$, $\phi_{12} : p\mathcal{A}p' \to q\mathcal{B}q', \phi_{21} : p'\mathcal{A}p \to q'\mathcal{B}q$, and $\phi_{22} : p'\mathcal{A}p' \to q'\mathcal{B}q'$. So we write Φ as

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} \\ \phi_{21} & \phi_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$

Lemma 4.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras. For i = 1, 2, let $\phi_i : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map with a GNS-representation (E_i, x_i) . Suppose $T : E_2 \to E_1$ is an adjointable bilinear contraction and $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is given by $\psi(a) = \langle x_1, Tax_2 \rangle$. Then the block map $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix} : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ is CP.

Proof. Set $y = Tx_2 \in E_1$. Then

$$\Phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \langle x_1, ax_1 \rangle & \langle x_1, by \rangle \\ \langle y, cx_1 \rangle & \langle y, dy \rangle \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \langle x_2, d(\mathrm{id}_{E_2} - T^*T)x_2 \rangle \end{pmatrix}.$$
Clearly $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \langle x_1, ax_1 \rangle & \langle x_1, by \rangle \\ \langle y, cx_1 \rangle & \langle y, dy \rangle \end{pmatrix}$ is CP. Since *T* is an adjointable bilinear contraction, $(\mathrm{id}_{E_2} - T^*T)$ is bilinear and positive. Hence $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \langle x_2, d(\mathrm{id}_{E_2} - T^*T)x_2 \rangle \end{pmatrix}$

is CP. Therefore Φ is CP.

Let F be a Hilbert $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. Define a right \mathcal{B} -module action and a \mathcal{B} -valued semi-inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Sigma}$ on F by

$$xb := x \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\langle x, y \rangle_{\Sigma} := \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle x, y \rangle_{i,j}$ for $x, y \in F, b \in \mathcal{B}$.

where $\langle x, y \rangle_{i,j}$ denotes the $(i, j)^{\text{th}}$ entry of $\langle x, y \rangle \in M_2(\mathcal{B})$.

Let $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ denote the quotient space F/N where $N = \{x : \langle x, x \rangle_{\Sigma} = 0\}$. (We denote the coset x + N of $x \in F$ by $[x]_F$ or just by [x]). Then $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a pre-Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module with right \mathcal{B} -action and inner product given by

$$[x]b = \begin{bmatrix} x \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \langle [x], [y] \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle_{\Sigma} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle x, y \rangle_{i,j} \text{ for } x, y \in F, b \in \mathcal{B}.$$
(4.2.3)

Proposition 4.2.1. If F is a Hilbert (von Neumann) $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a Hilbert (von Neumann) \mathcal{B} -module.

Proof. Let F be a Hilbert $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. For each $x \in F$, we have $[x] = \begin{bmatrix} x \begin{pmatrix} 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1/2 & 1/2 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$ and

$$\|[x]\| = \left\|\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle x, x \rangle_{i,j}\right\|^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left\|x \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}\right\|.$$
(4.2.4)

Consider a Cauchy sequence $([x_n])_{n\geq 1}$ in $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$. Set $y_n = x_n \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in F$. Then by (4.2.4),

 $(y_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a Cauchy sequence in F. Let $y = \lim_{n\to\infty} y_n$ in F. Then $y = y \begin{pmatrix} 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1/2 & 1/2 \end{pmatrix}$. Take $x = \frac{y}{2}$. Then, again by using (4.2.4), we see that $([x_n])_{n\geq 1}$ converges to [x] in $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$. Thus $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is complete.

Now assume that F is von Neumann $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. Let $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$. So $F^{(\mathcal{B})} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F^{(\mathcal{B})} \odot \mathcal{G})$ and $F \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^2, F \odot \mathcal{G}^2)$ where $\mathcal{G}^2 = \mathcal{G} \oplus \mathcal{G}$. We have for $x \in F, g_1, g_2 \in \mathcal{G}$,

$$\|[x] \odot (g_1 + g_2)\| = \left\langle g_1 + g_2, \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \langle x, x \rangle_{i,j} (g_1 + g_2) \right\rangle^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left\| x \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \odot \begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix} \right\|.$$
(4.2.5)

Using (4.2.5), we can prove as in the above case, that $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is SOT closed in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F^{(\mathcal{B})} \odot \mathcal{G})$ and hence $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module.

Let F be a Hilbert $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. Suppose F has a nondegenerate left action of \mathcal{A} , then (4.2.4) implies that the natural left action of \mathcal{A} on $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ given by

$$a[x] := [ax] \quad \text{for } a \in \mathcal{A}, x \in F \tag{4.2.6}$$

is a well defined nondegenerate action.

Proposition 4.2.2. If F is a Hilbert (von Neumann) \mathcal{A} - $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a Hilbert (von Neumann) \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module with the left action defined in (4.2.6).

Proof. If F is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then clearly $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module. We shall prove that if F is a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a von Neumann \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module. Let $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$. So $F^{(\mathcal{B})} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F^{(\mathcal{B})} \odot \mathcal{G})$ and $F \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^2, F \odot \mathcal{G}^2)$ where

 $\mathcal{G}^2 = \mathcal{G} \oplus \mathcal{G}$. We must show that the Stinespring representation $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(F^{(\mathcal{B})} \odot \mathcal{G})$ of \mathcal{A} given by $\rho(a)([x] \odot g) = a[x] \odot g$ is normal. For any $x \in F, g \in \mathcal{G}$, a computation similar to (4.2.5) implies that

$$\|[x] \odot g\| = \left\| x \odot \begin{pmatrix} g \\ g \end{pmatrix} \right\|. \tag{4.2.7}$$

As the Stinespring representation $\hat{\rho} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(F \odot \mathcal{G}^2)$ given by $\tilde{\rho}(a)(x \odot \underline{g}) = ax \odot \underline{g}$ for $a \in \mathcal{A}, \underline{g} \in \mathcal{G}^2$ is normal, using (4.2.7), we can see that ρ is normal.

Remark 4.2.1. Suppose F is a Hilbert (von Neumann) $M_2(\mathcal{A})-M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then we can consider F as a Hilbert (von Neumann) $\mathcal{A}-M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module by considering the left action of \mathcal{A} given by

$$ax := \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} x \quad \text{for } x \in F, a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(4.2.8)

Therefore, Proposition 4.2.2 shows that, if F is a Hilbert (von Neumann) $M_2(\mathcal{A})-M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module, then $F^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a Hilbert (von Neumann) $\mathcal{A}-\mathcal{B}$ -module.

Remark 4.2.2. Let $E \subseteq F$ be a $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -submodule of a $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module F. Then

$$E^{(\mathcal{B})} \simeq \{ [x]_F : x \in E \} \subseteq F^{(\mathcal{B})}.$$

Theorem 4.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra and \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . For i = 1, 2, let $\phi_i : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a CP map with a GNS-representation (F_i, y_i) . Suppose $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$: $M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ is a block CP map¹ for some CB map $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ then, there is an adjointable bilinear contraction $T : F_2 \to F_1$ such that $\psi(a) = \langle y_1, Tay_2 \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. Let (E, x) be the (minimal) GNS-construction for Φ . So, E is a von Neumann $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module and Hilbert $M_2(\mathcal{A})-M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. Let $\mathbb{E}_{ij} := \mathbf{1} \otimes E_{ij}$ in $\mathcal{A} \otimes M_2$, or $\mathcal{B} \otimes M_2$, depending upon the context, where $\{E_{ij}\}$'s are the matrix units in M_2 . Set $\hat{E}_i := \mathbb{E}_{ii}E \subseteq E, i = 1, 2$. Then \hat{E}_i 's are SOT closed (as \mathbb{E}_{ii} 's are projections) $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -submodules of E such that $E = \hat{E}_1 \oplus \hat{E}_2$.

Let
$$x_i := \mathbb{E}_{ii} \times \mathbb{E}_{ii} \in \hat{E}_i$$
, $i = 1, 2$. Clearly $\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle = 0$. Also for $i, j = 1, 2$ and $i \neq j$.

$$\|x_i - \mathbb{E}_{ii}x\|^2 = \|\mathbb{E}_{ii}x\mathbb{E}_{jj}\|^2 = \|\langle \mathbb{E}_{ii}x\mathbb{E}_{jj}, \mathbb{E}_{ii}x\mathbb{E}_{jj}\rangle\| = \|\mathbb{E}_{jj}\Phi(\mathbb{E}_{ii})\mathbb{E}_{jj}\| = 0,$$

¹By block CP map, we mean a CP map which acts block-wise.

and

$$\|x_i - x\mathbb{E}_{ii}\|^2 = \|\mathbb{E}_{jj}x\mathbb{E}_{ii}\|^2 = \|\langle \mathbb{E}_{jj}x\mathbb{E}_{ii}, \mathbb{E}_{jj}x\mathbb{E}_{ii}\rangle\| = \|\mathbb{E}_{ii}\Phi(\mathbb{E}_{jj})\mathbb{E}_{ii}\| = 0.$$

Thus

$$x_i = \mathbb{E}_{ii} x = x \mathbb{E}_{ii}, i = 1, 2 \text{ and hence } x = (\mathbb{E}_{11} + \mathbb{E}_{22}) x = x_1 + x_2.$$
 (4.2.9)

As Φ is a block map, for $A \in M_2(\mathcal{A})$, using (4.2.9) we have

$$\Phi(A) = \langle x, Ax \rangle = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle x_i, Ax_j \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \langle x_1, Ax_1 \rangle_{11} & \langle x_1, Ax_2 \rangle_{12} \\ \langle x_2, Ax_1 \rangle_{21} & \langle x_2, Ax_2 \rangle_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\langle a, b \rangle_{ij}$ denotes the $(i, j)^{\text{th}}$ entry of $\langle a, b \rangle \in M_2(\mathcal{B})$.

Consider the Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module and von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module $E^{(\mathcal{B})}$ (as described in Remark² 4.2.1), and consider the von Neumann \mathcal{B} -modules $\hat{E}_i^{(\mathcal{B})}$, i = 1, 2. Observe that \hat{E}_i has a non-degenerate left action of \mathcal{A} given by

$$ax := \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} x \quad \text{for } a \in \mathcal{A}, x \in \hat{E}_i.$$
(4.2.10)

Therefore, Proposition 4.2.2 shows that $\hat{E}_i^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is also a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module for i = 1, 2.

We have $E^{(\mathcal{B})} \simeq \hat{E}_1^{(\mathcal{B})} \oplus \hat{E}_2^{(\mathcal{B})}$ (via $[y]_E \mapsto [\mathbb{E}_{11}y]_{\hat{E}_1} + [\mathbb{E}_{22}y]_{\hat{E}_2}$ for $y \in E$). For $a \in \mathcal{B}$ and i = 1, 2 see that,

$$\langle [x_i], a[x_i] \rangle = \sum_{r,s=1}^2 \left\langle \mathbb{E}_{ii}x, \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{ii}x \right\rangle_{r,s} = \sum_{r,s=1}^2 \Phi \left(\mathbb{E}_{ii} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{ii} \right)_{r,s} = \phi_i(a).$$

This shows that $(\hat{E}_i^{(\mathcal{B})}, [x_i])$ is a GNS-representation (not necessarily minimal) for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Define $U : \hat{E}_2^{(\mathcal{B})} \to \hat{E}_1^{(\mathcal{B})}$ by $U[w] = [\mathbb{E}_{12}w]$ for all $w \in \hat{E}_2$. Then, for all $z, w \in \hat{E}_2$,

$$\langle U[z], U[w] \rangle = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle \mathbb{E}_{12}z, \mathbb{E}_{12}w \rangle_{i,j} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle z, \mathbb{E}_{21}\mathbb{E}_{12}w \rangle_{i,j} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \langle z, w \rangle_{i,j} = \langle [z], [w] \rangle,$$

also for $y \in \hat{E}_1$ we have $\mathbb{E}_{21}y \in \hat{E}_2$ such that

$$U[\mathbb{E}_{21}y] = [\mathbb{E}_{12}\mathbb{E}_{21}y] = [\mathbb{E}_{11}y] = [y].$$

Therefore U is a unitary from the von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module $\hat{E}_2^{(\mathcal{B})}$ to the von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module $\hat{E}_1^{(\mathcal{B})}$. Now for $a \in \mathcal{A}, w \in \hat{E}_2$,

$$Ua[w] = U\begin{bmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{bmatrix} w = [\mathbb{E}_{12} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} w] = \begin{bmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{12}w = a[\mathbb{E}_{12}w] = aU[w].$$
²See also Propositions 4.2.1,4.2.2.

Thus $U: \hat{E}_2^{(\mathcal{B})} \to \hat{E}_1^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is a bilinear (adjointable) unitary between the Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} modules.

Let $\tilde{F}_i := \overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \mathcal{A} y_i \mathcal{B} \subseteq F_i$ and $\tilde{E}_i = \overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \mathcal{A}[x_i] \mathcal{B} \subseteq \hat{E}_1^{(\mathcal{B})}$, so that (\tilde{F}_i, y_i) and $(\tilde{E}_i, [x_i])$ are minimal GNS-representations for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Therefore, $\tilde{V}_i : \tilde{F}_i \to \tilde{E}_i$ given by

$$V_i(ay_ib) = a[x_i]b, \quad a \in \mathcal{A}, b \in \mathcal{B},$$

extends to a bilinear (adjointable) unitary. Let $V_i : F_i \to \hat{E}_i^{(\mathcal{B})}$ be the extension of \tilde{V}_i , by defining it to be zero on the complement \tilde{F}_i^{\perp} of \tilde{F}_i . Note that V_i is a bilinear partial isometry with initial space \tilde{F}_i and final space \tilde{E}_i for i = 1, 2. Take $T := V_1^* U V_2$.

Now consider, for $a \in \mathcal{A}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle y_1, Tay_2 \rangle &= \langle y_1, V_1^* U V_2 a y_2 \rangle = \langle V_1 y_1, U V_2 a y_2 \rangle = \langle \tilde{V}_1 y_1, U \tilde{V}_2 a y_2 \rangle \\ &= \langle [x_1], Ua[x_2] \rangle = \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \left\langle \mathbb{E}_{11} x, \mathbb{E}_{12} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{22} x \right\rangle_{i,j} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \left\langle x, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x \right\rangle_{i,j} = \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \Phi \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \psi(a) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \psi(a). \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 4.2.3 (Uniqueness). With the same hypothesis and notations of Theorem 4.2.1 let $T, T': F_2 \to F_1$ be any two adjointable bilinear contractions such that $\psi(a) = \langle y_1, Tay_2 \rangle = \langle y_1, T'ay_2 \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$, then

$$\langle a_1 y_1 b_1, T(a_2 y_2 b_2) \rangle = b_1^* \langle y_1, T((a_1^* a_2) y_2) \rangle b_2$$

= $b_1^* \langle y_1, T'((a_1^* a_2) y_2) \rangle b_2$
= $\langle a_1 y_1 b_1, T'(a_2 y_2 b_2) \rangle$

for $a_1, a_2 \in \mathcal{A}, b_1, b_2 \in \mathcal{B}$ and hence $P_{\tilde{F}_1}TP_{\tilde{F}_2} = P_{\tilde{F}_1}T'P_{\tilde{F}_2}$ where $P_{\tilde{F}_i} : F_i \to F_i$ is the projection onto \tilde{F}_i . This in particular shows that the contraction T in Theorem 4.2.1 is *unique* if F_i 's are minimal GNS-modules.

Corollary 4.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a unital C^* -algebra. For i = 1, 2, let $\varphi_i : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a completely positive map with the minimal Stinespring representation $(\mathcal{K}_i, \pi_i, V_i)$. Suppose $\Phi : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$, defined by $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$ is block CP for some CB map $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, then there is a unique contraction $T : \mathcal{K}_2 \to \mathcal{K}_1$ with $\pi_1(a)T = T\pi_2(a)$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\psi(a) = V_1^*T\pi_2(a)V_2$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. Given that $(\mathcal{K}_i, \pi_i, V_i)$ is a minimal Stinespring representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Let (E_i, V_i) be the minimal GNS-representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$ as explained in Remark 2.2.4, where $E_i = \overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \pi_i(\mathcal{A}) V_i \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{K}_i)$. By Theorem 4.2.1, there exists an adjointable bilinear contraction $\hat{T}: E_2 \to E_1$ such that

$$\psi(a) = \langle V_1, \hat{T}\pi_2(a)V_2 \rangle = V_1^* \hat{T}\pi_2(a)V_2 \text{ for all } a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (4.2.11)

As $(\mathcal{K}_i, \pi_i, V_i)$ is the minimal Stinespring representation for ϕ , we have $\mathcal{K}_i = \overline{\pi_i(\mathcal{A})V_i\mathcal{H}}$. Define $T: \mathcal{K}_2 \to \mathcal{K}_1$ by

$$T(\pi_2(a)V_2h) = (\hat{T}(\pi_2(a)V_2))h \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}, h \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(4.2.12)

Let h be a non-zero vector in \mathcal{H} . As \hat{T} is right $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ -linear and contraction, we have for $a \in \mathcal{A}, h \in \mathcal{H}$, (In the following, we use the bra-ket notations, defined in Subsection 2.1.3)

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| (\hat{T}(\pi_2(a)V_2))h \middle| \middle| h \right| &= \left\| \hat{T}(\pi_2(a)V_2) |h\rangle \langle h| \right\| = \left\| \hat{T}(\pi_2(a)V_2 |h\rangle \langle h|) \right\| \\ &\leq \left\| \pi_2(a)V_2 |h\rangle \langle h| \right\| = \left\| |(\pi_2(a)V_2)h\rangle \langle h| \right\|. \end{aligned}$$

This implies

$$\left\| \left(\hat{T}(\pi_2(a)V_2) \right) h \right\| \le \|\pi_2(a)V_2h\| \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}, h \in \mathcal{H}.$$

$$(4.2.13)$$

Therefore T is a well-defined contraction. Now as \hat{T} is left \mathcal{A} -linear, for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$ and $h \in \mathcal{H}$, we have

$$T\pi_2(a)(\pi_2(b)V_2h) = T(\pi_2(ab)V_2h) = \hat{T}(\pi_2(ab)V_2)h = \hat{T}(\pi_2(a)\pi_2(b)V_2)h$$
$$= \pi_1(a)\hat{T}(\pi_2(b)V_2)h = \pi_1(a)T(\pi_2(b)V_2h).$$

Thus $T\pi_2(a) = \pi_1(a)T$, for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. Now (4.2.11) shows that $\psi(a)h = V_1^*T\pi_2(a)V_2h$ for all $h \in \mathcal{H}$. For the uniqueness of T, let T' be another contraction such that $T'\pi_2(a) = \pi_1(a)T'$ and $\psi(a) = V_1^*T'\pi_2(a)V_2$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. Consider for $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$ and $h, g \in \mathcal{H}$,

$$\langle T\pi_2(b)V_2g, \pi_1(a)V_1h \rangle = \langle V_1^*T\pi_2(a^*b)V_2g, h \rangle$$

= $\langle \psi(a^*b)g, h \rangle = \langle V_1^*T'\pi_2(a^*b)V_2g, h \rangle$
= $\langle T'\pi_2(b)V_2g, \pi_1(a)V_1h \rangle.$

This proves the uniqueness of T.

Remark 4.2.4. (i). Corollary 4.2.1 can be proved directly (without deducing from Theorem 4.2.1).

(ii). Given two CP maps $\phi_i : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}), i = 1, 2$. Let $(\mathcal{K}_i, \pi_i, V_i)$ be the minimal Stinespring representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Suppose the block map $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$ is CP for some CB map $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Then Furuta in [Fur94, Proposition 6.1] proved that: ψ is non-trivial (non-zero) if and only if there exists a non-zero operator $T : \mathcal{K}_2 \to \mathcal{K}_1$ such that $T\pi_1(a) = \pi_2(a)T$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. On the other hand, Corollary 4.2.1 explicitly tells us the structure of ψ from the minimal Stinespring representations of ϕ_i 's.

(iii). Corollary 4.2.1 is a generalization of [PS85, Corollary 2.7] (namely, when $\phi_1 = \phi_2$ in Corollary 4.2.1, we get the result of Paulsen and Suen [PS85, Corollary 2.7]).

The following example shows that we cannot replace the von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} in Theorem 4.2.1 by an arbitrary C^* -algebra.

Example 4.2.1. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} = C([0, 1])$, the commutative unital C^* -algebra of continuous functions on [0, 1]. Let E = C([0, 1]). It is a Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -module with the natural actions and standard inner product: $\langle f, g \rangle = f^*g$. Let

$$h_1(t) = t$$
, $h_2(t) = 1$ for $t \in [0, 1]$.

Consider the CP map $\Phi: M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ defined by

Note

$$\Phi\begin{pmatrix} f_{11} & f_{12} \\ f_{21} & f_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_1^* & 0 \\ 0 & h_2^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} f_{11} & f_{12} \\ f_{21} & f_{22} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h_1 & 0 \\ 0 & h_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_1^* f_{11} h_1 & h_1^* f_{12} h_2 \\ h_2^* f_{21} h_1 & h_2^* f_{22} h_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

that Φ is the block CP map $\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$, where $\phi_i, \psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ are given by

$$\psi(f) = \langle h_1, fh_2 \rangle$$
 and $\phi_i(f) = \langle h_i, fh_i \rangle$ for $f \in \mathcal{A}, i = 1, 2.$ (4.2.14)

Therefore, (E, h_i) is a GNS-representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Let $E_i = \overline{\text{span}} \mathcal{A}h_i \mathcal{B} \subseteq E$. Then (E_i, h_i) is the minimal GNS-representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$. Note that

$$E_1 = \{ f \in C([0,1]) : f(0) = 0 \}$$
 and $E_2 = \mathcal{A}.$

Now suppose that there exists a bilinear contraction $T : E_2 \to E_1$ such that $\psi(f) = \langle h_1, Tfh_2 \rangle$ for all $f \in \mathcal{A}$. Then $\psi(h_2) = h_1 = h_1T(h_2)$. That is, $t = tT(h_2)(t)$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$. This implies that $T(h_2)(t) = 1$ for all $t \neq 0$. This is a contradiction to $T(h_2) \in E_1$.

Remark 4.2.5. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be unital C^* -algebras and let $\Phi : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ be a block CP map $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$. Suppose \mathcal{B} is a unital subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Let \mathcal{C} be the von Neumann algebra $\overline{\mathcal{B}}^s$. Now enlarge the codomain of Φ to $M_2(\mathcal{C})$. That is, consider the block CP map $\tilde{\Phi} : M_2(\mathcal{A}) \to M_2(\mathcal{C})$, such that $\tilde{\Phi}(\mathcal{A}) = \Phi(\mathcal{A})$.

Let $\tilde{\Phi} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_1 & \tilde{\psi} \\ \tilde{\psi}^* & \tilde{\phi}_2 \end{pmatrix}$. Then, by Theorem 4.2.1 we get a bilinear contraction $\tilde{T} : \tilde{E}_2 \to \tilde{E}_1$ such that $\psi(a) = \tilde{\psi}(a) = \langle x_1, \tilde{T}ax_2 \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$, where (\tilde{E}_i, x_i) is the GNS-construction for $\tilde{\phi}_i, i = 1, 2$. Note that (\tilde{E}_i, x_i) is not a GNS-representation for $\phi_i, i = 1, 2$ as \tilde{E}_i is an Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C} -module which need not be an Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} module.

In particular, in Example 4.2.1 if we enlarge the codomain \mathcal{B} to $\mathcal{C} = \overline{\mathcal{B}}^s = L^{\infty}([0,1])$, then with the above notations, we have $\tilde{E}_i = \overline{\text{span}} \mathcal{A}h_i\mathcal{C} = L^{\infty}([0,1]), i = 1, 2$. Note also that there exists a bilinear contraction $\tilde{T} : \tilde{E}_2 \to \tilde{E}_1$ given by $\tilde{T}f = f, f \in E_2$ such that $\psi(f) = \tilde{\psi}(f) = \langle h_1, Tfh_2 \rangle$ for all $f \in \mathcal{A}$.

The following example is a modification of Example 4.2.1 to get an example of a unital block CP map $\Phi: M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{M}_2(\mathcal{B})$.

Example 4.2.2. Let \mathcal{A} be the unital C^* -algebra C([0, 1]). Let $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A}$ and let $F = \mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A}$ be the Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{A} -module with the module actions and inner product given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix} k = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 k \\ f_2 k \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} k_1 \\ k_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} k_1 f_1 \\ k_2 f_2 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle = f_1^* g_1 + f_2^* g_2$$

for $k \in \mathcal{A}, \begin{pmatrix} k_1 \\ k_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{B}, \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix} \in F$. Consider $E = F \oplus F$ as a Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module with right action

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} f = \begin{pmatrix} xf_1 \\ yf_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 where $f = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{B}, \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in E,$

inner product

$$\left\langle \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \langle x_1, y_1 \rangle \\ \langle x_2, y_2 \rangle \end{pmatrix},$$

and the left action

$$f\begin{pmatrix}x\\y\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}fx\\fy\end{pmatrix}$$
 for $f \in \mathcal{B}, \begin{pmatrix}x\\y\end{pmatrix} \in E.$

Let
$$h_{11}(t) = t, h_{12}(t) = \sqrt{1 - t^2}, h_{21}(t) = 1, h_{22}(t) = 0$$
 for $t \in [0, 1]$. Let
 $h_1 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{12} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{12} \end{pmatrix}, h_2 = \begin{pmatrix} h_{21} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} h_{21} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in E = F \oplus F$

Let $\Phi: M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ be the block CP map $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$, where $\phi_i, \psi: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}$

are defined by

$$\phi_i(f) = \langle h_i, fh_i \rangle$$
 and $\psi(f) = \langle h_1, fh_2 \rangle$ for $f \in \mathcal{B}, i = 1, 2$.

Let $E_i = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\mathcal{B}h_i\mathcal{B} \subseteq E, i = 1, 2$. Then $E_1 = F_1 \oplus F_1$ with $F_1 = C_0([0, 1]) \oplus C_1([0, 1])$ where $C_j([0,1]) = \{ f \in C([0,1]) : f(j) = 0 \}$ for j = 0, 1, and $E_2 = F_2 \oplus F_2$ with $F_2 = C([0,1]) \oplus 0$. Now suppose there exists a bilinear contraction $T: E_2 \to E_1$ such that $\psi(f) = \langle h_1, Tfh_2 \rangle$ for all $f \in \mathcal{B}$. Then for $f = \begin{pmatrix} h_{21} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{B}$, $\begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \langle h_1, fh_2 \rangle = \psi(f) = \langle h_1, fTh_2 \rangle = \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{12} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} h_{11} \\ h_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} l_{11} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} l_{21} \\ h_{22} \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle$ where $Th_2 = \begin{pmatrix} l_{11} \\ l_{12} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} l_{21} \\ l_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in E_1$. Therefore $h_{11} = h_{11}l_{11} + h_{12}h_{22}$. Hence $t = tl_{11}(t)$ for

all $t \in [0,1]$. Hence $l_{11}(t) = 1$ for $t \neq 0$. This is a contradiction to the assumption that $Th_2 \in E_1$. So no such T exists.

We could not get any reasonable answer to the following question.

Problem. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be unital C^{*}-algebras and let $p \in \mathcal{A}, q \in \mathcal{B}$ be projections. Let $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 & \psi \\ \psi^* & \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$ be a block CP map from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} with respect to p and q. Let (E_i, ξ_i) be GNS-representation of ϕ_i , i = 1, 2. Can we prove a theorem similar to Theorem 4.2.1? In other words what is the structure of ψ in terms of (E_i, ξ_i) ?

4.3 Semigroups of block CP maps

Structure of block quantum dynamical semigroups 4.3.1

In this subsection, we shall prove a structure theorem similar to (or using) Theorem 4.2.1for semigroup of block CP maps. We shall start with a few basic examples of semigroups of block CP maps, which are of interest.

Example 4.3.1. Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space. Let $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be an E_0 -semigroup on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Let $(U_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a family of unitaries in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ forming left cocycle for θ , that is, $U_0 = I, U_{s+t} = U_s \theta_s(U_t), t \mapsto U_t$ continuous in SOT. Let $\psi_t(X) = U_t \theta_t(X) U_t^*$ for $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Then $(\psi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is an E_0 -semigroup, cocycle conjugate to $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$. Define $\tau_t : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H})$ by

$$\tau_t \begin{pmatrix} X & Y \\ Z & W \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & U_t \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_t(X) & \theta_t(Y) \\ \theta_t(Z) & \theta_t(W) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & U_t^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \theta_t(X) & \theta_t(Y)U_t^* \\ U_t\theta_t(Z) & U_t\theta_t(W)U_t^* \end{pmatrix}$$

Then clearly $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a block E_0 -semigroup.

Example 4.3.2. Let $(a_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(b_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be semigroups on a C^* -algebra \mathcal{B} and let $(\phi_t^i)_{t\geq 0}, i = 1, 2$, be two QDSs on \mathcal{B} such that $\phi_t^1(\cdot) - a_t(\cdot)a_t^*$ and $\phi_t^2(\cdot) - b_t(\cdot)b_t^*$ are CP maps (cf. Definition 2.1.18). Define $\tau_t : M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ by

$$\tau_t \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1(a) & a_t b b_t^* \\ b_t c a_t^* & \phi_t^2(d) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then τ_t is CP, for all $t \ge 0$, as

$$\tau_t \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_t & 0 \\ 0 & b_t \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_t^* & 0 \\ 0 & b_t^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1(a) - a_t a a_t^* & 0 \\ 0 & \phi_t^2(d) - b_t d b_t^* \end{pmatrix}$$

Clearly $(\tau_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a block QDS.

Recall the following from Subsection 2.3.3 (Example 2.3.1 and Definition 2.3.12): Let $\phi = (\phi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a QDS on a C^* -algebra/von Neumann algebra \mathcal{B} and let (E_t, ξ_t) be the GNS-construction for ϕ_t . For $t, s \geq 0$ define $\beta_{s,t} : E_{s+t} \to E_s \odot E_t$ by

$$\xi_{t+s} \mapsto \xi_s \odot \xi_t. \tag{4.3.1}$$

(Note that $E_t = \overline{E_t}^s = \overline{\text{span}}^s \mathcal{B}\xi_t \mathcal{B}$ and $E_s \odot E_t = E_s \overline{\odot}^s E_s$ if \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra). Then $\beta_{s,t}$'s are two-sided isometries such that

$$(\beta_{r,s} \odot I_{E_t})\beta_{r+s,t} = (I_{E_r} \odot \beta_{s,t})\beta_{r,s+t}.$$
(4.3.2)

That is, $(E = (E_t)_{t\geq 0}, \beta = (\beta_{t,s})_{t,s\geq 0})$ is an *inclusion system* of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} modules with generating unit $\xi^{\odot} = (\xi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ for (E,β) . The triple (E,β,ξ^{\odot}) or just the pair (E,ξ^{\odot}) (when β is clear from the context) is called the *inclusion system* (or subproduct system) associated to the QDS ϕ . **Lemma 4.3.1.** Let \mathcal{B} be a unital C^* -algebra. Given two inclusion systems $(E^i, \beta^i, \xi^{\odot i})$ associated to a pair of CP semigroups $\phi^i = (\phi_t^i)_{t\geq 0}, i = 1, 2$ on \mathcal{B} and a contractive morphism³ $T = (T_t) : E^2 \to E^1$, there is a block CP semigroup⁴ $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ such that $\Phi_t = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1 & \psi_t \\ \psi_t^* & \phi_t^2 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\psi_t(a) = \langle \xi_t^1, T_t(a\xi_t^2) \rangle$.

Proof. Define $\Phi_t : M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ as the block maps $\Phi_t = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1 & \psi_t \\ \psi_t^* & \phi_t^2 \end{pmatrix}$, where $\psi_t(b) = \langle \xi_t^1, T_t(b\xi_t^2) \rangle$. Then, as $T_t : E_t^2 \to E_t^1$ is an adjointable bilinear contraction, Φ_t is CP for all $t \ge 0$ (see the proof of Lemma 4.2.1).

Now we shall show that $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t \geq 0}$ is a semigroup on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$. We have

$$\Phi_s \circ \Phi_t \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \Phi_s \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1(a) & \psi_t(b) \\ \psi_t^*(c) & \phi_t^2(d) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_{s+t}^1(a) & \psi_s(\psi_t(b)) \\ \psi_s^*(\psi_t^*(c)) & \phi_{s+t}^2(d) \end{pmatrix}$$

It is clear from this, that to show Φ is a semigroup, it is enough to show that $(\psi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a semigroup. Now as T is a morphism it is easy to see that $(\psi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a semigroup. \Box

When \mathcal{B} is a von Neumann algebra, we have the converse of Lemma 4.3.1. Example 4.2.1 says that we cannot take \mathcal{B} as an arbitrary C^* -algebra.

Theorem 4.3.1. Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra. Let $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a semigroup of block normal CP maps on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ with $\Phi_t = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_t^1 & \psi_t \\ \psi_t^* & \phi_t^2 \end{pmatrix}$. Then, there are inclusion systems $(E^i, \beta^i, \xi^{\odot i}), i = 1, 2$ associated to ϕ^i (canonically arising from the inclusion system associated to Φ) and a unique contractive (weak) morphism $T = (T_t) : E^2 \to E^1$ such that $\psi_t(a) = \langle \xi_t^1, T_t a \xi_t^2 \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{B}, t \geq 0$.

Proof. We shall prove this extending the same ideas of the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 to the semigroup level. Let $(E = (E_t), \beta = (\beta_{t,s}), \eta^{\odot} = (\eta_t))$ be the inclusion system associated to Φ . Note that E_t 's are von Neumann $M_2(\mathcal{B})-M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -modules. Let $\mathbb{E}_{ij} := \mathbf{1} \otimes E_{ij} \in \mathcal{B} \otimes M_2$, where E_{ij} 's are the matrix units in M_2 . Let $\hat{E}_t^i := \mathbb{E}_{ii}E_t \subseteq E_t, i = 1, 2$. Then \hat{E}_t^i 's are SOT closed $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -submodules of E_t such that $E_t = \hat{E}_t^1 \oplus \hat{E}_t^2$ for all $t \ge 0$. Let $\eta_t^i := \mathbb{E}_{ii}\eta_t\mathbb{E}_{ii} \in \hat{E}_t^i$, i = 1, 2. Then we have (as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1)

$$\eta_t = \eta_t^1 + \eta_t^2 \text{ with } \langle \eta_t^1, \eta_t^2 \rangle = 0 \text{ and } \eta_t^i = \mathbb{E}_{ii} \eta_t = \eta_t \mathbb{E}_{ii} \text{ for all } t \ge 0, i = 1, 2.$$
(4.3.3)

³Note that, T_t 's are bilinear (cf. Definition 2.3.13).

⁴By a block CP semigroup, we mean, a semigroup of block CP maps.

As $\beta_{t,s}: E_{t+s} \to E_t \odot E_s$ are the canonical maps: $\eta_{t+s} \mapsto \eta_t \odot \eta_s$, using (4.3.3) we have,

$$\beta_{t,s}(\eta_{t+s}^i) = \beta_{t,s}(\mathbb{E}_{ii}\eta_{t+s}\mathbb{E}_{ii}) = \mathbb{E}_{ii}\eta_t \odot \eta_s \mathbb{E}_{ii} = \eta_t^i \odot \eta_s^i \quad \text{for } t, s \ge 0, i = 1, 2.$$
(4.3.4)

Consider the von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules $E_t^{(\mathcal{B})}$ (as described in Remark 4.2.1) and the von Neumann \mathcal{B} -modules $\hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}$ (see Proposition 4.2.1). Notice that $\hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}$ is also a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module for i = 1, 2 with the left action of \mathcal{B} given by

$$a[x] := \begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{bmatrix} x \quad \text{for } a \in \mathcal{B}, x \in \hat{E}_t^i.$$

$$(4.3.5)$$

Then, we have $E_t^{(\mathcal{B})} \simeq \hat{E}_t^{1(\mathcal{B})} \oplus \hat{E}_t^{2(\mathcal{B})}$ (as two-sided von Neumann modules) for all $t \ge 0$ (as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1). Let $\xi_t^i = [\eta_t^i] \in \hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}, i = 1, 2$. Then for $a \in \mathcal{B}, i = 1, 2$, we have

$$\langle \xi_t^i, a\xi_t^i \rangle = \sum_{r,s=1}^2 \left\langle \mathbb{E}_{ii}\eta_t, \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{ii}\eta_t \right\rangle_{r,s} = \sum_{r,s=1}^2 \Phi_t \left(\mathbb{E}_{ii} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{ii} \right)_{r,s} = \phi_t^i(a)$$

Therefore, $(\hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}, \xi_t^i)$ is a GNS-representation (not necessarily minimal) for $\phi_t^i, i = 1, 2$. Let $E_t^i = \overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \mathcal{B}\xi_t^i \mathcal{B} \subseteq \hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}$ be the minimal GNS-module for ϕ_t^i for i = 1, 2. Let $\beta_{t,s}^i : E_{t+s}^i \to E_t^i \odot E_s^i$ be the canonical maps (as in Remark 2.3.1) given by

$$\xi_{t+s}^i \mapsto \xi_t^i \odot \xi_s^i \quad \text{for } t, s \ge 0, i = 1, 2,$$

so that $(E^i = (E^i_t), \beta^i = (\beta^i_{t,s}), \xi^{\odot i} = (\xi^i_t))$ is the inclusion system associated to $\phi^i, i = 1, 2$. (Equation (4.3.4) shows that, we get the inclusion systems associated to ϕ^i 's in a canonical way from the inclusion system associated to Φ .)

Let $V_t^i: E_t^i \to \hat{E}_t^{i(\mathcal{B})}$ be the inclusion maps and let $U_t: \hat{E}_t^{2(\mathcal{B})} \to \hat{E}_t^{1(\mathcal{B})}$ be defined by

$$U_t[w] = [\mathbb{E}_{12}w] \quad \text{for } w \in \hat{E}_t^2.$$

Then V_t^i 's are adjointable, bilinear isometries and U_t 's are bilinear unitaries (as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1). Take $T_t := V_t^{1*}U_tV_t^2$. Then $T_t : E_t^2 \to E_t^1$ is an adjointable, bilinear contraction such that for $a \in \mathcal{B}$,

$$\langle \xi_t^1, T_t a \xi_t^2 \rangle = \langle \xi_t^1, V_t^{1*} U_t V_t^2 a \xi_t^2 \rangle = \langle V_t^1 [\eta_t^1], U_t V_t^2 a [\eta_t^2] \rangle = \left\langle [\eta_t^1], U_t [\begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \eta_t^2] \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle [\eta_t^1], [\begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \eta_t^2] \right\rangle = \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \left\langle \eta_t^1, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \eta_t^2 \right\rangle_{i,j}$$

$$=\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \left(\mathbb{E}_{11} \Phi_t \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{E}_{22} \right)_{i,j} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \psi_t(a) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \psi_t(a).$$

For $a, b, c, d \in \mathcal{B}$,

$$\begin{split} \langle a\xi_{t+s}^{1}b, T_{t+s}(c\xi_{t+s}^{2}d) \rangle &= b^{*}\psi_{t+s}(a^{*}c)d \\ &= b^{*}\psi_{s}(\psi_{t}(a^{*}c))d \\ &= b^{*}\psi_{s}(\langle\xi_{t}^{1}, a^{*}cT_{t}\xi_{t}^{2}\rangle)d \\ &= b^{*}\langle\xi_{s}^{1}, T_{s}(\langle\xi_{t}^{1}, a^{*}cT_{t}\xi_{t}^{2}\rangle\xi_{s}^{2})\rangle d \\ &= b^{*}\langle\xi_{s}^{1}, \langle\xi_{t}^{1}, a^{*}cT_{t}\xi_{t}^{2}\rangle T_{s}\xi_{s}^{2}\rangle d \\ &= b^{*}\langle\xi_{t}^{1}\odot\xi_{s}^{1}, a^{*}c(T_{t}\odot T_{s})(\xi_{t}^{2}\odot\xi_{s}^{2})\rangle d \\ &= \langle\beta_{t,s}^{1}(a\xi_{t+s}^{1}b), (T_{t}\odot T_{s})\beta_{t,s}^{2}(c\xi_{t+s}^{2}d)\rangle \\ &= \langle a\xi_{t+s}^{1}b, \beta_{t,s}^{1*}(T_{t}\odot T_{s})\beta_{t,s}^{2}(c\xi_{t+s}^{2}d)\rangle, \end{split}$$

shows that $T := (T_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a morphism of inclusion systems from (E^2, β^2) to (E^1, β^1) .

To prove the uniqueness of T, let $T' = (T'_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be another morphism of inclusion systems from $(E^2, \beta^2, \xi^{\odot 2})$ to $(E^1, \beta^1, \xi^{\odot 1})$ such that $\psi_t(a) = \langle \xi_t^1, T'_t(a\xi_t^2) \rangle$ for all $a \in \mathcal{B}, t \geq 0$, then

$$\langle a_1 \xi_t^1 b_1, T(a_2 \xi_t^2 b_2) \rangle = b_1^* \psi_t(a_1^* a_2) b_2 = \langle a_1 \xi_t^1 b_1, T'(a_2 \xi_t^2 b_2) \rangle$$

for $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2 \in \mathcal{B}$ and hence $T_t = T'_t$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Example 4.3.3. Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra. Let E be a von Neumann $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ - $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ -module. Take $\beta = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta_2 \end{pmatrix}$ in $M_2(\mathcal{B})$ and $\zeta \in E$ such that $\zeta = \mathbb{E}_{11}\zeta \mathbb{E}_{11} + \mathbb{E}_{22}\zeta \mathbb{E}_{22}$, where $\mathbb{E}_{ij} = \mathbf{1} \otimes E_{ij} \in \mathcal{B} \otimes M_2$ and $\{E_{ij}\}_{i,j=1}^2$ are the matrix units in M_2 .

Let $\xi^{\odot}(\beta,\zeta) = (\xi_t(\beta,\zeta))_{t\in\mathbb{R}_+} \in \mathbb{\Gamma}^{\odot}(E)$, the product system of time ordered Fock module⁵ over E, where the component ξ_t^n of $\xi_t(\beta,\zeta) \in \mathbb{\Gamma}_t(E)$ in the *n*-particle (n > 0) sector is defined as

$$\xi_t^n(t_n,\dots,t_1) = e^{(t-t_n)\beta} \zeta \odot e^{(t_n-t_{n-1})\beta} \zeta \odot \dots \odot e^{(t_2-t_1)\beta} \zeta e^{t_1\beta}.$$
(4.3.6)

and $\xi_t^0 = e^{t\beta}$. Then it follows from [LS01, Theorem 3] that, $\xi^{\odot}(\beta, \zeta)$ is a unit for the product system $\Gamma^{\odot}(E)$. Further if $\Phi_t^{(\beta,\zeta)} : M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ is defined by

$$\Phi_t^{(\beta,\zeta)}(A) = \langle \xi_t(\beta,\zeta), A\xi_t(\beta,\zeta) \rangle \quad \text{for } A \in M_2(\mathcal{B}),$$
(4.3.7)

 5 See Subsection 2.3.5 for the details about the time ordered Fock module.

then $\Phi := (\Phi_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a uniformly continuous CP-semigroup on $M_2(\mathcal{B})$, with bounded generator

$$L(A) = L^{(\beta,\zeta)}(A) = A\beta + \beta^* A + \langle \zeta, A\zeta \rangle \quad \text{for } A \in M_2(\mathcal{B}).$$
(4.3.8)

Let $\zeta_i = \mathbb{E}_{ii} \zeta \mathbb{E}_{ii}, i = 1, 2$, then $\zeta = \zeta_1 + \zeta_2, \langle \zeta_1, \zeta_2 \rangle = 0$. Let $\tau : M_2(\mathcal{B}) \to M_2(\mathcal{B})$ be defined by $\tau(A) = \langle \zeta, A\zeta \rangle, A \in M_2(\mathcal{B})$, then τ is a block CP map, say $\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{11} & \tau_{12} \\ \tau_{12}^* & \tau_{22} \end{pmatrix}$.

Note that $(E^{(\mathcal{B})}, [\zeta_i])$ is a GNS-representation for $\tau_{ii}, i = 1, 2$, where $E^{(\mathcal{B})}$ is the von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module as described⁶ in Remark 4.2.1.

Let $E_i = \overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \mathcal{B}[\zeta_i] \mathcal{B} \subseteq E^{(\mathcal{B})}$ be the minimal GNS-representation for $\tau_{ii}, i = 1, 2$ and let $T: E_2 \to E_1$ be the unique bilinear, adjointable contraction such that $\tau_{12}(a) = \langle [\zeta_1], Ta[\zeta_2] \rangle$ as given in Theorem 4.2.1. Therefore, we have

$$\tau(A) = \langle \zeta, A\zeta \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \langle [\zeta_1], a_{11}[\zeta_1] \rangle & \langle [\zeta_1], Ta_{12}[\zeta_2] \rangle \\ \langle [\zeta_2], T^*a_{21}[\zeta_1] \rangle & \langle [\zeta_2], a_{22}[\zeta_2] \rangle \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for } A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathcal{B})$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} L(A) &= A\beta + \beta^* A + \langle \zeta, A\zeta \rangle \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} a_{11}\beta_1 + \beta_1^* a_{11} + \langle [\zeta_1], a_{11}[\zeta_1] \rangle & a_{12}\beta_2 + \beta_1^* a_{12} + \langle [\zeta_1], Ta_{12}[\zeta_2] \rangle \\ a_{21}\beta_1 + \beta_2^* a_{21} + \langle [\zeta^2], T^* a_{21}[\zeta_1] \rangle & a_{22}\beta_2 + \beta_2^* a_{22} + \langle [\zeta_2], a_{22}[\zeta_2] \rangle \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} L_{11}^{(\beta_1, [\zeta_1])}(a_{11}) & L_{12}^{(\beta_1, \beta_2, [\zeta_1], [\zeta_2], T)}(a_{12}) \\ L_{21}^{(\beta_1, \beta_2, [\zeta_1], [\zeta_2], T)}(a_{21}) & L_{22}^{(\beta_2, [\zeta_2])}(a_{22}) \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

where

$$L_{ii}(a) = L_{ii}^{(\beta_i, [\zeta_i])}(a) = a\beta_i + \beta_i^* a + \langle [\zeta_i], a[\zeta_i] \rangle, \quad i = 1, 2,$$

and

$$L_{12}(a) = L_{12}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2,[\zeta_1],[\zeta_2],T)}(a) = a\beta_2 + \beta_1^* a + \langle [\zeta_1], Ta[\zeta_2] \rangle_{\mathcal{B}},$$
(4.3.9)

$$L_{21}(a) = L_{12}(a^*)^*,$$

for $a \in \mathcal{B}$. Therefore, for $A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathcal{B}),$

$$\Phi_t(A) = e^{tL(A)} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{tL_{11}^{(\beta_1,[\zeta_1])}(a_{11})} & e^{tL_{12}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2,[\zeta_1],[\zeta_2],T)}(a_{12})} \\ e^{tL_{21}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2,[\zeta_1],[\zeta_2],T)}(a_{21})} & e^{tL_{22}^{(\beta_2,[\zeta_2])}(a_{22})} \end{pmatrix}.$$

⁶See also Propositions 4.2.1,4.2.2.

Now note that the inclusion system $(E^i = (E^i_t), \xi^i = (\xi^i_t(\beta_i, [\zeta_i])))$ associated to $\phi^i = (e^{tL_{ii}^{(\beta_i, [\zeta_i])}})_{t\geq 0}$ is a subsystem of the product system of time-ordered Fock module $\Gamma^{\odot}(E_i)$ over $E_i, i = 1, 2$.

Let $w = (w_t)_{t>0}$ be the contractive morphism from (E^2, ξ^2) to (E^1, ξ^1) such that

$$e^{tL_{12}}(a) = \langle \xi_t^1(\beta_1, [\zeta_1]), aw_t(\xi_t^2(\beta_2, [\zeta_2])) \rangle, \text{ for all } a \in \mathcal{B}.$$
(4.3.10)

As any morphism maps a unit to a unit we have

$$w_t(\xi_t^2(\beta_2, [\zeta_2])) = \xi_t^1(\gamma_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]), \eta_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]))$$
(4.3.11)

for some $\gamma_w, \eta_w : \mathcal{B} \times E_2 \to \mathcal{B} \times E_1$. Hence from (4.3.10) and (4.3.11) we have

$$e^{tL_{12}}(a) = \langle \xi_t^1(\beta_1, [\zeta_1]), \xi_t^1(\gamma_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]), \eta_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2])) \rangle.$$

Now by differentiating (4.3.10), we get

$$L_{12}(a) = \langle \zeta_1, a\eta_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]) \rangle + a\gamma_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]) + \beta_1^* a.$$
(4.3.12)

Therefore as (4.3.9)=(4.3.12) we have $\gamma_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]) = \beta_2$ and $\eta_w(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]) = T[\zeta_2]$. Thus, the unique morphism (w_t) is given by

$$w_t \xi_t^2(\beta_2, [\zeta_2]) = \xi_t^1(\beta_2, T[\zeta_2]).$$

4.3.2 E_0 -dilation of block quantum Markov semigroups

In this subsection we shall prove that if we have a block QMS on a unital C^* -algebra then the E_0 -dilation constructed in [BS00] is also a semigroup of block maps.

Let \mathcal{B} be a unital C^* -algebra. Let $p \in \mathcal{B}$ be a projection. Denote $p' = \mathbf{1} - p$. Let $\Phi = (\Phi_t)_{t>0}$ be a block QMS⁷ on \mathcal{B} with respect to p.

Let $(E = (E_t), \xi^{\odot} = (\xi_t))$ be the inclusion system associated to Φ . Recall from Subsection 2.3.4 (cf. [BS00, Sections 4, 5]) that

$$(E_t, \xi_t)$$

$$\downarrow \text{first inductive limit}$$

$$(\mathcal{E}_t, \xi^t)$$

$$\downarrow \text{second inductive limit}$$

$$(\mathcal{E}, \xi)$$

 $^{^7\}mathrm{a}$ block QMS, is a QMS of block maps.

That is, we have a \mathcal{B} -module \mathcal{E} with $\mathcal{E} \simeq \mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$, a representation $j_0 : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$ $(b \mapsto |\xi\rangle b \langle \xi|)$ and endomorphisms $\vartheta_t : \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$ defined by $\vartheta_t(a) = a \odot \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{E}_t}$ such that $(\vartheta_t)_{t>0}$ is an E_0 -dilation of $(\Phi_t)_{t>0}$. Moreover, we have the Markov property

$$j_0(\mathbf{1})\vartheta_t(j_0(x))j_0(\mathbf{1}) = j_0(\Phi_t(x)), \quad x \in \mathcal{B}.$$
 (4.3.13)

This implies that $j_0(\mathbf{1})\vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1}))j_0(\mathbf{1}) = j_0(\Phi_t(\mathbf{1})) = j_0(\mathbf{1})$. Since $j_0(\mathbf{1})$ is a projection, we have $j_0(\mathbf{1}) \leq \vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1}))$ and hence $(\vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1})))_{t\geq 0}$ is an increasing family of projections. Hence it converges in SOT. Now if $k_s : \mathcal{E}_s \to \mathcal{E}$ are the canonical maps $(x_s \mapsto \xi \odot x_s)$ then

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}} \ k_s(\mathcal{E}_s) = \mathcal{E}. \tag{4.3.14}$$

Hence $\vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1}))(\mathcal{E}_t) = \vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1}))(\xi \odot \mathcal{E}_t) = (|\xi\rangle\langle\xi| \odot \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}_t})(\xi \odot \mathcal{E}_t) = \xi \odot \mathcal{E}_t$ shows that $\vartheta_t(j_0(\mathbf{1}))_{t\geq 0}$ is converging in SOT to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}$, the identity on \mathcal{E} .

Now for q = p or p', consider $\vartheta_t(j_0(q)) = \vartheta_t(|\xi\rangle q\langle\xi|)$. Note that since Φ is a unital block semigroup $\Phi_t(q) = q$ for q = p, p'. Hence by the Markov property (4.3.13) we have

$$j_0(\mathbf{1})\vartheta_t(j_0(q))j_0(\mathbf{1}) = j_0(\Phi_t(q)) = j_0(q), \text{ for } q = p, p'.$$
 (4.3.15)

Note that $j_0(1) = j_0(p) + j_0(p')$ and $j_0(p)j_0(p') = j_0(p')j_0(p) = 0$. Hence multiplying by $j_0(q)$ on both sides of Equation (4.3.15) we get

$$j_0(q)\vartheta_t(j_0(q))j_0(q) = j_0(q), \text{ for } q = p, p'$$

Since $j_0(q)$ is a projection, we have $j_0(q) \leq \vartheta_t(j_0(q))$ for all t, hence $\vartheta_s(j_0(q)) \leq \vartheta_t(j_0(q))$ for $s \leq t$. Therefore $(\vartheta_t(j_0(q)))_{t\geq 0}$ is an increasing family of projections in $\mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E})$. Say $(\vartheta_t(j_0(p)))_{t\geq 0}$ converges to P. Then as $(\vartheta_t(j_0(1))_{t\geq 0}$ converges to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}, (\vartheta_t(j_0(p')))_{t\geq 0}$ will converge to $P' = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}} - P$. Note that we have PP' = 0 and

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}}^{s}\vartheta_{t}(j_{0}(p))(\mathcal{E}) = P(\mathcal{E}) \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\operatorname{span}}^{s}\vartheta_{t}(j_{0}(p'))(\mathcal{E}) = P'(\mathcal{E}).$$
(4.3.16)

Thus, we have $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{(1)} \oplus \mathcal{E}^{(2)}$ where $\mathcal{E}^{(1)} = P(\mathcal{E})$ and $\mathcal{E}^{(2)} = P'(\mathcal{E})$.

Lemma 4.3.2. $P(\mathcal{E}_t) = \vartheta_t(j_0(p))(\mathcal{E}_t)$ and $P'(\mathcal{E}_t) = \vartheta_t(j_0(p'))(\mathcal{E}_t)$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. Fix $t \ge 0$. It is enough to prove for q = p, p' that $\vartheta_s(j_0(q))(x) = \vartheta_t(j_0(q))(x)$ if $x \in \mathcal{E}_t, s \ge t$. Note that (since $\langle \xi^t, q\xi^t \rangle = \Phi_t(q) = q$ for q = p or p') we have

$$\left\|p\xi^{t} - p\xi^{t}p\right\|^{2} = \left\|p\xi^{t}p'\right\|^{2} = \left\|p'\Phi_{t}(p)p'\right\| = 0 = \left\|p\Phi_{t}(p')p\right\| = \left\|p'\xi^{t}p\right\|^{2} = \left\|\xi^{t}p - p\xi^{t}p\right\|^{2}.$$

This implies that $p\xi^t = \xi^t p = p\xi^t p$. Similarly we have $p'\xi^t = \xi^t p' = p'\xi^t p'$.

Let q = p or p' and let $s \ge t$. If $x \in \mathcal{E}_t$, then $\xi^{s-t} \odot x \in \mathcal{E}_s$ and

$$\vartheta_s(j_0(q))(x) = (|\xi\rangle q \langle \xi| \odot \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}_s})(\xi \odot \xi^{s-t} \odot x) = \xi \odot q\xi^{s-t} \odot x = \xi \odot \xi^{s-t} q \odot x$$
$$= \xi \odot \xi^{s-t} \odot qx = \xi \odot qx = \vartheta_t(j_0(q))(x).$$

We have from [BS00, Theorem 5.4] that

$$\mathcal{E} \simeq \mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t, \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$
 (4.3.17)

Now we shall prove a similar result for $\mathcal{E}^{(i)}$'s by recalling the proof of this result. It is important to note that we are not getting something like $\mathcal{E}^{(i)} = \mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t^{(i)}$, and we have not even bothered to define $\mathcal{E}_t^{(i)}$.

Lemma 4.3.3. $\mathcal{E}^{(i)} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$, for $i = 1, 2, t \ge 0$.

Proof. Let $k_t : \mathcal{E}_t \to \mathcal{E}$ be the canonical maps (isometries). Then $u_t : \mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t \to \mathcal{E}$ defined by

$$u_t(k_s(x_s) \odot y_t) = k_{s+t}(x_s \odot y_t) \tag{4.3.18}$$

for $x_s \in \mathcal{E}_s, y_t \in \mathcal{E}_t$, is a unitary ([BS00, Theorem 5.4]). Hence, we have $\mathcal{E} \simeq \mathcal{E} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$. Since $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{(1)} \oplus \mathcal{E}^{(2)}$, we have, $\mathcal{E} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{(1)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t \oplus \mathcal{E}^{(2)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$.

We shall prove that, the restriction of this unitary u_t to $\mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$ is a unitary from $\mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t$ onto $\mathcal{E}^{(i)}$. It is enough to prove that $u_t(\mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t) \subseteq \mathcal{E}^{(i)}$. To prove this, (from (4.3.14), (4.3.16) and Lemma 4.3.2) it is sufficient to prove that $u_t(\vartheta_s(j_0(p))k_s(\mathcal{E}_s) \odot \mathcal{E}_t) \subseteq \mathcal{E}^{(1)}$ and $u_t(\vartheta_s(j_0(p'))k_s(\mathcal{E}_s) \odot \mathcal{E}_t) \subseteq \mathcal{E}^{(2)}$. To prove this consider for q = p or p' and $x_s \in \mathcal{E}_s$

$$\begin{aligned} u_t(\vartheta_s(j_0(q))k_s(x_s)\odot y_t) &= u_t((\xi q \odot x_s)\odot y_t) = u_t((\xi \odot qx_s)\odot y_t) \\ &= u_t(k_s(qx_s)\odot y_t) \\ &= k_{s+t}(qx_s\odot y_t) \\ &= \xi\odot qx_s\odot y_t = \xi q\odot x_s\odot y_t \\ &= \vartheta_{s+t}(j_0(q))k_{s+t}(x_s\odot y_t), \end{aligned}$$

which is in $\mathcal{E}^{(1)}$ if q = p and is in $\mathcal{E}^{(2)}$ if q = p'.

Theorem 4.3.2. The E_0 -dilation $\vartheta = (\vartheta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of Φ is a semigroup of block maps with respect to the projection P defined above.

Proof. As $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{(1)} \oplus \mathcal{E}^{(2)}$, we have

$$\mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{E}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{E}^{(1)}) & \mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{E}^{(2)}, \mathcal{E}^{(1)}) \\ \mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{E}^{(1)}, \mathcal{E}^{(2)}) & \mathcal{B}^{a}(\mathcal{E}^{(2)}) \end{pmatrix}$$

For any $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$, let $a \in \mathcal{B}^a(\mathcal{E}^{(i)}, \mathcal{E}^{(j)})$, then

$$\vartheta_t(a) = a \odot \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{E}_t} \in \mathbb{B}^a(\mathcal{E}^{(i)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t, \mathcal{E}^{(j)} \odot \mathcal{E}_t) = \mathbb{B}^a(\mathcal{E}^{(i)}, \mathcal{E}^{(j)}).$$

Therefore ϑ_t acts block-wise.

4.4 Lifting of morphisms

In this section we will show that any (weak) morphism between two inclusion systems of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules can be always lifted as a morphism between the product systems generated by them.

We shall recall some notations and results from Subsection 2.3.4 (cf. [BS00] and [BM10]). For all t > 0 we define

$$\mathbb{J}_t = \{ \mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \dots, t_1) \in \mathbb{T}^n : t_i > 0, |\mathfrak{t}| = t, n \in \mathbb{N} \}$$

$$(4.4.1)$$

and for $\mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1) \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we define the *joint tuple* $\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_{s+t}$ by

$$\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t} = ((s_m, \ldots, s_1), (t_n, \ldots, t_1)) = (s_m, \ldots, s_1, t_n, \ldots, t_1).$$

We have a partial order " \geq " on \mathbb{J}_t as follows: $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1)$, if for each j $(1 \leq j \leq m)$ there are (unique) $\mathfrak{s}_j \in \mathbb{J}_{s_j}$ such that $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{s}_m \smile \cdots \smile \mathfrak{s}_1$ (In this case we also write $\mathfrak{s} \leq \mathfrak{t}$ to mean $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s}$).

For t = 0 we extend the definition of \mathbb{J}_t as $\mathbb{J}_0 = \{()\}$, where () is the empty tuple. Also for $\mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we put $\mathfrak{t} \smile () = \mathfrak{t} = () \smile \mathfrak{t}$.

Now we will describe the construction of product system generated by an inclusion system of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules using the inductive limits. (This construction holds also for Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules along the same lines, but as we are going to prove the lifting theorem only for von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules, we confine ourselves to von Neumann modules.)

Let $(E = (E_t)_{t \ge 0}, \beta = (\beta_{s,t})_{s,t \ge 0})$ be an inclusion system of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules. Fix $t \in \mathbb{T}$. Let $E_t = E_{t_n} \odot \cdots \odot E_{t_1}$ for $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{J}_t$. For all $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) \in \mathbb{J}_t$ we define $\beta_{\mathfrak{t}(t)} : E_t \to E_{\mathfrak{t}}$ by

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{t}(t)} = (\beta_{t_n, t_{n-1}} \odot \mathrm{id})(\beta_{t_n + t_{n-1}, t_{n-2}} \odot \mathrm{id}) \dots (\beta_{t_n + \dots + t_3, t_2} \odot \mathrm{id})\beta_{t_n + \dots + t_2, t_1},$$

and for $\mathfrak{t} = (t_n, \ldots, t_1) = \mathfrak{s}_m \smile \cdots \smile \mathfrak{s}_1 \ge \mathfrak{s} = (s_m, \ldots, s_1)$ with $|\mathfrak{s}_j| = s_j$, we define $\beta_{\mathfrak{ts}} : E_{\mathfrak{s}} \to E_{\mathfrak{t}}$ by

$$\beta_{\mathfrak{ts}} = \beta_{\mathfrak{s}_m(s_m)} \odot \cdots \odot \beta_{\mathfrak{s}_1(s_1)}$$

Then it is clear from the definitions that $\beta_{ts}, t \geq s$ are bilinear isometries and $\beta_{ts}\beta_{st} = \beta_{tt}$ for $t \geq s \geq t$. This says that, the family $(E_t)_{t\in \mathbb{J}_t}$ with $(\beta_{ts})_{s\leq t}$ is an inductive system of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules. Hence the inductive limit $\mathcal{E}_t = \liminf_{t\in \mathbb{J}_t} dE_t$ is also a von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -module and the canonical mappings $i_t : E_t \to \mathcal{E}_t$ are bilinear isometries.

For $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s, \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t$ it is clear that $E_\mathfrak{s} \odot E_\mathfrak{t} = E_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}$. Using this observation we define $B_{st} : \mathcal{E}_s \odot \mathcal{E}_t \to \mathcal{E}_{s+t}$ by

$$B_{st}(i_{\mathfrak{s}}x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot i_{\mathfrak{t}}y_{\mathfrak{t}}) = i_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \text{ for } x_{\mathfrak{s}} \in E_{\mathfrak{s}}, y_{\mathfrak{t}} \in E_{\mathfrak{t}}, \mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_{s}, \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_{t}.$$

Then $(\mathcal{E} = (\mathcal{E}_t)_{t \in \mathbb{T}}, B = (B_{st})_{s,t \in \mathbb{T}})$ forms a product system (Bhat and Skeide [BS00]).

Definition 4.4.1. Given an inclusion system (E, β) , the product system (\mathcal{E}, B) described above is called the product system generated by the inclusion system (E, β) .

We also recall the following from Subsection 2.2.5: Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Let E be a von Neumann \mathcal{B} -module. Then $\mathcal{H} = E \odot \mathcal{G}$ is a Hilbert space such that $E \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ via $E \ni x \mapsto L_x \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$, where $L_x : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{H}$ is defined by $L_x(g) = x \odot g$ for $g \in \mathcal{G}$. Note that E is strongly closed in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$. Sometimes we write xg instead of $x \odot g$ with the above identification in mind.

Lemma 4.4.1. Let (\mathcal{E}, B) be the product system generated by the inclusion system (E, β) on a von Neumann algebra $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G})$. Let $i_t : E_t \to \mathcal{E}_t, t \in J_t$ be the canonical two-sided isometries. Then $i_t i_t^*$ increases to identity in strong operator topology, that is, for all $x \in \mathcal{E}_t$ and $g \in \mathcal{G}$ we have

$$\lim_{\mathfrak{t}\in\mathbb{J}_{t}}\|xg - i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^{*}(x)g\| = 0.$$
(4.4.2)

Proof. Note that we have $E_{\mathfrak{t}} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, H_{\mathfrak{t}})$ and $\mathcal{E}_{t} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}_{t})$ where $H_{\mathfrak{t}} = E_{\mathfrak{t}} \odot \mathcal{G}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{t} = \mathcal{E}_{t} \odot \mathcal{G}$. Let $v_{\mathfrak{t}} = i_{\mathfrak{t}} \odot \operatorname{id} : H_{\mathfrak{t}} \to \mathcal{H}_{t}$. Then $v_{\mathfrak{t}}$'s are isometries. Note that for $\mathfrak{s} \leq \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_{t}$, as $i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{s}}^{*}i_{\mathfrak{s}}^{*} = i_{\mathfrak{s}}i_{\mathfrak{s}}^{*}i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^{*}$ we have

$$v_{\mathfrak{t}}v_{\mathfrak{t}}^*v_{\mathfrak{s}}v_{\mathfrak{s}}^* = v_{\mathfrak{s}}v_{\mathfrak{s}}^* = v_{\mathfrak{s}}v_{\mathfrak{s}}^*v_{\mathfrak{t}}v_{\mathfrak{t}}^* \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{s} \le \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t.$$

$$(4.4.3)$$

Also note that as $\overline{\operatorname{span}}^s \{ i_{\mathfrak{t}}(E_{\mathfrak{t}}) : \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t \} = \mathcal{E}_t$ we have

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ v_{\mathfrak{t}}(H_{\mathfrak{t}}) : \mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t \} = \mathcal{H}_t.$$

$$(4.4.4)$$

Now (4.4.3) and (4.4.4) implies that $\lim_{\mathfrak{t}\in \mathbb{J}_t} v_\mathfrak{t}v_\mathfrak{t}^*h = h$ for all $h \in \mathcal{H}_t$. Observe that for $x \in \mathcal{E}_t, \mathfrak{t}\in \mathbb{J}_t$ and $g \in \mathcal{G}$ we have

$$v_{\mathfrak{t}}v_{\mathfrak{t}}^*(xg) = (i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^* \odot \mathrm{id})(x \odot g) = i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^*(x) \odot g = i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^*(x)g.$$

Thus

$$\lim_{\mathfrak{t}\in\mathbb{J}_t}\|xg-i_{\mathfrak{t}}i_{\mathfrak{t}}^*(x)g\| = \lim_{\mathfrak{t}\in\mathbb{J}_t}\|xg-v_{\mathfrak{t}}v_{\mathfrak{t}}^*(xg)\| = 0.$$

Now we shall prove the lifting theorem along the same lines of the proof of [BM10, Thorem 11]

Theorem 4.4.1. Let \mathcal{B} be a von Neumann algebra on a Hilbert space \mathcal{G} . Let (E, β) and (F, γ) be two inclusion systems of von Neumann \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{B} -modules generating two product systems $(\mathcal{E}, B), (\mathcal{F}, C)$ respectively. Let i, j be their respective inclusion maps. Suppose $T : (E, \beta) \to (F, \gamma)$ is a (weak) morphism then there exists a unique morphism $\hat{T} : (\mathcal{E}, B) \to (\mathcal{F}, C)$ such that $T_s = j_s^* \hat{T}_s i_s$ for all $s \in \mathbb{T}$.

Proof. Given that $T: (E, \beta) \to (F, \gamma)$ is a morphism. Let k be such that $||T_s|| \leq e^{ks}$ for all $s \in \mathbb{T}$. For $\mathfrak{s} = (s_n, ..., s_1) \in \mathbb{J}_s$, define $T_{\mathfrak{s}} : E_{\mathfrak{s}} \to F_{\mathfrak{s}}$ by $T_{\mathfrak{s}} = T_{s_n} \odot \cdots \odot T_{s_1}$. Let $i_{\mathfrak{s}} : E_{\mathfrak{s}} \to \mathcal{E}_s$ and $j_{\mathfrak{s}} : F_{\mathfrak{s}} \to \mathcal{F}_s$ be the canonical two-sided isometries. Then for $\mathfrak{s} \leq \mathfrak{t}$ in \mathbb{J}_s we have

$$\gamma_{\mathfrak{ts}}^* T_{\mathfrak{t}} \beta_{\mathfrak{ts}} = T_{\mathfrak{s}}. \tag{4.4.5}$$

Consider for $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} = j_{\mathfrak{s}} T_{\mathfrak{s}} i_{\mathfrak{s}}^*$. Set $P_{\mathfrak{s}} = j_{\mathfrak{s}} j_{\mathfrak{s}}^*$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{s}} = i_{\mathfrak{s}} i_{\mathfrak{s}}^*$. Then by Lemma 4.4.1 $(P_{\mathfrak{s}})_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathbb{J}_s}$ and $(Q_{\mathfrak{s}})_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathbb{J}_s}$ are families of increasing projections. Now for $\mathfrak{r} \leq \mathfrak{s}$, $i_{\mathfrak{r}} = i_{\mathfrak{s}} \beta_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{r}}$, $j_{\mathfrak{r}} = j_{\mathfrak{s}} \gamma_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{r}}$ implies that $\beta_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{r}} = i_{\mathfrak{s}}^* i_{\mathfrak{r}}$, $\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{r}} = j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* j_{\mathfrak{r}}$, hence it follows from (4.4.5) that $P_{\mathfrak{r}} \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} Q_{\mathfrak{r}} = \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}$.

For all $s \geq 0$, $\mathcal{E}_s \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{E}_s \odot \mathcal{G})$ and $\mathcal{F}_s \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{F}_s \odot \mathcal{G})$. Fix $s \in \mathbb{T}$. Let $x \in \mathcal{E}_s, g \in \mathcal{G}$ and let $\epsilon > 0$. Using (4.4.2) choose $\mathfrak{r}_0 \in \mathbb{J}_s$ such that

$$e^{ks} \|Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g - xg\| < \frac{\epsilon}{3}.$$
 (4.4.6)

Then, for any $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$, we have

$$\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g\| = \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)\odot g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)\odot g\|$$

$$= \|(\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{G}})(x \odot g - Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x) \odot g)\|$$

$$\leq \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{G}}\|\|xg - Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|$$

$$\leq e^{ks} \|xg - Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\| < \frac{\epsilon}{3}. \quad (by \ (4.4.6)) \tag{4.4.7}$$

Let $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} \geq \mathfrak{r}_0 \in \mathbb{J}_s$. As $(P_{\mathfrak{s}})_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s}$ and $(Q_{\mathfrak{s}})_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s}$ are increasing families of projections, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} &= \|P_{\mathfrak{t}}\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} \\ &= \|P_{\mathfrak{s}}\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g + (P_{\mathfrak{t}} - P_{\mathfrak{s}})\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} \\ &= \|P_{\mathfrak{s}}\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} + \|(P_{\mathfrak{t}} - P_{\mathfrak{s}})\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} \\ &= \|P_{\mathfrak{s}}\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} + \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - P_{\mathfrak{s}}\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} \\ &= \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} + \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} \\ &= \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} + \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2}. \end{split}$$
(4.4.8)

Hence for $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} \geq \mathfrak{r}_0 \in \mathbb{J}_s$, we have $\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g\|^2 \geq \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g\|^2$. Also

$$\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g\|^2 \le \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}\|^2 \|x\|^2 \|g\|^2 \le e^{2ks} \|x\|^2 \|g\|^2$$

for all $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$. Thus $(\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_0}(x)g\|^2)_{\mathfrak{s}\in\mathbb{J}_s}$ is a Cauchy net, hence choose $\mathfrak{r}_1 \in \mathbb{J}_s, \mathfrak{r}_1 \geq \mathfrak{r}_0$ such that

$$\left|\left\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\right\|^{2}-\left\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\right\|^{2}\right| < \left(\frac{\epsilon}{3}\right)^{2} \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{t} \ge \mathfrak{s} \ge \mathfrak{r}_{1} \ge \mathfrak{r}_{0} \in \mathbb{J}_{s}.$$
(4.4.9)

Therefore for $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} \geq \mathfrak{r}_1$ in \mathbb{J}_s , from (4.4.8) and (4.4.9) we have

$$\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\| = \|\|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2} - \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\|^{2}|^{\frac{1}{2}} < \frac{\epsilon}{3}.$$
 (4.4.10)

Now for $\mathfrak{t} \geq \mathfrak{s} \geq \mathfrak{r}_1$ in \mathbb{J}_s , from (4.4.7) and (4.4.10) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}} - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}})(x)g\| \\ &\leq \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\| + \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{t}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g\| + \|\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}Q_{\mathfrak{r}_{0}}(x)g - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)g\| < \epsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus $\lim_{s\in\mathbb{J}_s}\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)g$ exists. Define $\hat{T}_s(x)g = \lim_{s\in\mathbb{J}_s}\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)g$ for s > 0. This defines a bounded bilinear map $\hat{T}_s: \mathcal{E}_s \to \mathcal{F}_s$ for all $s \in \mathbb{T}$.

Now for $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and for all $x_{\mathfrak{s}} \in E_{\mathfrak{s}}, g \in \mathcal{G}$, we have

$$j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* \hat{T}_s i_{\mathfrak{s}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}})g = \lim_{\mathfrak{r} \in \mathbb{J}_s} j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} i_{\mathfrak{s}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}})g = \lim_{\mathfrak{r} \in \mathbb{J}_s} j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* j_{\mathfrak{r}} T_{\mathfrak{r}} i_{\mathfrak{r}}^* i_{\mathfrak{s}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}})g = \lim_{\mathfrak{r} \in \mathbb{J}_s} \gamma_{\mathfrak{rs}}^* T_{\mathfrak{r}} \beta_{\mathfrak{rs}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}})g = T_{\mathfrak{s}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}})g.$$

Thus $T_{\mathfrak{s}} = j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* \hat{T}_s i_{\mathfrak{s}}$ for all $\mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and $s \in \mathbb{T}$. In particular $T_s = j_s^* \hat{T}_s i_s$ for all $s \in \mathbb{T}$.

Now we shall prove that $(\hat{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a morphism of product systems. For $\mathfrak{t} \in \mathbb{J}_t, \mathfrak{s} \in \mathbb{J}_s$ and $x_{\mathfrak{t}} \in E_{\mathfrak{t}}, x_{\mathfrak{s}} \in E_{\mathfrak{s}}, y_{\mathfrak{t}} \in F_{\mathfrak{t}}, y_{\mathfrak{s}} \in F_{\mathfrak{s}}$ consider,

$$\begin{split} \langle C_{s,t}^*(\hat{T}_s \odot \hat{T}_t) B_{s,t} i_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}(x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot x_{\mathfrak{t}}), j_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}}(y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \rangle &= \langle (\hat{T}_s \odot \hat{T}_t) (i_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot i_{\mathfrak{t}}) (x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot x_{\mathfrak{t}}), j_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot j_{\mathfrak{t}}(y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \rangle \\ &= \langle \hat{T}_s i_{\mathfrak{s}} x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot \hat{T}_t i_{\mathfrak{t}} x_{\mathfrak{t}}, j_{\mathfrak{s}} y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}} \rangle \\ &= \langle j_{\mathfrak{t}}^* \hat{T}_t i_{\mathfrak{t}} x_{\mathfrak{t}}, \langle j_{\mathfrak{s}}^* \hat{T}_s i_{\mathfrak{s}} x_{\mathfrak{s}}, y_{\mathfrak{s}} \rangle y_{\mathfrak{t}} \rangle \\ &= \langle T_{\mathfrak{s}} x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot T_{\mathfrak{t}} x_{\mathfrak{t}}, (y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \rangle \\ &= \langle (T_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot T_{\mathfrak{t}}) (x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot x_{\mathfrak{t}}), y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}} \rangle \\ &= \langle T_{\mathfrak{s} \smile \mathfrak{t}} (x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot x_{\mathfrak{t}}), (y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \rangle \\ &= \langle \hat{T}_{s \leftarrow \mathfrak{t}} (x_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot x_{\mathfrak{t}}), (y_{\mathfrak{s}} \odot y_{\mathfrak{t}}) \rangle \end{split}$$

Thus $\hat{T}_{s+t} = C^*_{s,t}(\hat{T}_s \odot \hat{T}_t)B_{s,t}$ for all s, t > 0.

Publications/Preprints

This thesis is based on the following articles.

- B. V. Rajarama Bhat, Robin Hillier, Nirupama Mallick and Vijaya Kumar U, Roots of Completely Positive Maps, Linear Algebra Appl., 587 (2020), 143–165. MR 4030295
- (2) B. V. Rajarama Bhat and Vijaya Kumar U, Structure of Block Quantum Dynamical Semigroups and their Product Systems, arXiv:1908.04098, Preprint.

Bibliography

[Arv69] William B. Arveson, Subalgebras of C^{*}-algebras, Acta Math. **123** (1969), 141– 224. MR 0253059 [Arv89] William Arveson, Continuous analogues of Fock space, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. **80** (1989), no. 409, iv+66. MR 987590 [Arv03] ___, Noncommutative dynamics and E-semigroups, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003. MR 1978577 [BBLS04] Stephen D. Barreto, B. V. Rajarama Bhat, Volkmar Liebscher, and Michael Skeide, Type I product systems of Hilbert modules, J. Funct. Anal. 212 (2004), no. 1, 121–181. MR 2065240 [BC16] Johannes Bausch and Toby Cubitt, The complexity of divisibility, Linear Algebra Appl. 504 (2016), 64–107. MR 3502531 [BG78] Israel Brosh and Yigal Gerchak, Markov chains with finite convergence time, Stochastic Process. Appl. 7 (1978), no. 3, 247–253. MR 0501355 [Bha96] B. V. Rajarama Bhat, An index theory for quantum dynamical semigroups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348 (1996), no. 2, 561–583. MR 1329528 [Bha99] __, Minimal dilations of quantum dynamical semigroups to semigroups of endomorphisms of C^* -algebras, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 14 (1999), no. 2, 109–124. MR 1727708 [Bha12] ____, Roots of states, Commun. Stoch. Anal. 6 (2012), no. 1, 85–93. MR 2890852[BLS08] B. V. R. Bhat, V. Liebscher, and M. Skeide, A problem of powers and the product of spatial product systems, Quantum probability and related topics, QP–PQ: Quantum Probab. White Noise Anal., vol. 23, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2008, pp. 93–106. MR 2590656 [BM10] B. V. Rajarama Bhat and Mithun Mukherjee, Inclusion systems and amalgamated products of product systems, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab.

Relat. Top. **13** (2010), no. 1, 1–26. MR 2646788

- [BM14] B. V. Rajarama Bhat and Nirupama Mallick, Nilpotent completely positive maps, Positivity 18 (2014), no. 3, 567–577. MR 3249920
- [BS00] B. V. Rajarama Bhat and Michael Skeide, Tensor product systems of Hilbert modules and dilations of completely positive semigroups, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 3 (2000), no. 4, 519–575. MR 1805844
- [CE79] Erik Christensen and David E. Evans, Cohomology of operator algebras and quantum dynamical semigroups, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 20 (1979), no. 2, 358–368. MR 551466
- [CEW12a] Toby S. Cubitt, Jens Eisert, and Michael M. Wolf, The complexity of relating quantum channels to master equations, Comm. Math. Phys. 310 (2012), no. 2, 383–418. MR 2890304
- [CEW12b] _____, Extracting dynamical equations from experimental data is np hard, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108** (2012), 120503.
- [Cho75] Man Duen Choi, *Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices*, Linear Algebra and Appl. **10** (1975), 285–290. MR 0376726
- [Chu79] Kai Lai Chung, Elementary probability theory with stochastic processes, third ed., Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1979, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. MR 560506
- [Con00] John B. Conway, A course in operator theory, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 21, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000. MR 1721402
- [Dan10] S. G. Dani, Convolution roots and embeddings of probability measures on locally compact groups, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 41 (2010), no. 1, 241–250. MR 2650110
- [Dav80] Edward Brian Davies, One-parameter semigroups, London Mathematical Society Monographs, vol. 15, Academic Press, Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], London-New York, 1980. MR 591851
- [Dav10] E. B. Davies, *Embeddable Markov matrices*, Electron. J. Probab. 15 (2010), no. 47, 1474–1486. MR 2727318
- [Den88] L. V. Denisov, Infinitely divisible Markov mappings in the quantum theory of probability, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 33 (1988), no. 2, 417–420. MR 954597

- [Dix81] Jacques Dixmier, von Neumann algebras, North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 27, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-New York, 1981, With a preface by E. C. Lance, Translated from the second French edition by F. Jellett. MR 641217
- [EK98] David E. Evans and Yasuyuki Kawahigashi, Quantum symmetries on operator algebras, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998, Oxford Science Publications. MR 1642584
- [Fur94] Koji Furuta, Completely positive completion of partial matrices whose entries are completely bounded maps, Integral Equations Operator Theory 19 (1994), no. 4, 381–403. MR 1285489
- [G37] Elfving G, Zur theorie der markoffschen ketten, Acta Societatis scientiarum Fennicae, Nova series A 2 (1937), no. 8.
- [GI88] Peter W. Glynn and Donald L. Iglehart, Conditions under which a markov chain converges to its steady state in finite time, Probability in the Engineering and Informational Sciences 2 (1988), no. 3, 377–382.
- [Gol17] Jerome A. Goldstein, Semigroups of linear operators & applications, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 2017, Second edition of [MR0790497], Including transcriptions of five lectures from the 1989 workshop at Blaubeuren, Germany. MR 3838398
- [HL11] Nicholas J. Higham and Lijing Lin, On pth roots of stochastic matrices, Linear Algebra Appl. 435 (2011), no. 3, 448–463. MR 2794585
- [HP01] Suk-Geun Hwang and Sung-Soo Pyo, *Doubly stochastic matrices whose powers* eventually stop, Linear Algebra Appl. **330** (2001), no. 1-3, 25–30. MR 1826646
- [Kap53] Irving Kaplansky, Modules over operator algebras, Amer. J. Math. 75 (1953), 839–858. MR 0058137
- [Kin62] J. F. C. Kingman, The imbedding problem for finite Markov chains, Z.
 Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie Verw. Gebiete 1 (1962), 14–24. MR 0145589
- [KR97] Richard V. Kadison and John R. Ringrose, Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras. Vol. I, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 15, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997, Elementary theory, Reprint of the 1983 original. MR 1468229

[KS76]	John G. Kemeny and J. Laurie Snell, <i>Finite Markov chains</i> , Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976, Reprinting of the 1960 original, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. MR 0410929
[Lan95]	E. C. Lance, Hilbert C*-modules, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, vol. 210, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995, A toolkit for operator algebraists. MR 1325694
[LS01]	Volkmar Liebscher and Michael Skeide, Units for the time-ordered Fock module, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 4 (2001), no. 4, 545–551. MR 1876163
[Min88]	Henryk Minc, <i>Nonnegative matrices</i> , Wiley-Interscience Series in Discrete Mathematics and Optimization, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1988, A Wiley-Interscience Publication. MR 932967
[MS07]	Paul S. Muhly and Baruch Solel, <i>Quantum Markov semigroups: product systems and subordination</i> , Internat. J. Math. 18 (2007), no. 6, 633–669. MR 2337398
[Mur90]	Gerard J. Murphy, C^* -algebras and operator theory, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1990. MR 1074574
[Par92]	K. R. Parthasarathy, An introduction to quantum stochastic calculus, Modern Birkhäuser Classics, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 1992, [2012 reprint of the 1992 original] [MR1164866]. MR 3012668
[Pas73]	William L. Paschke, <i>Inner product modules over B*-algebras</i> , Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 182 (1973), 443–468. MR 0355613
[Pau84]	Vern I. Paulsen, Every completely polynomially bounded operator is similar to a contraction, J. Funct. Anal. 55 (1984), no. 1, 1–17. MR 733029
[Pau02]	Vern Paulsen, <i>Completely bounded maps and operator algebras</i> , Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 78, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. MR 1976867
[Pow99]	Robert T. Powers, New examples of continuous spatial semigroups of $*$ - endomorphisms of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, Internat. J. Math. 10 (1999), no. 2, 215–288. MR 1687149

[Pow03]	, Construction of E_0 -semigroups of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ from CP-flows, Advances in quantum dynamics (South Hadley, MA, 2002), Contemp. Math., vol. 335, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003, pp. 57–97. MR 2026011			
[PS85]	Vern I. Paulsen and Ching Yun Suen, <i>Commutant representations of completely bounded maps</i> , J. Operator Theory 13 (1985), no. 1, 87–101. MR 768304			
[Rie74]	Marc A. Rieffel, Induced representations of C^* -algebras, Advances in Math. 13 (1974), 176–257. MR 0353003			
[RJP18]	Mizanur Rahaman, Samuel Jaques, and Vern I. Paulsen, <i>Eventually entangle-</i> ment breaking maps, J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018), no. 6, 062201, 11. MR 3810794			
[RS72]	Michael Reed and Barry Simon, <i>Methods of modern mathematical physics</i> . I. Functional analysis, Academic Press, New York-London, 1972. MR 0493419			
[SG07]	Kalyan B. Sinha and Debashish Goswami, <i>Quantum stochastic processes and noncommutative geometry</i> , Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 169, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007. MR 2299106			
[Ske01]	Michael Skeide, <i>Hilbert modules and applications in quantum probability</i> , Book preprint (2001).			
[Ske10]	, The Powers sum of spatial CPD-semigroups and CP-semigroups, Non- commutative harmonic analysis with applications to probability II, Banach Center Publ., vol. 89, Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 2010, pp. 247– 263. MR 2730893			
[SS09]	Orr Moshe Shalit and Baruch Solel, <i>Subproduct systems</i> , Doc. Math. 14 (2009), 801–868. MR 2608451			
[Sti55]	W. Forrest Stinespring, <i>Positive functions on C</i> [*] -algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 6 (1955), 211–216. MR 0069403			
[Stø13]	Erling Størmer, <i>Positive linear maps of operator algebras</i> , Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Heidelberg, 2013. MR 3012443			
[Sub76]	Eduardo J. Subelman, On the class of Markov chains with finite convergence time, Stochastic Processes Appl. 4 (1976), no. 3, 253–259. MR 0410931			
[Sue85]	Ching Yun Suen, Completely bounded maps on C [*] -algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 93 (1985), no. 1, 81–87. MR 766532			

- [Sun97] V. S. Sunder, Functional analysis, Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basler Lehrbücher. [Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basel Textbooks], Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997, Spectral theory. MR 1646508
- [Tak02] M. Takesaki, Theory of operator algebras. I, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 124, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002, Reprint of the first (1979) edition, Operator Algebras and Non-commutative Geometry, 5. MR 1873025
- [VB18] Alexander Van-Brunt, Infinitely divisible nonnegative matrices, M-matrices, and the embedding problem for finite state stationary Markov chains, Linear Algebra Appl. 541 (2018), 163–176. MR 3742616
- [WC08] Michael M. Wolf and J. Ignacio Cirac, *Dividing quantum channels*, Comm. Math. Phys. 279 (2008), no. 1, 147–168. MR 2377631
- [WECC08] M. M. Wolf, J. Eisert, T. S. Cubitt, and J. I. Cirac, Assessing non-Markovian quantum dynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008), no. 15, 150402, 4. MR 2460717
- [Wol11] Michael M. Wolf, *Quantum channels and operations guided tour*, Lecture notes (2011).
- [Yos95] Kôsaku Yosida, Functional analysis, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995, Reprint of the sixth (1980) edition. MR 1336382
- [Yua76] John Yuan, On the construction of one-parameter semigroups in topological semigroups, Pacific J. Math. 65 (1976), no. 1, 285–292. MR 0422486

Index

-homomorphism, 7 C^ -algebra, 7 unital, 7 C_0 -semigroup, 34 contraction, 34generator, 34, 43 E_0 -dilation, 36, 38, 41 E_0 -semigroups, 36 adjoint, 21 asymptotic root, 48 continuous, 48discrete, 48 bilineear map, 27 block maps, 68 E_0 -dilations, 83, 85 CP maps, 68 CP semigroups, 77 block QDS, 79 Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, 18 CB map, 13 commutant, 11 compact operators, 23 complementary Hilbert C^* -module, 25 complemented module, 21 conditional expectation, 10, 40conditionally completely positive, 36 corespondences, 26 CP map, 13 domination, 17 double commutant theorem, 11

finite rank operators, 23 full Fock module, 42 Gelfand transform, 9 GNS-construction, 10, 29 GNS-module, 29 Hilbert C^* -module, 19 Hille-Yosida theorem, 35 inclusion system, 37 associated to a CP semigroup, 38inductive limit, 33, 39, 40 Hilbert modules, 33 von Neumann modules, 33 inductive system, 39, 40 interior tensor product, 27 involution, 7 isometry, 25 Kadison-Schwarz inequality, 15 Lifting of morphisms, 86, 88 Markov chain, 5 module map, 20morphism, 38 strong, 38 weak, 38normal map, 12 normed algebra, 7 one-parameter semigroup, 34CP semigroup, 35, 38 generator, 35

strongly continuous, 34 uniformly continuous, 34 partial isometry, 25 positive, 9 n-positive, 13 positive operator, 24pre- C^* -algebra, 7 pre-Hilbert C^* -module, 18 product system, 37, 40, 43, 87 projection, 24 proper continuous roots, 62, 63of a state, 64-66proper discrete roots, 50, 63 n-th root, 50, 53–56, 60, 62 of a state, 53, 56, 60, 62 quantum dynamical semigroup, 35 conservative, 35, 38 quantum Markov semigroup, 35, 38 rank-one operators, 23 representation, 9cyclic, 10 faithful, 10 non-degenerate, 10, 26 on Hilbert C^* -modules, 26 roots of completely positive maps, 45 asymptotic roots, 48 proper continuous roots, 62proper discrete roots, 50 second quantization, 42self-dual, 21, 32 state, 10 pure, 11 Stinespring representation of $\mathcal{A}, 31$ of E, 31

Stinespring's dilation, 14 minimal, 15 Stone's theorem, 35 support projection, 50 the time ordered Fock module, 41 time ordered Fock module, 42, 81 two-sided map, 27 unit, 37 generating, 37 unital, 37 unital, 37 unitary, 25 Vigier's theorem, 12 von Neumann algebra, 11 von Neumann modules, 30, 31 two-sided, 32